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This prospectus supplement updates and supplements the prospectus dated August 2, 2021 (the “Prospectus”), which forms a part of our registration statement on Form S-1

(No. 333-257718). This prospectus supplement is being filed to update and supplement the information in the Prospectus and in the related prospectus supplement dated August
4, 2021 (“Prospectus Supplement No. 1”) with information contained in our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September
14, 2021 (the “Quarterly Report”). Accordingly, we have attached the Quarterly Report to this prospectus supplement.

 
This Prospectus, Prospectus Supplement No. 1 and this prospectus supplement relate to the issuance by us of up to 23,000,000 shares of our Class A common stock, par

value $0.0001 per share that are issuable upon the exercise of the Public Warrants (as defined below).
 
In addition, the Prospectus and this prospectus supplement also relate to the offer and sale from time to time by the selling securityholders named in the Prospectus (the

“Selling Securityholders”), or their permitted transferees, of (a) up to 104,216,667 shares of our Class A common stock (which includes up to 33,966,667 shares of Class A
common stock issuable upon the exercise of outstanding warrants) and (b) up to 33,966,667 warrants. We will not receive any proceeds from the sale of shares of our Class A
common stock or warrants by the Selling Securityholders pursuant to this prospectus, except with respect to amounts received by us upon exercise of the warrants to the extent
such warrants are exercised for cash. However, we will pay the expenses, other than underwriting discounts and commissions and expenses incurred by the Selling
Securityholders for brokerage, accounting, tax or legal services or any other expenses incurred by the Selling Securityholders in disposing of the securities, associated with the
sale of securities pursuant to this prospectus.

 
Our registration of the securities covered by this prospectus does not mean that either we or the Selling Securityholders will issue, offer or sell, as applicable, any of the

securities. The Selling Securityholders may offer and sell the securities covered by this prospectus in a number of different ways and at varying prices. We provide more
information in the section entitled “Plan of Distribution.” In addition, certain of the securities being registered hereby are subject to vesting and/or transfer restrictions that may
prevent the Selling Securityholders from offering or selling of such securities upon the effectiveness of the registration statement of which this prospectus is a part. See
“Description of Securities” for more information.

 
You should read this prospectus and any prospectus supplement or amendment carefully before you invest in our securities. Our Class A common stock and warrants are

traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “SKIL” and “SKIL.WS”, respectively. On September 14, 2021, the last reported sale price of our Class A common
stock on the New York Stock Exchange was $10.00 per share, and the closing price of our warrants was $1.99 per warrant.

 
This prospectus supplement updates and supplements the information in the Prospectus and Prospectus Supplement No. 1 and is not complete without, and may not be

delivered or utilized except in combination with, the Prospectus and Prospectus Supplement No. 1, including any subsequent amendments or supplements thereto. This
prospectus supplement should be read in conjunction with the Prospectus and Prospectus Supplement No. 1, and if there is any inconsistency between the information in the
Prospectus, Prospectus Supplement No. 1 and this prospectus supplement, you should rely on the information in this prospectus supplement. The information in this prospectus
supplement modifies and supersedes, in part, the information in the Prospectus and Prospectus Supplement No. 1. Any information in the Prospectus or Prospectus Supplement
No. 1 that is modified or superseded shall not be deemed to constitute a part of the Prospectus except as modified or superseded by this prospectus supplement. You should not
assume that the information provided in this prospectus supplement, the Prospectus or Prospectus Supplement No. 1 is accurate as of any date other than their respective dates.
Neither the delivery of this prospectus supplement, the Prospectus, or Prospectus Supplement No. 1 nor any sale made hereunder, shall under any circumstances create any
implication that there has been no change in our affairs since the date of this prospectus supplement, or that the information contained in this prospectus supplement, the
Prospectus or Prospectus Supplement No. 1 is correct as of any time after the date of that information.

 
Investing in our securities involves a high degree of risk. See the section entitled “Risk Factors” beginning on page 8 and under similar headings in any further

amendments or supplements to the Prospectus to read about factors you should consider before buying our securities.
 
Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission nor any other state securities commission has approved or disapproved of these securities or passed on the

adequacy or accuracy of this Prospectus Supplement No. 2. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.
 

The date of this Prospectus Supplement is September 15, 2021.
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90 days. Yes    ☒    No  ☐
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically every Interactive Data File required to be submitted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T
(§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit such files). Yes    ☒  No  ☐
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CAUTIONARY NOTES REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (this “Form 10-Q”) includes statements that are, or may be deemed to be, “forward-looking statements” within the
meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, which are
intended to be covered by the safe harbors created by those laws. These forward-looking statements include information about possible or assumed future
results of our operations. All statements, other than statements of historical facts, that address activities, events or developments that we expect or anticipate
may occur in the future, including such things as our outlook, our product development and planning, our pipeline, future capital expenditures, financial
results, the impact of regulatory changes, existing and evolving business strategies and acquisitions and dispositions, demand for our services and
competitive strengths, goals, the benefits of new initiatives, growth of our business and operations, our ability to successfully implement our plans,
strategies, objectives, expectations and intentions are forward-looking statements. Also, when we use words such as “may,” “will,” “would,” “anticipate,”
“believe,” “estimate,” “expect,” “intend,” “plan,” “projects,” “forecasts,” “seeks,” “outlook,” “target,” goals,” “probably,” or similar expressions, we are
making forward-looking statements. Such statements are based upon the current beliefs and expectations of Skillsoft’s management and are subject to
significant risks and uncertainties. Actual results may differ from those set forth in the forward-looking statements. All forward-looking disclosure is
speculative by its nature.

There are important risks, uncertainties, events and factors that could cause our actual results or performance to differ materially from those in the forward-
looking statements contained in this document, including:

● our ability to realize the benefits expected from the business combination between Skillsoft, Churchill Capital Corp. II and Global Knowledge;
● the impact of changes in consumer spending patterns, consumer preferences, local, regional and national economic conditions, crime, weather,

demographic trends and employee availability;
● the impact of the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic on our business, operating results and financial condition;
● fluctuations in our future operating results;
● our ability to successfully identify, consummate and achieve strategic objectives in connection with our acquisition opportunities and realize the

benefits expected from the acquisition;
● the demand for, and acceptance of, our products and for cloud-based technology learning solutions in general;
● our ability to compete successfully in competitive markets and changes in the competitive environment in our industry and the markets in which we

operate;
● our ability to develop new products;
● a failure of our information technology infrastructure or any significant breach of security;
● future regulatory, judicial and legislative changes in our industry;
● our ability to comply with laws and regulations applicable to its business;
● the impact of natural disasters, public health crises, political crises, or other catastrophic events;
● our ability to attract and retain key employees and qualified technical and sales personnel;
● fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates;
● our ability to protect or obtain intellectual property rights;
● our ability to raise additional capital;
● the impact of our indebtedness on our financial position and operating flexibility;
● our ability to meet future liquidity requirements and comply with restrictive covenants related to long-term indebtedness;
● our ability to successfully defend ourselves in legal or regulatory proceedings;
● our ability to remediate any material weaknesses or maintain effective internal controls over financial reporting; and
● our ability to continue to meet applicable listing standards.

The foregoing list of factors is not exhaustive and new factors may emerge from time to time that could also affect actual performance and results. For more
information, please see the risk factors included in Churchill Capital Corp. II’s Annual Report on Form 10-K/A for the year ended December 31, 2020 in
Part I, Item 1A and in the registration statement on Form S-4 filed by Churchill Capital Corp. II and declared effective by the Securities and Exchange
Commission (the “SEC”) on May 27, 2021, and subsequent filings with the SEC.

Although we believe that the assumptions underlying our forward-looking statements are reasonable, any of these assumptions, and therefore also the
forward-looking statements based on these assumptions, could themselves prove to be inaccurate. Given the significant
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uncertainties inherent in the forward-looking statements included in this document, our inclusion of this information is not a representation or guarantee by
us that our objectives and plans will be achieved. Annualized, pro forma, projected and estimated numbers are used for illustrative purpose only, are not
forecasts and may not reflect actual results. Additionally, statements as to market share, industry data and our market position are based on the most
currently available data available to us and our estimates regarding market position or other industry data included in this document or otherwise discussed
by us involve risks and uncertainties and are subject to change based on various factors, including as set forth above.

Our forward-looking statements speak only as of the date made and we will not update these forward-looking statements unless required by applicable law.
With regard to these risks, uncertainties and assumptions, the forward-looking events discussed in this document may not occur, and we caution you against
unduly relying on these forward-looking statements.
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PART I – FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

ITEM 1. UNAUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS. 

SKILLSOFT CORP.
UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 

(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT NUMBER OF SHARES)

Successor Predecessor (SLH)
    July 31, 2021     January 31, 2021

ASSETS       
Current assets:       

Cash and cash equivalents $  90,772 $  71,479
Restricted cash   14,742   2,964
Accounts receivable, less reserves of approximately $2,662 and $294 as of July 31, 2021 and January 31, 2021, respectively   120,980   179,784
Prepaid expenses and other current assets   48,584   30,326

Total current assets   275,078   284,553
Property and equipment, net   15,055   13,780
Goodwill   761,177   495,004
Intangible assets, net   946,731   728,633
Right of use assets   24,578   15,131
Deferred tax asset   3,710  —
Other assets   8,092   8,636

Total assets $  2,034,421 $  1,545,737
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDER'S EQUITY       
Current liabilities:       

Current maturities of long-term debt $  3,600 $  5,200
Borrowings under accounts receivable facility   24,822   17,022
Accounts payable   34,514   7,425
Accrued compensation   41,097   36,375
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities   62,473   23,125
Lease liabilities   9,662   4,740
Deferred revenue   165,900   257,549

Total current liabilities   342,068   351,436

Long-term debt   463,799   510,236
Warrant liabilities   28,525   900
Deferred tax liabilities   116,462   81,008
Long term lease liabilities   16,098   13,155
Deferred revenue - non-current   1,749   3,035
Other long-term liabilities   5,045   5,998

Total long-term liabilities   631,678   614,332
Commitments and contingencies   —   —
Shareholders’ equity :       

(Predecessor SLH) Shareholders’ common stock- Class A and Class B common shares, $0.01 par value: 1,000,000,000
shares authorized (800,000,000 Class A, 200,000,000 Class B) at January 31, 2021; 4,000,000 shares issued and outstanding
(3,840,000 Class A, 160,000 Class B) at January 31, 2021  —   40
(Successor) Shareholders’ common stock- Class A common shares, $0.0001 par value: 375,000,000 shares authorized and
133,059,021 shares issued and outstanding at July 31, 2021   11  —
Additional paid-in capital   1,297,716   674,333
Accumulated deficit   (237,958)   (93,722)
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)   906   (682)

Total shareholders’ equity   1,060,675   579,969
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $  2,034,421 $  1,545,737

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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SKILLSOFT CORP.
UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS 

(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS)

    Successor     Predecessor (SLH) Predecessor (PL)
From From From

June 12, May 1, 2021 February 1, Three months Six months
2021 to July to June 11, 2021 to June ended July 31, ended July 31,

    31, 2021     2021     11, 2021     2020     2020
Revenues:                

Total revenues $  57,912   47,935   139,636   116,835   235,164
Operating expenses:                

Cost of revenues   28,006   11,360   35,881   21,618   45,831
Content and software development   9,878   7,477   24,084   16,835   33,778
Selling and marketing   22,234   13,438   41,940   34,033   66,769
General and administrative   17,073   4,855   17,217   15,324   32,015
Amortization of intangible assets   20,023   15,959   50,902   12,779   30,148
Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets  —   —   —   —   332,376
Recapitalization and transaction-related costs  9,995  5,006  6,938  16,659  32,035
Restructuring  316   (1,240)  (703)   771   1,141

Total operating expenses  107,525   56,855   176,259   118,019   574,093
Operating loss  (49,613)   (8,920)  (36,623)   (1,184)  (338,929)

Other (expense) income, net  (697)   (41)  (493)   898   1,809
Fair value adjustment of warrants  17,115   800   900   —   —
Interest income  12   54   64   65   84
Interest expense, net  (9,856)   (5,371)  (16,820)   (61,076)   (167,054)
Reorganization items, net  —   —   —   (10,593)   (10,593)

Loss before benefit from income taxes   (43,039)   (13,478)   (52,972)   (71,890)   (514,683)
Benefit from income taxes   (5,504)   (1,619)  (3,708)   (909)  (9,800)
Net loss $  (37,535)   (11,859)   (49,264)   (70,981)   (504,883)

Loss per share:                
Ordinary – Basic and Diluted (Predecessor (PL))  *  *  * $  (709.10) $  (5,043.79)
Class A and B – Basic and Diluted (Predecessor (SLH))  * $  (2.96) $  (12.32)  *  *
Ordinary – Basic and Diluted (Successor) $  (0.28)  *  *  *  *
Weighted average common share outstanding:                
Ordinary – Basic and Diluted (Predecessor (PL))  *  *  *   100.1   100.1
Class A and B – Basic and Diluted (Predecessor (SLH))  *   4,000   4,000  *  *
Ordinary – Basic and Diluted (Successor)   133,059  *  *  *  *

*Not applicable

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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SKILLSOFT CORP.
UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS 

(IN THOUSANDS)

Successor Predecessor (SLH) Predecessor (PL)
From From From

June 12, May 1, 2021 February 1, Three months Six months
2021 to July to June 11, 2021 to June ended July 31, ended July 31,

    31, 2021     2021     11, 2021     2020     2020
Comprehensive loss:                

Net loss $  (37,535)   (11,859)   (49,264)   (70,981)   (504,883)
Other comprehensive income (loss) — Foreign currency adjustment,
net of tax   906   (202)  (431)   (1,731)  (2,360)
Comprehensive loss $  (36,629)   (12,061)   (49,695)   (72,712)   (507,243)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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SKILLSOFT CORP.
UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDER’S EQUITY (DEFICIT) 

(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT NUMBER OF SHARES)

                    Accumulated     Total
Ordinary Shares Additional Other Shareholders’

Number of Par Paid-In Accumulated Comprehensive Equity
Shares Value Capital Deficit (Loss) Income (Deficit)

Balance January 31, 2020 (Predecessor (PL))   100,100   138   83   (2,761,499)  (466)  (2,761,744)
Translation adjustment   —   —   —   —   (629)  (629)
Net loss   —   —   —   (433,902)  —   (433,902)
Balance April 30, 2020 (Predecessor (PL))   100,100   138   83   (3,195,401)  (1,095)  (3,196,275)
Translation adjustment   —   —   —   —   (1,731)  (1,731)
Net loss   —   —   —   (70,981)   —   (70,981)
Balance July 31, 2020 (Predecessor (PL))   100,100   138   83   (3,266,382)  (2,826)  (3,268,987)

Balance January 31, 2021 (Predecessor (SLH))   4,000,000   40 $  674,333 $  (93,722) $  (682)  579,969
Translation adjustment   —   —   —   —   (228)  (228)
Net loss   —   —   —   (37,405)   —   (37,405)
Balance April 30, 2021 (Predecessor (SLH))   4,000,000   40 $  674,333 $  (131,127) $  (910)  542,336
Translation adjustment   —   —   —   —   (202)  (202)
Net loss   —   —   —   (11,859)   —   (11,859)
Balance June 11, 2021 (Predecessor (SLH))   4,000,000   40 $  674,333 $  (142,986)   (1,112)  530,275

Balance June 12, 2021 (Successor)   51,559,021   3   305,447   (200,423)   —   105,027
Issuance of shares, PIPE Investment   53,000,000   5   608,161   —   —   608,166
Issuance of shares, Skillsoft merger consideration   28,500,000   3   306,372   —   —   306,375
Issuance of shares, Global Knowledge acquisition   —   —   14,000   —   —   14,000
Reclassify Public Warrants to equity  —  —  56,120  —  —  56,120
Reclassify Private Placement Warrants - CEO to equity  —  —  2,800  —  —  2,800
Repurchase fractional shares  —  —  (1)  —  —  (1)
Share-based compensation   —   —   4,817   —   —   4,817
Translation adjustment   —   —   —   —   906   906
Net loss   —   —   —   (37,535)   —   (37,535)
Balance July 31, 2021 (Successor)   133,059,021   11   1,297,716   (237,958)   906   1,060,675

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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SKILLSOFT CORP.
UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

(IN THOUSANDS)

    Successor     Predecessor (SLH)     Predecessor (PL)
From From

June 12, 2021 February 1, 2021 Six months ended
to July 31, 2021 to June 11, 2021 July 31,2020

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss $  (37,535) $  (49,264) $  (504,883)

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by operating activities:        
Share-based compensation   4,817  —  —
Depreciation  1,705  3,572  5,120
Amortization of intangible assets  20,023  50,902  30,148
Change in bad debt reserve  (170)  (174)  19
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes – non-cash  (6,180)  (5,886)  (11,478)
Non-cash interest expense  434  487  2,829
Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets --  —  332,376
Right-of-use assets amortizations  1,445  748  1,435
Fair value adjustment to warrants  (17,115)  (900)  —
Non-cash reorganization items, net  —  —  4,818

Changes in current assets and liabilities, net of effects from acquisitions:       
Accounts receivable   6,963  88,622  93,124
Prepaid expenses and other assets   (13,065)  3,379  (9,265)
Accounts payable   5,175   (6,417)  (5,520)
Accrued expenses and non-current liabilities   18,026   (18,592)   159,565
Lease liability   (1,690)   (1,301)   (1,942)
Deferred revenue   17,905   (31,365)   (84,773)

Net cash provided by operating activities   738   33,811   11,573
Cash flows from investing activities:          

Purchases of property and equipment   (75)   (641)   (2,985)
Internal use software development costs   (881)   (2,350)   (3,401)

  Acquisition of Skillsoft, net of cash received  (386,035)  —  —
  Acquisition of Global Knowledge, net of cash received  (156,926)  —  —
  Acquisition of Pluma, net of cash received   (18,646)  —  —

Net cash used in investing activities
  (562,563)   (2,991)   (6,386)

Cash flows from financing activities:          
Borrowings under revolving line of credit, net of repayments  —  —   19,500
Borrowings under DIP Facility  —  —   60,000
Proceeds from issuance of Term Loan, net of fees   464,290  —  —
Proceeds from equity investment (PIPE)   530,000  —  —
Principal repayments of capital lease obligations   (137)   (370)  (430)
Repayments of accounts receivable facility, net of borrowings   (9,456)   16,577   (19,270)
Repayments of First and Second Out loans   (605,591)   (1,300)  —
Net cash provided by financing activities   379,106   14,907   59,800
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents   (250)   203   (2,264)
Net (decrease) increase in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash   (182,969)   45,930   62,723

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, beginning of period   288,483   74,443   33,804
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, end of period $  105,514 $  120,373 $  96,527
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:

Cash and cash equivalents $  90,772 $  117,299 $  61,139
Restricted cash  14,742  3,074  35,388
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, end of period $  105,514 $  120,373 $  96,527

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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SKILLSOFT CORP.
UNAUDITED SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF CASH FLOWS INFORMATION

(IN THOUSANDS)

    Successor     Predecessor (SLH)     Predecessor (PL)
From From

June 12, 2021 February 1, 2021 Six months ended
to July 31, 2021 to June 11, 2021 July 31,2020

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information and non-cash investing and financing
activities:          

Cash paid for interest $  5,030 $  16,439 $  —
Cash paid for income taxes, net of refunds $  272 $  1,161 $  1,598
Unpaid capital expenditures $  335 $  39 $  829
Note issued to parent entity for paid in kind interest $  — $  — $  160,000
Lease liabilities arising from right-of-use assets and tenant improvements recognized upon
adoption of new accounting standard $  — $  — $  (19,415)
Share issued in connection with business combinations $  306,375 $  — $  —
PIPE subscription liability and warrants reclassified to equity $  134,286 $  — $  —
Debt issued in connection with business combinations $  90,000  —  —
Warrants issued in connection with business combinations $  14,000 $  — $  —

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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SKILLSOFT CORP.
NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

(1) Organization and Description of Business

The Company

Skillsoft Corp (“Successor”)
On October 12, 2020, Software Luxembourg Holding S.A. (“Software Luxembourg” or “Predecessor (SLH)”) and Churchill Capital Corp II, a Delaware
corporation (“Churchill”), entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger (the “Skillsoft Merger Agreement”) by and between Churchill and Software
Luxembourg.  Pursuant to the terms of the Skillsoft Merger Agreement, a business combination between Churchill and Software Luxembourg was effected
through the merger of Software Luxembourg with and into Churchill (the “Skillsoft Merger”), with Churchill being the surviving company. At the effective
time of the Skillsoft Merger (the “Effective Time”), (a) each Class A share of Software Luxembourg, with nominal value of $0.01 per share (“Skillsoft
Class A Shares”), outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time, was automatically canceled and Churchill issued as consideration therefor (i) such
number of shares of Churchill’s Class A common stock, par value $0.0001 per share (the “Churchill Class A Common Stock”) as would be transferred
pursuant to the Class A First Lien Exchange Ratio (as defined in the Skillsoft Merger Agreement), and (ii) Churchill’s Class C common stock, par value
$0.0001 per share (the “Churchill Class C Common Stock”), as would be transferred pursuant to the Class C Exchange Ratio (as defined in the Skillsoft
Merger Agreement), and (b) each Class B share of Software Luxembourg, with nominal value of $0.01 per share (“Skillsoft Class B Shares”), was
automatically canceled and Churchill issued as consideration therefor such number of shares of Churchill Class A common stock equal to the Per Class B
Share Merger Consideration (as defined in the Skillsoft Merger Agreement). Immediately following the Effective Time, Churchill redeemed all of the
shares of Class C Common Stock issued to the holders of Skillsoft Class A Shares for an aggregate redemption price of (i) $505,000,000 in cash and (ii)
indebtedness under the Existing Second Out Credit Agreement (as defined in the Skillsoft Merger Agreement), as amended by the Existing Second Out
Credit Agreement Amendment (as defined in the Skillsoft Merger Agreement), in the aggregate principal amount equal to the sum of $20,000,000 to be
issued by the Surviving Corporation (as defined in the Skillsoft Merger Agreement) or one of its subsidiaries, in each case, pro rata among the holders of
Churchill Class C Common Stock issued in connection with the Skillsoft Merger.

Prior to the closing of the Skillsoft Merger Agreement, the Company consummated the PIPE Investments and issued 53,000,000 shares of its Class A
common stock and warrants to purchase 16,666,667 shares of its Class A common Stock for aggregate gross proceeds of $530 million. In connection with
the consummation of these investments, the Company reclassified amounts recorded for stock subscriptions and warrants which previously had been
accounted for as liabilities of $78.2 million as additional paid in capital.

On June 11, 2021 (“closing date”), Churchill completed its acquisition of Software Luxembourg, and changed its corporate name from Churchill to
Skillsoft Corp. (the “Company”).  In addition, the Company changed its fiscal year end from December 31 to January 31.

On June 11, 2021, the Company completed the acquisition of Albert DE Holdings Inc. (“Global Knowledge” and such acquisition, the “Global Knowledge
Merger”), a worldwide leader in IT and professional skills development.

Software Luxembourg Holding  (“Predecessor (SLH)”) and Pointwell Limited (“Predecessor (PL)”)
Software Luxembourg, a public limited liability company incorporated and organized under the laws of the Grand Duchy of Luxembourg, was established
on August 27, 2020 for the purpose of acquiring the ownership interest in Pointwell Limited (“Pointwell”), an Irish private limited company, through a plan
of reorganization under Chapter 11 subsequent to August 27, 2020. Pointwell is a wholly owned subsidiary of Software Luxembourg, held indirectly
through two holding companies, Software Luxembourg Intermediate S.à r.l. and Software Luxembourg Acquisition S.à r.l, both private limited liability
companies incorporated and organized under the laws of the Grandy Duchy of Luxembourg. Prior to August 28, 2020, Pointwell had been a direct wholly
owned subsidiary of Evergreen Skills Lux S.à r.l., with an ultimate parent company of Evergreen Skills Top Holding Lux, both private limited liability
companies incorporated and organized under the laws of the Grand Duchy of Luxembourg.

Successor and Predecessor Periods
References to “Successor” or “Successor Company” relate to the consolidated financial position and results of operations of Skillsoft subsequent to June 11,
2021, the date when the acquisitions of Predecessor (SLH and Global Knowledge were completed. References to “Predecessor (SLH)” relate to the
consolidated financial position and results of operations of Software Luxembourg Holding between August 28, 2020 and June 11, 2011 (its last date of
operations prior to the merger). Operating results for the acquired business on June
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11, 2021 were credited to the Predecessor (SLH) in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations. The funds received from the PIPE investments
and transferred for the business combinations closing on June 11, 2021 recorded in the Successor period of the consolidated statement of cash flows.
References to “Predecessor (PL)” relate to the consolidated financial position and results of operations of Pointwell prior to August 28, 2020.

Description of Business
The Company provides, through its Skillsoft, Global Knowledge (“GK”) and SumTotal brands, enterprise learning solutions designed to prepare
organizations for the future of work, overcome critical skill gaps, drive demonstrable behavior-change, and unlock the potential in their people. Skillsoft
offers a comprehensive suite of premium, original, and authorized partner content, featuring one of the broadest and deepest libraries of leadership &
business, technology & developer, and compliance curricula. With access to a broad spectrum of learning options (including video, audio, books,
bootcamps, live events, and practice labs), organizations can meaningfully increase learner engagement and retention. Skillsoft’s offerings are delivered
through Percipio, its award-winning, AI-driven, immersive learning platform purpose built to make learning easier, more accessible, and more effective.

References in the accompanying footnotes to the Company’s fiscal year refer to the fiscal year ended January 31 of that year (e.g., fiscal 2021 is the
fiscal year ended January 31, 2021).

Basis of Financial Statement Preparation
The accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Skillsoft (Successor), Software Luxembourg (Predecessor (SLH))
and Pointwell (Predecessor (PL)) and their wholly owned subsidiaries. These financial statements are unaudited. However, in the opinion of management,
the condensed consolidated financial statements reflect all normal and recurring adjustments necessary for their fair statement. Interim results are not
necessarily indicative of results expected for any other interim period or a full year. We prepared the accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated
financial statements in accordance with the instructions for Form 10-Q and Article 10 of Regulation S-X and, therefore, include all information and
footnotes necessary for a complete presentation of operations, comprehensive income (loss), financial position, changes in stockholders’ equity (deficit) and
cash flows in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”). The accompanying condensed
consolidated balance sheet as of January 31, 2021 was derived from the audited consolidated financial statements of Software Luxembourg (Predecessor
(SLH)) and does not include all disclosures required by U.S. GAAP for annual financial statements. The audited consolidated financial statements as of and
for the year ended January 31, 2021 of Software Luxembourg (Predecessor (SLH)), which were included in the Company’s Form 8-K/A filing on June 17,
2021, contains the information and footnotes necessary for such presentation. Accordingly, the financial statements contained in these interim financial
statements should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements of Software Luxembourg (Predecessor (SLH)) for the year
ended January 31, 2021.

The Company is an “emerging growth company,” as defined in Section 2(a) of the Securities Act, as modified by the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act
of 2012 (the “JOBS” Act”), and it may take advantage of certain exemptions from various reporting requirements that are applicable to other public
companies that are not emerging growth companies including, but not limited to, not being required to comply with the independent registered public
accounting firm attestation requirements of Section 40 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation in its
periodic reports and proxy statements, and exemptions from the requirements of holding a nonbinding advisory vote on executive compensation and
stockholder approval of any golden parachute payments not previously approved.

Principles of Consolidation
The accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries. All material
intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated in consolidation.

Use of Estimates
The preparation of condensed consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the dates of the condensed consolidated
financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reported periods. Actual results could differ from our estimates.
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(2) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The Company’s significant accounting policies are discussed in Note 2—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Recent Accounting
Pronouncements in the Software Luxembourg audited financial statements for the year ended January 31, 2021, which were included in the Company’s
Form 8-K/A filing on June 17, 2021. There have been no changes to these policies during the period ended July 31, 2021, except as noted below.

Stock-based Compensation

The Company recognizes compensation expense for stock options and time-based restricted stock units granted to employees on a straight-line basis over
the service period that awards are expected to vest, based on the estimated fair value of the awards on the date of the grant. For restricted-stock units that
have market conditions or performance conditions, the Company recognizes compensation expense using an accelerated attribution method. The Company
calculates the fair value of stock-based awards on the date of grant and uses the Black-Scholes model to estimate the fair value of stock options. In
estimating the fair value of options, the Company determines the expected term using the simplified method. The simplified method deems the term to be
the average of the time to vesting and the contractual life of the options. The Company recognizes forfeitures as they occur.

Derivative Liabilities

The Company accounts for debt and equity issuances as either equity-classified or liability-classified instruments based on an assessment of the instruments
specific terms and applicable authoritative guidance in Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 480,
Distinguishing Liabilities from Equity (“ASC 480”) and ASC 815, Derivatives and Hedging (“ASC 815”). The assessment considers whether the
instruments are freestanding financial instruments pursuant to ASC 480, meet the definition of a liability pursuant to ASC 480, and whether the instruments
meet all of the requirements for equity classification under ASC 815, including whether the instruments are indexed to the Company’s own common stock
and whether the holders could potentially require “net cash settlement” in a circumstance outside of the Company’s control, among other conditions for
equity classification. This assessment, which requires the use of professional judgment, is conducted at the time of issuance of the instruments and as of
each subsequent quarterly period end date while the instruments are outstanding.

For issued or modified instruments that meet all of the criteria for equity classification, the instruments are required to be recorded as a component of
additional paid-in capital at the time of issuance. For issued or modified instruments that do not meet all the criteria for equity classification (which
includes 16.3 million of private placement warrants held by the sponsors for Churchill), the instruments are required to be recorded at their initial fair value
on the date of issuance, and each balance sheet date thereafter. Changes in the estimated fair value of the instruments are recognized as a non-cash gain or
loss on the statements of operations.

Contract Acquisition Costs

The Company recognizes deferred contract acquisition costs over (i) the expected customer relationship period in the case of new customers, which is
typically 3 to 5 years for initial commissions, and (ii) the contractual term for existing customers for commissions paid in connection with renewals. For
each of the Predecessor periods, the Company applied the practical expedient allowing for recognizing expense as incurred sales commissions and other
contract acquisition costs, where the amortization period would be one year or less.  The Company does not apply the practical expedient for the Successor
period.

(3) Business Combinations

(a) Software Luxembourg Holdings S.A. (“Predecessor (SLH)” or “Skillsoft Legacy”)

On June 11, 2021, Software Luxembourg Holding S.A. merged with and into Churchill Capital Corp II (Churchill) which subsequently changed its name to
Skillsoft Corp..

The Skillsoft Merger was considered a business combination under ASC  805, Business Combinations and will be accounted for using the acquisition
method of accounting, whereby Churchill was been determined to be the accounting acquirer based on their rights to
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nominate six members of the initial Board of Directors, the size of their voting interest and their rights to appoint the Chief Executive Officer of Skillsoft
Corp. and other members of management of the combined company prior to closing.

Under the acquisition method, the acquisition date fair value of the consideration paid by the Company was allocated to the assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values.

The following summarized the purchase consideration (in thousands):

Description     Amount
Class A Common Stock issued $  258,000
Class B Common Stock issued *   48,375
Cash payments 505,000
Second Out Term Loan  20,000
Cash settlement of seller transaction costs   1,308
Total Purchase Price $  832,683

* Shares of Class B common stock was converted into Successor Class A common stock at the time of the Merger

The Company preliminarily recorded the fair value of the purchase price to tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed as
follows (in thousands):

Description     Amount
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash $  120,273
Current assets  118,847
Property and equipment   10,825
Intangible assets  769,799
Long term assets   18,629

Total assets acquired  1,038,373
Current liabilities   (49,056)
Debt, including accounts receivable facility   (552,977)
Deferred revenue   (123,300)
Deferred tax liability   (99,699)
Long term liabilities   (18,325)

Total liabilities assumed  (843,357)
Net assets acquired  195,016

Goodwill  637,667
Total purchase price $  832,683

The preliminary values allocated to identifiable intangible assets and their estimated useful lives are as follows: (in thousands):

Description     Amount     Life  
Trademark/tradename - Skillsoft $  84,700  indefinite
Trademark/tradename – SumTotal   5,800   9.6 years
Courseware 186,600   5 years
Proprietary delivery and development software  114,999 2.5-7.6 years
Publishing Rights   41,100   5 years
Customer relationships   264,600   12.6 years
Backlog   72,000   4.6 years
Total $  769,799    

Values and useful lives assigned to intangible assets were based on estimated value and use of these assets by a market participant. The customer
relationships and backlog were valued using the income approach. The trade names were valued using the relief from royalty method. The content and
software were valued using the replacement cost approach.
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Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the net identifiable tangible and intangible assets acquired. The Company determined that the
acquisition of the Predecessor (SLH) resulted in the recognition of goodwill primarily because the acquisition is expected to help the Company to meet its
long-term operating profitability objectives through significant cost and service synergies. The majority of goodwill is not deductible for tax purposes.

The acquired intangible assets and goodwill are subject to review for impairment if indicators of impairment develop and, in the case of goodwill and
indefinite-lived intangible assets, at least annually.

The Company assumed certain liabilities in the acquisition of the Predecessor (SLH), including deferred revenue that was ascribed a fair value of $123.3
million using a cost-plus profit approach. The Company is amortizing the acquired deferred revenue at its fair value over the period for which it is incurring
costs to support the assumed customer obligations. In allocating the preliminary purchase price, the Company recorded an adjustment to reduce the carrying
value of the Predecessor’s (SLH) deferred revenue by $107.1 million. Approximately $92.2 million of acquired Predecessor (SLH) deferred revenue
remained unamortized at July 31, 2021. Deferred revenue performance obligations relate predominately to time-based SaaS and subscription services that
are billed in advance of services being rendered.

The Company incurred $6.4 million in acquisition related expenses, which primarily consisted of transaction fees and legal, accounting and other
professional services that are included in “Recapitalization and transaction-related costs” in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations.
Approximately $4.3 million was reported in the period from February 1, 2021 to June 11, 2021 (Predecessor (SLH)) and $2.1 million was reported in the
period from June 12, 2021 to July 31, 2021 (Successor).

(b) Albert DE Holdings, Inc. (“GK”)

On June 11, 2021, GK and its subsidiaries were acquired by Skillsoft, in conjunction with, and just subsequent to, its merger with Churchill Capital Corp II
(then becoming merged Company).

The acquisition was accounted for as a business combination under ASC  805, Business Combinations, utilizing the acquisition method. Under the
acquisition method, the acquisition date fair value of the consideration paid by the Company was allocated to the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed
based on their estimated fair values.

The following summarized the purchase consideration (in thousands):

Description     Amount
Cash consideration $  170,199
Warrants Issued   14,000
Joinder Term Loans  70,000
Cash settlement of seller transaction costs  4,251
Total Purchase Price $  258,450
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The Company preliminarily recorded the fair value of the purchase price to tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed as
follows (in thousands):

Description     Amount
Cash, cash equivalents $  17,524
Current assets   47,849
Property and equipment  5,531
Intangible assets  185,800
Long term assets   12,401

Total assets acquired  269,105
Current liabilities   (74,463)
Deferred revenue   (23,018)
Deferred tax liabilities  (16,934)
Long term liabilities  (4,248)

Total liabilities assumed  (118,663)
Net assets acquired  150,442

Goodwill  108,008
Total Purchase Price $  258,450

The preliminary values allocated to identifiable intangible assets and their estimated useful lives are as follows: (in thousands):

Description     Amount     Life  
Trademark/tradename $  25,400  indefinite
Courseware   1,500   3 years
Proprietary delivery and development software 2,500   2 years
Vendor relationships  43,900  2.6 years
Customer relationships   112,500   10.6 years
Total $  185,800    

Values and useful lives assigned to intangible assets were based on estimated value and use of these assets by a market participant. The customer
relationships and vendor relationships were valued using the income approach. The trade name was valued using the relief from royalty method. The
courseware and proprietary delivery software were valued using the replacement cost approach.

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the net identifiable tangible and intangible assets acquired. The Company determined that the
acquisition of GK resulted in the recognition of goodwill primarily because the acquisition is expected to help the Company to meet its long-term operating
profitability objectives through significant cost and service synergies. The majority of goodwill is not deductible for tax purposes.

The acquired intangible assets and goodwill are subject to review for impairment if indicators of impairment develop and otherwise at least annually.

The Company assumed certain liabilities in the acquisition of GK, including deferred revenue that was ascribed a fair value of $23.0 million using a cost-
plus profit approach. The Company is amortizing the acquired deferred revenue at its fair value over the period for which it is incurring costs to support the
assumed customer obligations. In allocating the preliminary purchase price, the Company recorded an adjustment to reduce the carrying value of GK’s
deferred revenue by $8.2 million. Approximately $10.0 million of acquired deferred revenue remained unamortized as of July 31, 2021.

The Company incurred $0.8 million in acquisition related expenses, which primarily consisted of transaction fees and legal, accounting and other
professional services that are included in “Acquisition related expenses” in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations. Approximately $0.8
million was reported in the period from June 12, 2021 to July 31, 2021 (Successor).
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Other Acquisitions

On June 30, 2021, the Company acquired Pluma, Inc. The acquisition enhances the Company’s leadership development portfolio product, adds a new
modality to its blended learning model, and allows the Company to now offer a premium individualized coaching experience. Cash paid for Pluma in the
Successor period was lower than the agreed upon purchase price of Pluma for $22 million due to a contractual holdback and working capital adjustment.
The fair value of the net assets acquired included $11.9 million of goodwill and $10.0 million of identified intangible assets, which had a weighted average
life of 4 years. The business is reported as part of the Company’s Skillsoft reportable segment. Pro forma information and acquisition expenses have not
been presented because such information is not material to the financial statements.

Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information

The following unaudited pro forma financial information summarizes the results of operations for the Company as though the acquisition of Skillsoft,
Global Knowledge and Pluma had occurred on February 1, 2020 (in thousands):

Unaudited Pro Forma Statement of Operations
Three months Three months Six months Six months
ended July 31, ended July 31, ended July 31, ended July 31,

    2021     2020     2021     2020
Revenue $  180,271 $  122,566 $  357,089 $  245,519
Net loss   (31,825)   (67,319)   (53,651)   (144,815)

The unaudited pro forma financial information does not include any costs related to the acquisition.  In addition, the unaudited pro forma financial
information does not assume any impacts from revenue, cost or other operating synergies that could be generated as a result of the acquisition. The
unaudited pro forma financial information is for informational purposes only and is not necessarily indicative of the results of operations that would have
been achieved had the acquisition been consummated on February 1, 2020.

The Successor and Predecessor periods have been combined in the pro forma for the three and six months ended June 30, 2021 and include adjustments to
reflect intangible asset amortization based on the economic values derived from definite-lived intangible assets and interest expense on the new debt
financing.

Measurement Period

The preliminary purchase price allocations for the acquisitions described above are based on initial estimates and provisional amounts.  In accordance with
ASC 805-10-25-13, if the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the combination occurs, the
acquirer shall report in its financial statements provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. During the measurement period,
acquirer shall adjust the provisional amounts recognized at the acquisition date to reflect new information obtained about facts and circumstances that
existed as of the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the measurement of the amounts recognized as of that date.  With three acquisitions
during the period ended July 31, 2021, the Company continues to refine its inputs and estimates inherent in (i) the valuation of intangible assets, (ii)
deferred income taxes, (iii) realization of tangible assets and (iv) the accuracy and completeness of liabilities.
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(4) Intangible Assets

Intangible assets consisted of the following (in thousands):

July31, 2021 (Successor) January 31, 2021 (Predecessor (SLH))
    Gross         Net     Gross         Net

Carrying Accumulated Carrying Carrying Accumulated Carrying
Amount Amortization Amount Amount Amortization Amount

Developed software/ courseware $  310,754 $  9,622 $  301,132 $  265,758 $  24,669 $  241,089
Customer contracts/ relationships   381,100   2,279   378,821   279,500   3,627   275,873
Vendor relationships   43,900   4,540   39,360  —  —  —
Trademarks and trade names   7,800   186   7,614   6,300   455   5,845
Publishing rights   41,100   1,119   39,981   35,200   2,933   32,267
Backlog   72,000   2,277   69,723   90,200   8,141   82,059
Skillsoft trademark   84,700  —   84,700   91,500  —   91,500
Global Knowledge trademark   25,400  —   25,400  —  —  —
Total $  966,754 $  20,023 $  946,731 $  768,458 $  39,825 $  728,633

Amortization expense related to the existing finite-lived intangible assets is expected to be as follows (in thousands):

Fiscal Year     Amortization Expense
2022 (Remaining 6 months) $  73,976
2023   168,581
2024 147,458
2025  122,639
2026   116,716
Thereafter   207,261
Total $  836,631

Amortization expense related to intangible assets in the aggregate was $20.0 million for the period from June 12, 2021 through July 31 (Successor), 2021,
$16.0 million for the period from May 1, 2021 through June 11, 2021 (Predecessor SLH), $50.9 million for the period from February 1, 2021 through
June 11, 2021 (Predecessor (SLH)) and $12.8 million and $30.1 million for the three and six months ended July 31, 2020 (Predecessor (PL)), respectively.

Fresh-start Reporting for Intangible Assets (Predecessor (SLH))
In accordance with ASC 852, with the application of fresh-start reporting, the Company allocated its reorganization value to its individual assets based on
their estimated fair values in conformity with ASC 805, including those of intangible assets.

Intangible assets were measured based upon estimates of the future performance and cash from the Successor Company at emergence. Values and useful
lives assigned to intangible assets were based on estimated value and use of these assets by a market participant. The customer contracts/relationships and
backlog were valued using the income approach. The trademarks and trade names were valued using the relief from royalty method. The income approach
determines fair value by estimating the after-tax cash flows attributable to an identified asset over its useful life (Level 3 inputs) and then discounting these
after-tax cash flows back to a present value. The developed software/courseware and publishing rights were valued using the replacement cost approach.
The cost approach determines fair value by estimating the cost to replace or reproduce an asset at current prices and is reduced for functional and economic
obsolescence.

Impairment Review Requirements
The Company reviews intangible assets subject to amortization if any adverse conditions exist or a change in circumstances has occurred that would
indicate impairment or a change in remaining useful life. The Company reviews indefinite lived intangible assets, including goodwill, on the annual
impairment test date or more frequently if there are indicators of impairment. No such indicators were present during the period ended July 31, 2021.
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Goodwill for the Predecessor (SLH) represents the excess of the reorganization value over the fair value of tangible and intangible assets in fresh start
accounting. Goodwill in the Successor and Predecessor (PL) periods represented the excess of the purchase price in a business combination over the fair
value of net tangible and intangible assets acquired.

The Company tests goodwill for impairment on the first day of the last month of the fourth quarter (January 1) in accordance with ASC 350, Intangibles—
Goodwill.

In connection with the impairment evaluation, the Company may first consider qualitative factors to determine whether the existence of events or
circumstances indicates that it is more likely than not (i.e., a likelihood of more than 50%) that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying
amount. Performing a quantitative goodwill impairment test is not necessary if an entity determines based on this assessment that it is not more likely than
not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount. If the Company fails or elects to bypass the qualitative assessment, the goodwill
impairment test must be performed. This test requires a comparison of the carrying value of the reporting unit to its estimated fair value. If the carrying
value of a reporting unit’s goodwill exceeds its fair value, an impairment loss equal to the difference is recorded, not to exceed the amount of goodwill
allocated to the reporting unit. In determining reporting units, the Company first identifies its operating segments, and then assesses whether any
components of these segments constitute a business for which discrete financial information is available and where segment management regularly reviews
the operating results of that component.

Impairment of Goodwill and Intangible Assets for the Predecessor (PL) Period ended April 30, 2020
During the three months ended April 30, 2020, the emergence of COVID-19 as a global pandemic had an adverse impact on our business. While the online
learnings tools the Company offers have many advantages over traditional in person learning in the current environment, some of the Company’s customers
in heavily impacted industries have sought to temporarily reduce spending, resulting in reductions in contract sizes and in some cases cancellations when
such contracts have come up for renewal. In addition, identifying and pursing opportunities for new customers became much more challenging in this
environment. In addition to the uncertainty introduced by COVID-19, the Company’s over leveraged capital structure continued to create headwinds. In
April 2020, the Company received temporary forbearance from its lenders due to a default on amounts owed under the Senior Credit Facility as a long-term
consensual solution was being negotiated with lenders. The uncertainty around the Company’s capital structure and future ownership, continued to hurt its
business, as new and existing customers displayed apprehension about the ultimate resolution of the Company’s capital structure and its impact on
operations, causing delays and sometimes losses in business. The uncertainty surrounding the Company’s capital structure combined with the potential
impact that COVID-19 would have on the Company and the global economy, resulted in a significant decline in the fair value of its reporting units during
the first quarter ended April 30, 2020, with the impact being more significant to the SumTotal business on a relative basis due to its smaller scale and
forecasted cash flow generation.

As part of the Company’s evaluation of impairment indicators based on the circumstances described above as of April 30, 2020, the Company determined
its SumTotal long-lived asset group failed the undiscounted cash flow recoverability test. Accordingly, the Company estimated the fair value of its
individual long-lived assets to determine if any impairment charges were present. The Company’s estimation of the fair value of definite lived intangible
assets included the use of discounted cash flow analyses which reflected estimates of future revenue, customer attrition rates, royalty rates, cash flows, and
discount rates. Based on these analyses, the Company concluded the fair values of certain SumTotal intangible assets were lower than their current carrying
values, accordingly impairment charges of $62.3 million were recognized in the 3 months ended April 30, 2020 (Predecessor (PL)).

In light of the circumstances above, management also concluded that a triggering event had occurred with respect to the Company’s indefinite-lived
Skillsoft trade name as of April 30, 2020. Accordingly, the Company estimated the fair value of the Skillsoft trade name using a discounted cash flow
analysis which reflected estimates of future revenue, royalty rates, cash flows, and discount rates. Based on this analysis, the Company concluded the
carrying value of the Skillsoft trade name exceeded its fair value, resulting in an impairment charge of $92.2 million in the 3 months ended April 30, 2020
(Predecessor (PL)).

In accordance with ASC 350, for goodwill the Company determined triggering events had occurred and performed an impairment test as of April 30, 2020
that compared the estimated fair value of each reporting unit to their respective carrying values. The prospective financial information used for fiscal years
2021, 2022 and 2023 for these impairment tests was consistent with financial projections included in the Plan of Reorganization and future growth rates
tracked to terminal growth rate assumptions. The Company considered the results of both a discounted cash flow (“DCF”) analysis and an EBITDA
multiple approach. The Company also considered observable debt trading prices for the debt jointly borrowed by its parent entity and the Company’s
subsidiary, Skillsoft Corporation, however, by the end of March 2020, most holders were restricted from trading in anticipation of a restructuring and
market prices after
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that period were therefore less reliable. The results of the impairment tests performed indicated that the carrying value of the Skillsoft and SumTotal
reporting units exceeded their estimated fair values determined by the Company. Based on the results of the goodwill impairment testing procedures, the
Company recorded a $107.9 million goodwill impairment for the Skillsoft reporting unit and a $70.0 million goodwill impairment for the SumTotal
reporting unit.

In total, as described in detail above, the Company recorded $332.4 million of goodwill and intangible asset impairment charges for the 3 months ended
April 30, 2020 (Predecessor (PL)), consisting of (i) $62.3 million of impairments of SumTotal definite-lived intangible assets, (ii) an $92.2 million
impairment of the Skillsoft trade name, (iii) a $107.9 million goodwill impairment for the Skillsoft reporting unit and (iv) a $70.0 million goodwill
impairment for the SumTotal reporting unit. The Company believes that its procedures for estimating gross future cash flows for each intangible asset are
reasonable and consistent with current market conditions for each of the dates when impairment testing was performed.

A roll forward of goodwill is as follows:

Description     Skillsoft     SumTotal     GK     Consolidated
Goodwill, net January 31, 2021 (Predecessor) $  491,654 $  3,350 $  — $  495,004
Foreign currency translation adjustment   (135)  —  —   (135)
Goodwill, net June 11,2021 (Predecessor)   491,519   3,350   — $  494,869
Acquisition of Skillsoft and GK  584,922  52,745  108,008  745,675
Foreign currency translation adjustment   (13)   (47)  3   (57)
Acquisition of Pluma   15,559  —  —   15,559
Goodwill, net July 31, 2021(Successor) $  600,468 $  52,698 $  108,011 $  761,177

Goodwill at July 31, 2021 (Successor) and January 31, 2021 (Predecessor (SLH)), for the Skillsoft segment was $600.5 million and $491.7 million,
respectively. There were no accumulated impairment losses for the Skillsoft segment at July 31, 2021 (Successor) and January 31, 2021 (Predecessor
(SLH)).

Goodwill at July 31, 2021 (Successor) and January 31, 2021 (Predecessor (SLH)), for the SumTotal segment was $52.7 million and $3.4 million,
respectively. There were no accumulated impairment losses for the SumTotal segment at July 31, 2021 (Successor) and January 31, 2021 (Predecessor
(SLH)).

Goodwill at July 31, 2021 (Successor), for the Global Knowledge segment was $108.0 million. There were no accumulated impairment losses for the
Global Knowledge segment at July 31, 2021.

(5) Taxes

For the Successor period from June 12, 2021 through July 31, 2021, the Company recorded a tax benefit of $5.5 million on pretax loss of $43.0 million.
The tax benefit reflects current period changes in the Company’s valuation allowance on our deferred tax assets and the impact of foreign rate differential.

 For the Predecessor period from May 1, 2021 through June 11, 2021, the Company recorded a tax benefit of $1.6 million on pretax loss of $13.5 million.
The tax benefit reflects the impact of changes in the Company’s valuation allowance on our deferred tax assets and for foreign rate differential. For the
predecessor period from February 1, 2021 through June 11, 2021, the Company recorded a tax benefit of $3.7 million on pretax loss of $53.0 million. The
tax benefit reflects the impact of changes in the Company’s valuation allowance on our deferred tax assets and for foreign rate differential.

For the three-month and six-month predecessor periods ended July 31, 2020, the Company recorded tax benefits of $0.9 million and $9.8 million on pretax
losses of $71.9 million and $514.7 million, respectively. The tax benefit reflected the impact of foreign rate differential, changes in the Company’s
valuation allowance on our deferred tax assets and the impairment of intangible assets.
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(6) Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets

Prepaid expense and other current assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets consist of the following (in thousands):

    Successor     Predecessor (SLH)
July 31, 2021 January 31, 2021

Deferred commission costs – current $  2,179 $  3,147
Reclaimable tax 9,842  9,927
Prepaid software maintenance costs  10,020   8,587
Prepaid royalties   2,981   2,958
Prepaid insurance costs   6,270   752
Prepaid employee benefits  1,570  1,620
Other Prepaid expenses   9,506   2,336
Course material  1,333  —
Other receivables  1,834  964
Other current asset  3,049  35

Total prepaid expenses and other current assets $  48,584 $  30,326

(7) Other Assets

Other assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets consist of the following (in thousands):

    Successor     Predecessor (SLH)
July 31, 2021 January 31, 2021

Deferred commission costs – non-current $  2,933 $  4,437
Deposits 3,043  1,618
Other  2,116   2,581

Total other assets $  8,092 $  8,636

(8) Accrued Expenses

Accrued expenses in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets consisted of the following (in thousands):

    Successor     Predecessor (SLH)
July 31, 2021 January 31, 2021

Professional fees $  8,881 $  8,832
Accrued sales tax/VAT 6,583  5,379
Accrued royalties  1,580   2,152
Accrued tax   5,581   2,634
Accrued interest   1,168   491
Accrued acquisition related costs   14,526  —
Refundable payments  3,597  —
Other accrued liabilities   20,557   3,637

Total accrued expenses $  62,473 $  23,125

(9) Restructuring

In connection with strategic initiatives implemented during the period ended July 31, 2021 (Successor), June 11, 2021 (Predecessor (SLH)) and July 31,
2020 (Predecessor (PL)), the Company’s management approved and initiated plans to reduce its cost structure and better align operating expenses with
existing economic conditions and the Company’s operating model. The Company recorded $0.3 million of restructuring charges during the period from
June 12, 2021 through July 31, 2021 (Successor) and recorded a credit of $0.7 million during the period from February 1, 2021 through June 11, 2021
(Predecessor (SLH)). The company recorded charges of $0.8 million and $1.1 million during the three and six months ended July 31, 2020
(Predecessor(SLH)), which is included in the statement of operations as restructuring.  Substantially all of this charge represents the severance costs of
terminated employees.
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(10) Leases, Commitments and Contingencies

Leases
The Company measured Skillsoft and Global Knowledge’s legacy lease agreements as if the leases were new at the acquisition date and applied the
provisions of Topic 842. This resulted in the recognition of right-of-use (ROU) assets and lease liabilities of $24.6 million and $25.8 million, respectively.
All leases are classified as operating leases, except an equipment lease agreement for the Company’s hosting services and storage, which qualifies as
finance lease under U.S. GAAP.

The Company’s lease portfolio includes office space, training centers, equipment and vehicles to support its research and development activities, sales
operations and other corporate and administrative functions in North America, Europe, and Asia. The Company’s leases have remaining terms of one year
to twelve years. Some of the Company’s leases include options to extend or terminate the lease prior to the end of the agreed upon lease term. For purposes
of calculating lease liabilities, lease terms include options to extend or terminate the lease when it is reasonably certain that the Company will exercise such
options.

Operating lease ROU assets and liabilities are recognized based on the present value of the future minimum lease payments over the expected lease term.
As the Company’s operating leases generally do not provide an implicit rate, the Company uses an estimated incremental borrowing rate in determining the
present value of future payments. The incremental borrowing rate represents an estimate of the interest rate the Company would incur at the acquisition
date to borrow an amount equal to the lease payments on a collateralized basis over the term of a lease within a particular location and currency
environment. The Company used a weighted average incremental borrowing rate of 6.12% as of June 11, 2021, the acquisition date, for its operating leases
that commenced prior to that date. The Company used an implicit rate provided in the equipment lease agreement for its finance lease in determining the
present value of future payments. The Company elected the package of practical expedients permitted under the transition guidance which were applied
consistently to all of the Company’s leases that commenced before the acquisition date. The Company also elected the short-term lease recognition
exemption for all qualifying leases, where ROU assets and lease liabilities are not recognized for leases with the remaining terms of less than one year.

The operating leases are included in the caption “Right of use assets”, “Lease Liabilities”, and “Long-term lease liabilities” on the Company’s consolidated
balance sheets as of July 31, 2021. The finance lease is included in the caption “Property and equipment, net” and “Lease Liabilities” on the Company’s
consolidated balance sheets as of July 31, 2021. The weighted-average remaining lease term of the Company’s operating leases is 5.3 years, and the
remaining lease term of its finance lease is 0.4 year as of July 31, 2021. Lease costs for minimum lease payments are recognized on a straight-line basis
over the lease term. The lease costs were $2.1 million and related cash payments were $2.3 million for the period from February 1, 2021 to June 11, 2021
(Predecessor (SLH)). The lease costs were $1.7 million and related cash payments were $1.7 million for the period from June 12, 2021 to July 31, 2021
(Successor). The lease costs were $3.3 million and related cash payments were $3.1 million for the six months ended July 31, 2020 (Predecessor (PL)).
Lease costs are included within content and software development, selling and marketing, and general and administrative lines on the consolidated
statements of operations, and the operating leases related cash payments were included in the operating cash flows and the finance lease related cash
payments were included in the financing cash flows on the consolidated statements of cash flows. Short-term lease costs and variable lease costs are not
material.
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The table below reconciles the undiscounted future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable leases to the total lease liabilities recognized on the
consolidated balance sheets as of July 31, 2021 (Successor):

Fiscal Year Ended January 31 (in thousands):     Operating Leases Finance Lease
2022 (excluding 6 months ended July 31, 2021) $  5,033 $  905
2023   8,782  —
2024 4,457  —
2025  3,195  —
2026   1,396  —
Thereafter   6,150  —

Total future minimum lease payments   29,013  905
Less effects of discounting   (4,110)  (48)

Total lease liabilities $  24,903 $  857

Reported as of July 31, 2021    
Lease liabilities $  8,805 $  857
Long-term lease liabilities   16,098 --

Total lease liabilities $  24,903 $  857

Litigation
From time to time, the Company is a party to or may be threatened with litigation in the ordinary course of its business. The Company regularly analyzes
current information, including, as applicable, the Company’s defense and insurance coverage and, as necessary, provides accruals for probable and
estimable liabilities for the eventual disposition of these matters. The Company is presently not a party to any material legal proceedings.

In connection with the Skillsoft Merger, two lawsuits were filed by Churchill shareholders alleging breaches of fiduciary duty and violations of the
disclosure requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.  These lawsuits were dismissed as of July 6, 2021, and July 7, 2021,
respectively, following the completion of the Skillsoft Merger on June 11, 2021.

Guarantees
The Company’s software license arrangements and hosting services are typically warranted to perform in a manner consistent with general industry
standards that are reasonably applicable and substantially in accordance with the Company’s product documentation under normal use and circumstances.
The Company’s arrangements also include certain provisions for indemnifying customers against liabilities if its products or services infringe a third party’s
intellectual property right.

The Company has entered into service level agreements with some of its hosted application customers warranting certain levels of uptime reliability and
such agreements permit those customers to receive credits against monthly hosting fees or terminate their agreements in the event that the Company fails to
meet those levels for an agreed upon period of time.

To date, the Company has not incurred any material costs as a result of such indemnifications or commitments and has not accrued any liabilities related to
such obligations in the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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(11) Long-Term Debt

Debt consisted of the following (in thousands):

    Successor     Predecessor (SLH)
July 31, 2021 January 31, 2021

Term Loan - current portion   3,600  5,200
Current maturities of long-term debt   3,600  5,200

Term Loan - long-term portion   476,400  514,800
Less: Fresh-Start Reporting Fair Value Adjustment   —  (4,564)
Less: Original Issue Discount - long-term portion   (7,175)  —
Less: Deferred Financing Costs - long-term portion   (5,426)  —
Long-term debt   463,799  510,236

Exit Credit Facility (Predecessor)

Upon emergence from Chapter 11, the Company entered into the Exit Credit Facility of $520 million consisting of (i) a $110 million super senior term loan
facility, the First Out Term Loan due in December 2024, and (ii) a $410 million first lien, second-out term loan facility, the Second Out Term Loan due in
April 2025. The Exit Credit Facility incurred interest at a rate equal to LIBOR plus 7.50% per annum, with a LIBOR floor of 1.00%. The Exit Credit
Facility contained customary provisions and reporting requirements, including prepayment penalties and a maximum leverage covenant. Quarterly principal
repayments of $1.3 million began for the quarter ended April 30, 2021 and increased to $2.6 million for the quarter ended April 30, 2022 until maturity.

Immediately following the effective time of the Skillsoft Merger on June 11, 2021, each outstanding share of Churchill Class C common stock issued to the
former holders of Skillsoft Class A Shares in connection with the Skillsoft Merger was redeemed for a redemption price of (i) $131.51 per share in cash and
(ii) $5.208 per share in incremental indebtedness (the “Class A SO Incremental Loans”) under that certain Senior Secured Second Out Term Loan Credit
Agreement (the “SO Credit Agreement”), dated as of August 27, 2020, by and among Software Luxembourg Intermediate S.à r.l. (“Holdings”), as the
parent borrower (the “Parent Borrower”), the other borrower party thereto, the lenders from time to time party thereto and Wilmington Savings Fund
Society, FSB, as the administrative agent and collateral agent, as amended (the “SO Credit Agreement”) for a total aggregate increase of $20 million of
second out term loans under the SO Credit Agreement. In addition, upon the closing of the Global Knowledge Merger, (i) pursuant to a Joinder Agreement,
dated as of June 11, 2021, by and among certain lenders party thereto, Holdings, the Parent Borrower and the other borrower party thereto, such lenders
were issued an aggregate principal amount of $50 million of incremental first out term loans (the “GK FO Incremental Loans”) under that certain Senior
Secured Term Loan Credit Agreement dated as of August 27, 2020, by and among Holdings, the Parent Borrower, the other borrower party thereto, the
several banks and other financial institutions from time to time party thereto, as lenders and Wilmington Savings Fund Society, FSB, as administrative
agent and collateral agent, as amended (the “FO Credit Agreement”) and (ii) pursuant to a Joinder Agreement, dated as of June 11, 2021 by and among
certain lenders party thereto, Holdings, the Parent Borrower, the other borrower party thereto, such lenders were issued an aggregate principal amount of
$20,000,000 of incremental second out term loans under the SO Credit Agreement (the “GK SO Incremental Loans” and together with the GK FO
Incremental Loans and the Class A SO Incremental Loans, the “Incremental Loans”).

Term Loan (Successor)

On July 16, 2021, Skillsoft Finance II, Inc. (“Skillsoft Finance II”), a subsidiary of Skillsoft Corp., entered into that certain Credit Agreement (the “Credit
Agreement”), by and among Skillsoft Finance II, as borrower, Skillsoft Finance I, Inc., as holdings (“Holdings”), the lenders party thereto and Citibank,
N.A., as administrative agent and collateral agent, pursuant to which the lenders provided a $480 million term loan facility (the “Term Loan Facility”) to
Skillsoft Finance II, the proceeds of which, together with cash on hand, were used to refinance the First Out Term Loan and Second Out Term Loan
(discussed above). The Term Loan Facility is scheduled to mature on July 16, 2028 (the “Maturity Date”).

The Term Loan Facility is guaranteed by Holdings and certain material subsidiaries of Skillsoft Finance II (collectively, the “Loan Parties”). All obligations
under the Credit Agreement, and the guarantees of those obligations, are secured by substantially all of the material assets of the Loan Parties.
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Amounts outstanding under the Term Loan Facility bear interest, at the option of Skillsoft Finance II, at a rate equal to (a) LIBOR (subject to a floor of
0.75%) plus 4.75% for Eurocurrency Loans or (b) the highest of (i) the Federal Funds Effective Rate plus ½ of 1%, (ii) the “prime rate” quoted by the
Administrative Agent, (iii) LIBOR plus 1.00% and (iv) 1.75%, plus 3.75% for ABR Loans. The $480 million of initial term loan bears interest at a rate
equal to LIBOR plus 4.75%, per annum, with a LIBOR floor of 0.75%, and quarterly principal repayments of $1.2 million begin for the quarter ended
January 31, 2022 until maturity.

Voluntary prepayment is permitted under the Term Loan Facility subject to a premium of 2% for any prepayments prior to the 12 month anniversary of the
Term Loan Facility. Loan Parties are subject to various affirmative and negative covenants and reporting obligations under the Credit Facility. These
include, among others, limitations on indebtedness, liens, sale and leaseback transactions, investments, fundamental changes, assets sales, restricted
payments, affiliate transactions, and restricted debt payments. Events of default under the Term Loan Facility include non-payment of amounts due to the
lenders, violation of covenants, materially incorrect representations, defaults under other material indebtedness, judgments and specified insolvency-related
events, certain ERISA events, and invalidity of loan or collateral documents, subject to, in certain instances, specified thresholds, cure periods and
exceptions.

The Company received $464.3 million of net proceeds (net of $8.5 million of financing costs and $7.2 million of original issuance discounts) from the Term
Loan Facility on July 16, 2021. The Company used the net proceeds and cash on hand to pay down $608.7 million of outstanding borrowings from the Exit
Credit Facility and $5.0 million of interest on July 16, 2021.

The refinancing was accounted for as a modification for certain lenders and an extinguishment for other lenders and debt issuance costs and lender fees
were accounted for in proportion to whether the related principal balance was considered modified or extinguishments. Accordingly, both newly incurred
and deferred financing costs and original issuance discounts of $5.5 million and $7.2 million, respectively, will be amortized as additional interest expense
over the term of the Term Loan.  Furthermore, $3.1 million of third-party costs incurred were recognized as interest expenses in the accompanying
statement of operations for the period from June 12, 2021 through July 31, 2021.

The Company’s debt outstanding as of July 31, 2021 matures as shown below (in thousands):

Fiscal year ended January 31:       
2022 (remaining 6 months) $  1,200
2023   4,800
2024 4,800
2025  4,800
2026   4,800
Thereafter   459,600
Total payments   480,000
Less: Current portion   (3,600)
Less:  Unamortized original issue discount and issuance costs   (12,601)
Long-term portion $  463,799

(12) Long-Term Liabilities

Other long-term liabilities in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets consist of the following (in thousands):

    Successor     Predecessor (SLH)
July 31, 2021 January 31,2021

Uncertain tax positions; including interest and penalties – long-term $  4,448 $  5,794
Other 597  1,104

Total other long-term liabilities $  5,045 $  6,898
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(13) Shareholders’ Equity

Skillsoft Corp. (Successor)

Capitalization
As of July 31, 2021, the Company’s authorized share capital consisted of 375,000,000 shares of Class A common stock, 3,840,000 shares of Class C
common stock and 10,000,000 shares of preferred stock, with a par value $0.0001 each. As of July 31, 2021, 133,059,021 shares of Class A common stock
were issued and outstanding.

The number of authorized shares of Class A common stock or preferred stock authorized for issuance may be increased by the affirmative vote of the
holders of a majority in voting power of the Company’s capital stock entitled to vote thereon. Except as required by law, holders of share of Class C
common stock are not entitled to vote any such shares.

Subject to applicable law, the Company may declare dividends to be paid ratably to holders of Class A common stock out of the Company’s assets that are
legally available to be distributed as dividends in the discretion of the Company’s board of directors. Holders of Class C common stock are generally not
entitled to dividends.

Software Luxembourg Holding S.A. (Predecessor (SLH))

Reorganization
On August 27, 2020 Pointwell (which had been a direct wholly owned subsidiary of Evergreen Skills Lux S.à r.l.), and certain of its subsidiaries, completed
a reorganization. As a result of the reorganization, ownership of Pointwell was transferred to the Company’s lenders and no consideration or right to future
consideration was provided to the former equity holders of Pointwell. In addition, the shared-based compensation plans, described below were cancelled
with no consideration provided.

In Settlement of Predecessor’s first and second lien debt obligations, the holders of the Predecessors first lien received a total of 3,840,000 of Class A
common shares. The Predecessor’s second lien holders received a total of 160,000 of Class B common shares and a total of 705,882 warrants to purchase
additional common shares. The predecessor warrants were valued using a probability-based approach that considered management’s estimate of the
probability of (i) a sale of the company that met certain conditions that caused the warrants to be cancelled for no consideration, (ii) a sale of the company
that did not meet certain conditions that caused the warrants to be cancelled for no consideration and (iii) warrants being held to maturity, with the last two
scenarios utilizing a Black-Scholes model to estimate fair value. As a result of the Skillsoft Merger, the warrants were terminated for no consideration on
June 11, 2021.

Share Capital
As of January 31, 2021 the Predecessor’s authorized share capital consisted of 1,000,000,000 common shares with a par value $0.01 each. This consists of
800,000,000 Class A shares and 200,000,000 Class B shares. As of January 31, 2021, 4,000,000 common shares were issued and outstanding. This consists
of 3,840,000 Class A shares and 160,000 Class B shares.

Any amendment to the share capital of the Predecessor shall be voted upon by the extraordinary general meeting of shareholders upon approval by a
majority of the shareholders representing three quarters of the share capital at least. The Predecessor has no authorized share capital which would enable its
board of managers to increase the share capital. Each share of the Predecessor is entitled to one vote at ordinary and extraordinary general meetings. The
amendments to the articles of association of the Predecessor require the approval of a majority of shareholders representing three quarters of the share
capital at least. In case the Predecessor shall have only one single shareholder, the sole shareholder exercises all the powers granted to the general meeting
of shareholders.

Any legally available amounts to be distributed by the Predecessor in or in respect of any financial period (the Predecessor’s financial year starts on the first
of February and ends on the thirty-first of January) may be distributed amongst the holders of shares in proportion to the number of shares held by them.
Any decision to distribute legally available amounts shall be adopted either by the board of managers or the general meeting of shareholders of the
Predecessor, as the case may be.

(14) Warrants

In connection with the formation of the Company and subsequent acquisitions of Software Luxembourg Holdings and Albert DE, warrants to purchase
common stock were issued to investors, sellers of Albert DE and an executive of the company. Warrants that are
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not subject to ASC 718, Stock Compensation and (i) contained features that could cause the warrant to be puttable to the Company for cash or (ii) had terms
that prevented the conversion of the warrant from being fixed in all circumstances, are classified as a liability on the company’s balance sheet and measured
at fair value, with changes in fair value being recorded in the income statement, whereas all other warrants meet the equity scope exception and are
classified as equity and not remeasured.

A summary of liability classified warrants is as follows:

Underlying Fair Value  
Common Strike Redemption Expiration at July 31,

Type     Shares     Price     Price     Date     2021
Private Placement Warrants – Sponsor  16,300,000 $ 11.50  None 6/11/26 $ 28,525

Simultaneously with the closing of the initial public offering, Churchill Capital (the “Sponsor) purchased an aggregate of 15,800,000 Private Placement
Warrants. An additional 1,500,000 of warrants were issued at Closing in connection with the repayment of a promissory note due to the Sponsor. 1,000,000
of the Private Placement warrants were transferred to the incoming CEO as described below. These warrants held by the Sponsor include provisions that
provide for potential changes to the settlement amounts on redemptions were dependent upon the characteristics of the holder of the warrant. Because the
holder of the instrument is not an input into the pricing of a fixed-for-fixed option on equity shares, the warrants are precluded from being indexed to the
entity’s stock, and are classified as a liabilities measured at fair value, with changes in fair value each period reported in earnings.

A summary of equity classified warrants is as follows:

    Underlying             
Common Strike Redemption Expiration 

Type Shares Price Price Date
Public Warrants  23,000,000 $  11.50 $  18.00 6/11/26
Private Placement Warrants (PIPE) 16,666,667 $  11.50 $  18.00 6/11/26
Private Placement Warrants (GK)   5,000,000 $  11.50  None  10/12/25
Private Placement Warrants (CEO)   1,000,000 $  11.50  None  6/11/26
Total   45,666,667           

A description of each category of warrants issued and outstanding is as follows:

● Public Warrants - Pursuant to the initial public offering, the Company sold units that consisted of one share of Class A common stock and one-third
of one redeemable warrant (“Public Warrant”), resulting in the issuance of 23,000,000 warrants. Prior to the Skillsoft Merger, Churchill Capital
Corp II had classified these warrants as liabilities due to tender offer provisions which states that in in the event of a tender or exchange offer made
to and accepted by holders of more than 50% of the outstanding shares of a single class of common stock, all holders of the warrants would be
entitled to receive cash for their warrants. Accordingly there were potential scenarios outside of the control of the Company (which had more than
one class of outstanding common stock prior to the Merger), where all warrant holders would be entitled to cash, while only certain of the holders
of the underlying shares of common stock would be entitled to cash, requiring the warrants to be classified as a liability measured at fair value, with
changes in fair value reported each period in earnings.  Upon the completion of the Skillsoft Merger on June 11, 2021 when only one class of voting
shares remained outstanding, the warrants could now meet equity classification criteria as net cash settlement can only be triggered in circumstances
in which the holders of the shares underlying the contract also would receive cash in the event of a fundamental change in the ownership of the
Company, such as a change in control. Accordingly, the fair value of the warrants was transferred to equity and cumulative losses recognized from
changes in fair value remain in the Company’s accumulated deficit balance.

● Private Placement Warrants (PIPE) - In connection with the second step investment made by the anchor PIPE investor, 16,666,667 warrants were
issued to a PIPE investor to purchase Churchill Class A common stock.  The PIPE Private Placement Warrants are issued in the same form as the
Public Warrants.

● Private Placement Warrants (Global Knowledge) – Upon completion of the acquisition of Albert DE, 5,000,000 warrants were issued to the former
owners of Global Knowledge.  These warrants are similar to the Private Placement Warrants except the warrants are not subject to the redemption
provisions described above if transferred.

● Private Placement Warrants (CEO) - Effective at Closing, the Sponsor committed to transfer 1,000,000 fully vested Private Placement Warrants to
the CEO pursuant his employment agreement with the Company. The warrants are subject to ASC 718
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Stock Compensation and the Company recognized stock-based compensation expense of $2.8 million for the period from June 12, 2021 to July 31,
2021.

Public Warrants and PIPE Private Placement Warrants (hereinafter referred to as “Redeemable Warrants”) are currently exercisable and may only be
exercised for a whole number of shares.  The Company may redeem these warrants:

● in whole and not in part;
● at a price of $0.01 per warrant;
● upon not less than 30 days’ prior written notice of redemption;
● if, and only if, the reported last sale price of the Company’s common stock equals or exceeds $18.00 per share for any 20 trading days within a 30-

trading day period ending on the third business day prior to the notice of redemption to the warrant holders; and
● if, and only if, there is a current registration statement in effect with respect to the shares of common stock underlying the warrants.

If and when the warrants become redeemable by the Company, the Company may exercise its redemption right even if it is unable to register or qualify the
underlying securities for sale under all applicable state securities laws.

If the Company calls the Redeemable Warrants for redemption, management will have the option to require all holders that wish to exercise the Public
Warrants to do so on a “cashless basis,” as described in the warrant agreement. The exercise price and number of shares of Class A common stock issuable
upon exercise of the warrants may be adjusted in certain circumstances including in the event of a stock dividend, or recapitalization, reorganization,
merger or consolidation.  However, the warrants will not be adjusted for issuance of Class A common stock at a price below its exercise price.
Additionally, in no event will the Company be required to net cash settle the warrants.

The Sponsor and CEO Private Placement Warrants have the same terms as the Public Warrants, except they will be exercisable on a cashless basis and be
non-redeemable so long as they are held by the initial purchasers or their permitted transferees. If the Private Placement Warrants Sponsor are held by
someone other than the initial purchasers or their permitted transferees, they will be redeemable by the Company and exercisable by such holders on the
same basis as the Public Warrants.  The Global Knowledge Private Placement Warrants are not redeemable, even upon a transfer in ownership.

(15) Stock-based compensation

Equity Incentive Plans

In June 2021, Skillsoft Corp adopted the 2020 Omnibus Incentive Plan (“2020 Plan”) and issued Stock Options, RSUs and PSU’s to employees. The 2020
Plan provides for the grant of Incentive Stock Options, Nonqualified Stock Options, Stock Appreciation Rights, Restricted Stock, Restricted Stock Units,
Other Equity-Based Award and Cash-Based Incentive Awards to employees, directors, and consultants of the Company. Under the 2020 Plan, 13,105,902
shares were initially made available for issuance. The 2020 Plan includes an annual increase on January 1 each year beginning on January 1, 2022, in an
amount equal to 5.0% of the total number of shares of Common Stock outstanding on December 31 of the preceding calendar year. The Compensation
Committee may act prior to January 1 of a given year to provide that there will be no January 1 increase for such year or that the increase for such year will
be a lesser number of shares of Common Stock than provided herein. As of July 31, 2021 a total of 7,443,086 shares of common stock were available for
issuance under the 2020 Plan.

Stock Options

Under the 2020 Plan all employees, directors and consultants are eligible to receive incentive share options or non-statutory share options. The options
generally vest over four years and have a term of ten years. Vested options under the plan generally expire not later than 90 days following termination of
employment or service or twelve months following an optionees’ death or disability. The fair value of stock options is determined on the grant date and
amortized over the vesting period on a straight-line basis.
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The following table summarizes the stock option activity for the period ended July 31, 2021:

Weighted 
Weighted Average 
Average Remaining Aggregate 
Exercise Contractual Intrinsic 

    Shares     Price     Term (Years)     Value
(In Thousands)

Outstanding, June 11, 2021     $   
Granted  2,198,000 $  10.75  4.0  —
Exercised   —   —   —   —
Forfeited   —   —   —   —
Expired   —   —   —   —

Outstanding, July 31, 2021   2,198,000 $  10.75   3.9   —
Vested and Exercisable, July 31, 2021   — $       

The total unrecognized equity-based compensation costs related to the stock options was $7.1 million, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-
average period of 3.9 years.

The grant date fair value of the stock options was determined using the Black Scholes model with the following assumptions:

    From June 12, 2021  
to July 31, 2021

Risk-free interest rates 0.98 %
Expected dividend yield  —  
Volatility factor 30 %
Expected lives (years)   6.1
Weighted average fair value of options granted $  3.34

Restricted Stock Units

Restricted stock units (“RSUs”) represent a right to receive one share of the Company’s common stock that is both non-transferable and forfeitable unless
and until certain conditions are satisfied. Restricted stock units vest ratably over a three or four-year period, subject to continued employment through each
anniversary. The fair value of restricted stock units is determined on the grant date and is amortized over the vesting period on a straight-line basis.

The following table summarizes the RSU activity for the period ended July 31, 2021:

Weighted- 
Average Grant Aggregate 

    Shares     Date Fair Value     Intrinsic Value
 (in thousands)

Unvested balance, June 11, 2021
Granted  2,732,408 $  10.75  29,373
Exercised  —  —  —
Forfeited   —   —   —
Expired   —   —   —

Unvested balance, July 31, 2021   2,732,408   10.75 $  29,373

The total unrecognized stock-based compensation costs related to RSUs was $28.1 million, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average
period of 3.9 years.
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Performance-based Restricted Stock Units

Performance-based restricted stock units (“PSUs”) vest over a four-year performance period, subject to continued employment through each anniversary
and achievement of a share price threshold ($12.50 for 20 out of 30 consecutive trading days prior to the fourth anniversary). The fair value of PSUs that
include vesting based on market conditions are estimated using the Monte Carlo valuation method. Compensation cost for these awards is recognized based
on the grant date fair value which is recognized over the vesting period using the accelerated attribution method.

The following table summarizes the PSU activity for the period ended July 31, 2021:

        Weighted-     
Average Grant Aggregate 

Shares Date Fair Value Intrinsic Value
 (in thousands)

Unvested balance, June 11, 2021
Granted   732,408 $  8.60   6,299
Exercised   —  —   —
Forfeited   —  —   —
Expired   —  —   —

Unvested balance, July 31, 2021   732,408   8.60 $  6,299

The total unrecognized stock-based compensation costs related to PSUs was $4.6 million, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average
period of 1.6 years.

Stock-based Compensation Expense

The following summarizes the classification of stock-based compensation in the condensed consolidated statements of operations (in thousands):

Successor
June 12, 2021 

through July 31,
    2021

Cost of revenues $  —
Content and software development   254
Selling and marketing   326
General and administrative   4,237
Total $  4,817

Stock-based compensation expense for the period ended July 31, 2021 includes $2.8 million attributable to 1,000,000 warrants issued to the chief executive
officer that vested on June 11, 2021 upon completion of the merger and his commencement of employment with the Company.
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(16) Revenue

Disaggregated Revenue and Geography Information

The following is a summary of revenues by type for the period from June 12, 2021 to July 31, 2021 (Successor), the period from May 1, 2021 to July 31,
2021 (Predecessor (SLH)), the period from February 1, 2021 to July 31, 2021 (Predecessor(SLH)), and the three months and six months ended July 31,
2021 (Predecessor (PL)), (in thousands):

Successor Predecessor (SLH)     Predecessor (PL)
From     From     From         

June 12, May 1, 2021 February 1, Three months Six months
2021 to July to June 11, 2021 to June ended July 31, ended July 31,

    31, 2021 2021     11, 2021 2020     2020
SaaS and subscription services $  34,534 40,577 119,233 100,398 201,492
Software maintenance   1,637  1,938   5,984  5,119   10,378
Professional services   3,060  5,384   13,495  10,247   21,189
Perpetual software licenses   34  36   924  1,053   2,084
Hardware and other   8  —   —  18   21
Virtual, on-demand and classroom   18,639  —   —  —   —

Total net revenues (1) $  57,912  47,935   139,636  116,835   235,164

The following table sets forth our revenues by geographic region for the period from June 12, 2021 to July 31, 2021 (Successor), the period from May 1,
2021 to July 31, 2021 (Predecessor (SLH)), the period from February 1, 2021 to July 31, 2021 (Predecessor (SLH) and the three months and six months
ended July 31, 2021 (Predecessor (PL)), (in thousands):

   Successor     Predecessor (SLH)     Predecessor (PL)
From From From

June 12, May 1, 2021 February 1, Three months Six months
2021 to July to June 11, 2021 to June ended July 31, ended July 31,

    31, 2021 2021       11, 2021 2020     2020
Revenue:           
United States $  36,572 34,913 101,884 90,565 181,242
Other Americas   4,495  3,042   8,724  4,762   11,238
Europe, Middle East and Africa   14,281  6,799   19,729  14,360   28,583
Asia-Pacific   2,564  3,181   9,299  7,148   14,101

Total net revenues (1) $  57,912  47,935   139,636  116,835   235,164

Other than the United States, no single country accounted for more than 10% of revenue for all periods presented.

Deferred Revenue

Deferred revenue activity for the periods through July 31, 2021 was as follows (in thousands):

Deferred revenue at January 31, 2021 (Predecessor (SLH))     $  260,584
Billings deferred   109,450
Recognition of prior deferred revenue   (139,636)
Deferred revenue at June 11, 2021 (Predecessor (SLH)) $  230,398

Acquisition of Skillsoft and GK  146,318
Billings deferred   74,395
Recognition of prior deferred revenue   (57,912)
Acquisition of Pluma   4,848
Deferred revenue at July 31, 2021 (Successor) $  167,649



Table of Contents

31

Deferred revenue performance obligations relate predominately to time-based SaaS and subscription services that are billed in advance of services being
rendered.

Deferred Contract Acquisition Costs

Deferred contract acquisition cost activity for the periods through July 31, 2021 was as follows (in thousands):

Deferred contract acquisition costs at January 31, 2021 (Predecessor (SLH))     $  7,584
Contract acquisition costs   6,931
Recognition of contract acquisition costs   (5,828)
Deferred contract acquisition costs at June 11, 2021 (Predecessor (SLH))  8,687

Deferred contract acquisition costs at June 12, 2021 (Successor)  —
Contract acquisition costs   7,355
Recognition of contract acquisition costs   (2,243)
Deferred contract acquisition costs at July 31, 2021 (Successor) $  5,112

(17) Fair Value Measurements

FASB ASC Topic 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures (“ASC 820”) establishes a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs used to
measure fair value that maximizes the use of observable inputs and minimizes the use of unobservable inputs. Observable inputs are inputs that reflect the
assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability developed based on market data obtained from sources independent of the
Company. Unobservable inputs are inputs that reflect the Company’s assumptions about the assumptions market participants would use in pricing the asset
or liability developed based on the best information available in the circumstances.

The three levels of the fair value hierarchy established by ASC 820 in order of priority are as follows:

● Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Company has the ability to access as of the reporting
date. Active markets are those in which transactions for the asset or liability occur in sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing information
on an ongoing basis.

● Level 2: Pricing inputs other than quoted prices in active markets included in Level 1, which are either directly or indirectly observable as of the
reporting date. These include quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets and quoted prices for identical or similar assets or
liabilities in markets that are not active.

● Level 3: Unobservable inputs that reflect the Company’s assumptions about the assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset
or liability. Unobservable inputs shall be used to measure fair value to the extent that observable inputs are not available.

The following table summarizes the Company’s assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of July 31, 2021 and are
categorized using the fair value hierarchy (in thousands):

    Total     (Level 3)

Private Placement Warrants – Sponsor $  28,525   28,525
Total assets recorded at fair value $  28,525   28,525
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The following table is a reconciliation of Level 3 instruments for which significant unobservable inputs were used to determine fair value:

Three months ended
    April 30, 2021

Balance as of January 31, 2021 (Predecessor (SLH)) $ 900
Impact of warrant modification, recorded in shareholders’ equity  —
Unrealized gains recognized as other income   (900)
Balance as of June 11, 2021 (Predecessor (SLH))  —

Balance as of June 12, 2021 (Successor)   45,640
Unrealized gains recognized as other income   (17,115)
Balance as of July 31, 2021 (Successor) $  28,525

Predecessor Company (SLH) Warrants
At each relevant measurement date, the predecessor warrants were valued using a probability-based approach that considered management’s estimate of the
probability of (i) a sale of the company that met certain conditions that caused the warrants to be cancelled for no consideration, (ii) a sale of the company
that did not meet certain conditions that caused the warrants to be cancelled for no consideration and (iii) warrants being held to maturity, with the last two
scenarios utilizing a Black-Scholes model to estimate fair value.  As a result of the Skillsoft Merger, the warrants were terminated for no consideration on
June 11, 2021 and, as a result, the Company recorded a gain of $0.9 million for the period from February 1, 2021 to June 11, 2021.

Successor Company Warrants
The Company classifies certain Private Placement Warrants as liabilities in accordance with ASC Topic 815.  The Company estimates the fair value of the
Private Placement Warrants using a Black-Scholes option pricing model.  The fair value of the Private Placement Warrants utilized Level 3 inputs as it is
based on significant inputs not observable in the market.   The fair value of the Private Placement Warrants classified as liabilities was estimated at June 11,
2021 and July 31, 2021 using a Black-Scholes options pricing model and the following assumptions:

    June 11, 2021     July 31, 2021  
Risk-free interest rates   0.76 %  0.67 %
Expected dividend yield   —   —
Volatility factor   31 %  33 %
Expected lives (years)   5.0   4.9
Value per unit   2.80 $  1.75

The Company currently invests excess cash balances primarily in cash deposits held at major banks. The carrying amounts of cash deposits, trade
receivables, trade payables and accrued liabilities, as reported on the consolidated balance sheet as of July 31, 2021, approximate their fair value because of
the short maturity of those instruments.

The Company considered the fair value of its external borrowings and believes their carrying values approximate fair value at July 31, 2021 based on the
timing of the July 2021 Term Loans.

(18) Segment Information

ASC 280, Segment Reporting, establishes standards for reporting information about operating segments. Operating segments are defined as components of
an enterprise about which separate financial information is available that is evaluated regularly by the chief operating decision maker, or decision-making
group, in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing performance. The Company’s chief operating decision makers (CODMs) is its Chief
Executive Officer. The Company’s CODMs evaluate results using the operating segment structure is the primary basis for which the allocation of resources
and financial results are assessed.

The Company has organized its business into three segments: Skillsoft, SumTotal and GK. All of the Company’s businesses market and sell their offerings
globally to businesses of many sizes, government agencies, educational institutions and resellers with a worldwide sales force positioned to offer the
combinations that best meet customer needs. The CODMs primarily use revenues and operating



Table of Contents

33

income as measures used to evaluate financial results and allocation of resources. The Company allocates certain operating expenses to the reportable
segments, including general and administrative costs based on the usage and relative contribution provided to the segments. There are no net revenue
transactions between the Company’s reportable segments.

The Skillsoft business engages in the sale, marketing and delivery of its content learning solutions, in areas such as Leadership and Business, Technology
and Developer and Compliance. In addition, Skillsoft offers Percipio, an intelligent online learning experience platform that delivers an immersive learning
experience. It leverages its highly engaging content, curated into nearly 700 learning paths (channels) that are continuously updated to ensure customers
always have access to the latest information.

The SumTotal business provides a unified, comprehensive and configurable solution that allows organizations to attract, develop and retain the talent.
SumTotal’s solution impacts a company’s workforce throughout the entire employee lifecycle and helps companies succeed in an evolving business
climate. SumTotal’s primary solutions are Talent Acquisition, Learning Management, Talent Management and Workforce Management.

The Global Knowledge business offers training solutions covering information technology and business skills for corporations and their employees. Global
Knowledge guides its customers throughout their lifelong technology learning journey by offering relevant and up-to-date skills training through instructor-
led (in-person “classroom” or online “virtual”) and self-paced (“on-demand”), vendor certified, and other proprietary offerings. Global Knowledge offers a
wide breadth of training topics and delivery modalities (classroom, virtual, on-demand) both on a subscription and transactional basis.

The following table presents summary results for each of the businesses for the period from June 12, 2021 to July 31, 2021 (Successor), the period from
May 1, 2021 to July 31, 2021 (Predecessor), the period from February 1, 2021 to July 31, 2021 (Predecessor), and the three months and six months ended
July 31, 2021 (Predecessor), (in thousands):

Successor Predecessor (SLH) Predecessor (PL)
From From From

June 12, May 1, 2021 February 1, Three months Six months
2021 to July to July 31, 2021 to July ended July 31, ended July 31,

    31, 2021   2021 31, 2021   2020     2020
Skillsoft              

Revenues   23,379  34,377   101,434  84,087   168,406
Operating expenses   60,387  44,754   137,882  89,632   377,552
Operating (loss) income   (37,008)  (10,377)   (36,448)  (5,545)  (209,146)

SumTotal              
Revenues   9,873  13,558   38,202  32,748   66,758
Operating expenses   14,883  12,101   38,377  28,387   196,541
Operating income (loss)   (5,010)  1,457   (175)  4,361   (129,783)

Global Knowledge              
Revenues   24,660  —   —  —   —
Operating expenses   32,255  —   —  —   —
Operating loss   (7,595)  —   —  —   —

Consolidated              
Revenues   57,912  47,935   139,636  116,835   235,164
Operating expenses   107,525  56,855   176,259  118,019   574,093
Operating loss   (49,613)  (8,920)  (36,623)  (1,184)  (338,929)
Total non-operating income   16,418  759   407  898   1,809
Interest expense, net   (9,844)  (5,317)  (16,756)  (61,011)   (166,970)
Reorganization items, net   —  —   —  (10,593)   (10,593)
Benefit from income taxes   5,504  1,619   3,708  909   9,800
Net loss   (37,535)  (11,859)   (49,264)  (70,981)   (504,883)
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The Company’s segment assets primarily consist of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, prepaid expenses, deferred taxes, property and
equipment, goodwill and intangible assets. The following table sets forth the Company’s segment assets as of July 31, 2021 and January 31, 2021 (in
thousands):

Successor Predecessor (SLH)
    July 31, 2021     January 31, 2021

Skillsoft $  1,471,444 $  1,398,379
SumTotal  196,071   147,358
Global Knowledge  366,906  —
Corporate  —  —

Consolidated $  2,034,421 $  1,545,737

The following table sets forth the Company’s long-lived tangible assets by geographic region for the years ended July 31, 2021 and January 31, 2021 (in
thousands):

Successor Predecessor (SLH)
    July 31, 2021     January 31, 2021

United States $  12,276 $  10,613
Ireland 499   609
Rest of world  2,280  2,558
Total $  15,055 $  13,780

(19) Net Loss Per Share

Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing net income for the period by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the
period. Diluted earnings per share is computed by dividing net income for the period by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding
during the period, plus the dilutive effect of outstanding restricted stock-based awards, stock options, and shares issuable under the employee stock
purchase plan using the treasury stock method.

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share (in thousands, except number of shares and per share data):

Successor Predecessor (SLH) Predecessor (PL)
From From From

June 12, May 1, 2021 February 1,   Three months Six months
2021 to July to July 31, 2021 to July ended July 31, ended July 31,

    31, 2021   2021     31, 2021     2020     2020
Net loss $  (37,535)    (11,859)   (49,264)    (70,981)   (504,883)

Weighted average common shares outstanding:                  
Ordinary – Basic and Diluted (Predecessor)  *   *  *    100.1   100.1
Class A and B – Basic and Diluted (Predecessor)  *    4,000   4,000   *  *
Ordinary – Basic and Diluted (Successor)   133,059   *  *   *  *

Net loss per share:                  
Ordinary – Basic and Diluted (Predecessor)  *   *  * $  (709.10) $  (5,043.79)
Class A and B – Basic and Diluted (Predecessor)  * $  (2.96) $  (12.32)  *  *
Ordinary – Basic and Diluted (Successor) $  (0.28)  *  *  *  *

*    Not Applicable
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During the period ending July 31, 2021, the Company incurred net losses and, therefore, the effect of the Company’s potentially dilutive securities were not
included in the calculation of diluted loss per share as the effect would be anti-dilutive. The following table contains share/unit totals with a potentially
dilutive impact (in thousands):

    Successor     Predecessor (SLH)

Warrants to purchase common shares   61,967    706
Stock Options   2,198   —
RSU’s   3,465   —
Total   67,630    706

(20) Related Party Transactions

Predecessor (SLH) Related Party Transactions
Upon our emergence from Chapter 11 on August 27, 2020, our exit facility consisting of $110 million of First Out Term Loans and $410 million of Second
Out Term Loans were financed in whole by our Class A shareholders. Class A shareholders have the ability to trade their debt positions independently from
their equity positions, however, as of January 31, 2021, the substantial majority of First Out and Second Out term loans continue to be held by Class A
shareholders. In connection with our refinancing that closed on July 16, 2021, the First and Second Out terms loans were repaid in full.

Successor Related Party Transactions
In connection with the closing of merger on June 11, 2021, the Company entered into a strategic support agreement with its largest shareholder, pursuant to
which the shareholder agreed to provide certain business development and investor relations support to the Company for one year after closing of the
transaction. The shareholder is one of the largest technology investors in the world, with a large portfolio of investments where they maintain control of or
have significant influence over companies, including some ed-tech companies that we compete with or may partner with in the future. For the period from
June 11, 2021 to July 31, 2021, we have not entered into any new transactions with affiliates of our largest shareholder.

(21) Subsequent Events

The Company has completed an evaluation of all subsequent events after the balance sheet date of July 31, 2021 through the date this Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q was filed with the SEC, to ensure that this filing includes appropriate disclosure of events both recognized in the financial statements as of July
31, 2021, and events which occurred subsequently but were not recognized in the financial statements. The Company has concluded that no subsequent
events have occurred that require disclosure, except as disclosed within these financial statements.
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ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 

The following discussion of the financial condition and results of operations of Skillsoft (as defined below) should be read in conjunction with Skillsoft’s
condensed consolidated financial statements and related notes appearing elsewhere in this Quarterly Report and the audited consolidated financial
statements for the year ended January 31, 2021 and the related notes included in the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) on June 17, 2021. This discussion may contain forward-looking statements based upon current expectations that
involve risks and uncertainties. Skillsoft’s actual results may differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of
various factors, including those set forth under “Risk Factors” in Part II, Item 1A of this report. Unless otherwise noted, amounts referenced in this
discussion, other than in reference to share numbers, are in thousands.

Completion of the Business Combination

On June 11, 2021, the Company and Software Luxembourg Holding S.A., a global leader in digital learning and talent management solutions, completed a
business combination and subsequent acquisition of Albert DE Holdings Inc. (“Global Knowledge” and such acquisition, the “Global Knowledge Merger”),
a worldwide leader in IT and professional skills development. The combined company operates as Skillsoft Corp. (“Skillsoft”, “we”, “us”, “our” and the
“Company”) and is listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the new ticker symbol “SKIL” beginning on June 14, 2021.

Change in Fiscal Year

On June 21, 2021, our board of directors approved the adoption of a January 31 year-end for the Company’s financial reporting, effective immediately, to
align Churchill Capital Corp II and Global Knowledge with the pre-business combination Skillsoft’s fiscal year end. As a result, this fiscal year ends on
January 31, 2022 (fiscal 2022) and the second quarter of fiscal 2022 ended on July 31, 2021.

Company’s Business following the Business Combination

Skillsoft is a global leader in corporate digital learning, serving approximately 70% of the Fortune 1000, customers in over 160 countries, and more than 45
million learners globally. The Company provides enterprise learning solutions designed to prepare organizations for the future of work, enable them to
overcome critical skill gaps, drive demonstrable behavior-change, and unlock the potential in one of their most important assets: their people. Skillsoft
offers a comprehensive suite of premium, original, and authorized partner content, including one of the broadest and deepest libraries of leadership &
business, technology & developer, and compliance curricula. With access to a broad spectrum of learning options (including video, audio, books,
bootcamps, live events, and practice labs), organizations can meaningfully increase learner engagement and retention. Skillsoft’s offerings are delivered
through Percipio, its award-winning, AI-driven, immersive learning platform purpose built to make learning easier, more accessible, and more effective.
Learn more at www.skillsoft.com.

Skillsoft’s primary learning solutions include: (i) Skillsoft Percipio, an intelligent and immersive digital learning platform; (ii) Skillport, a legacy learning
content delivery platform; (iii) Global Knowledge, a global provider of authorized information technology & development training and professional skills;
and (iv) SumTotal, a SaaS-based Human Capital Management (“HCM”) solution with a leading Talent Development platform.

Skillsoft provides enterprise learning solutions, and premium, authorized, and original content that help many of the world’s leading organizations drive
measurable improvement and overcome critical skills gaps. Skillsoft sells broad portfolio of content and solutions to customers through our leading sales
force across a global footprint. Skillsoft is deeply embedded within our customers’ organizations, and constantly evolving our solutions to address their
needs and current market trends.
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The corporate digital learning industry is rapidly growing, driven by significant tailwinds as organizations focus on upskilling, reskilling, and future-
proofing their workforces and the accelerated shift from in-person training to digital training due, in part, to the COVID-19 pandemic. Organizations invest
in learning and talent solutions to build a more motivated, skilled, and resilient workforce. Skillsoft helps them accomplish these objectives by delivering a
complete learning solution, supported by our proven, dynamic, and comprehensive content portfolio, which includes offerings across the Leadership and
Business Skills, Technology and Development, and Compliance customer market segments. Our solutions are powered by engaging learning platforms,
including our wholly owned subsidiary, Global Knowledge, and our award-winning, state-of-the-art learning experience platform, Percipio, and our
SumTotal Talent Development platform.

Results of Operations

Our financial results for the period of June 12, 2021 to July 31, 2021 are referred to as those of the “Successor” period. Our financial results for the periods
of May 1, 2021 to June 11, 2021 and February 1, 2021 to June 11, 2021 are referred to as those of the “Predecessor (SLH)” periods. Our financial results for
the three and six months ended July 31, 2020 are also referred to as those of the “Predecessor (PL)” periods. Our results of operations as reported in our
Consolidated Financial Statements for these periods are prepared in accordance with GAAP. Although GAAP requires us to report on our results for the
period from June 12, 2021 through July 31, 2021, May 1, 2021 through June 11, 2021, February 1, 2021 through June 11, 2021, May 1, 2020 through
July 31, 2020, and February 1, 2020 through July 31, 2020, separately, management views the Company’s operating results for the three and six months
ended July 31, 2021 by combining the results of the applicable Predecessor and Successor periods because such presentation provides the meaningful
comparison of our results to prior periods.

We cannot adequately benchmark the operating results for the three and six months ended July 31, 2021 against any of the previous periods reported in our
Consolidated Financial Statements without combining the period from February 1, 2021 through June 11, 2021 and the period from June 12, 2021 through
July 31, 2021 and do not believe that reviewing the results of this period in isolation would be useful in identifying trends in or reaching conclusions
regarding our overall operating performance. Management believes that the key performance metrics such as revenue and operating (loss) income for the
Successor period when combined with the Predecessor periods provide more meaningful comparisons to other periods and are useful in identifying current
business trends. Accordingly, in addition to presenting our results of operations as reported in our Consolidated Financial Statements in accordance with
GAAP, the tables and discussion below also present the combined results for the three and six months ended July 31, 2021.

The table below presents the results for the three months ended July 31, 2021, which are the sum of the reported amounts for the Predecessor period from
May 1, 2021 through June 11, 2021 and the Successor period from June 12, 2021 through July 31, 2021, and the results for the six months ended July 31,
2021, which are the sum of the reported amounts for the Predecessor period from February 1, 2021 through June 11, 2021 and the Successor period from
June 12, 2021 through July 31, 2021. These combined results are not considered to be prepared in accordance with GAAP and have not been prepared as
pro forma results per applicable regulations. The
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combined operating results do not reflect the actual results we would have achieved absent the business combination and may not be indicative of future
results.

Predecessor Non-GAAP Predecessor Non-GAAP
Successor (SLH) Combined (SLH) Combined

Three From
From June From May 1, Months February 1, Six Months
12, 2021 to 2021 to June Ended July 2021 to June Ended July

(In thousands)     July 31, 2021     11, 2021     31, 2021     11, 2021     31, 2021
Revenues:                

Total revenues $  57,912 $  47,935 $  105,847 $  139,636 $  197,548
Operating expenses:      

Costs of revenues   28,006   11,360   39,366   35,881   63,887
Content and software development   9,878   7,477   17,355   24,084   33,962
Selling and marketing   22,234   13,438   35,672   41,940   64,174
General and administrative   17,073   4,855   21,928   17,217   34,290
Amortization of goodwill and intangible assets   20,023   15,959   35,982   50,902   70,925
Recapitalization and transaction related costs   9,995   5,006   15,001   6,938   16,933
Restructuring   316   (1,240)   (924)   (703)   (387)

Total operating expenses   107,525   56,855   164,380   176,259   283,784
Operating loss   (49,613)   (8,920)   (58,533)   (36,623)   (86,236)
Interest and other expense, net   (10,541)   (5,358)   (15,899)   (17,249)   (27,790)
Fair value adjustment to warrants   17,115   800   17,915   900   18,015
Loss before benefit from income taxes   (43,039)   (13,478)   (56,517)   (52,972)   (96,011)
Benefit from income taxes   (5,504)   (1,619)   (7,123)   (3,708)   (9,212)
Net loss $  (37,535) $  (11,859) $  (49,394) $  (49,264) $  (86,799)

The table below presents the comparison of our historical results of operations for the periods presented:

Non-GAAP Non-GAAP
Combined Predecessor (PL) Combined Predecessor (PL)

Three Months Three Months Six Months Six Months
Ended July 31, Ended July Ended July Ended July

(In thousands)     2021     31, 2020     31, 2021     31, 2020
Revenues:             

Total revenues $  105,847 $  116,835 $  197,548 $  235,164
Operating expenses:     

Costs of revenues   39,366   21,618   63,887   45,831
Content and software development   17,355   16,835   33,962   33,778
Selling and marketing   35,672   34,033   64,174   66,769
General and administrative   21,928   15,324   34,290   32,015
Amortization of intangible assets   35,982   12,779   70,925   30,148
Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets           -                     -                     -   332,376
Recapitalization and transaction related costs   15,001   16,659   16,933   32,035
Restructuring   (924)   771   (387)   1,141

Total operating expenses   164,380   118,019   283,784   574,093
Operating loss   (58,533)   (1,184)   (86,236)   (338,929)
Interest and other expense, net   (15,899)   (60,113)   (27,790)   (165,161)
Fair value adjustment to warrants   17,915   —   18,015   —
Reorganization items, net   —   (10,593)   —   (10,593)
Loss before benefit from income taxes   (56,517)   (71,890)   (96,011)   (514,683)
Benefit from income taxes   (7,123)   (909)   (9,212)   (9,800)
Net loss $  (49,394) $  (70,981) $  (86,799) $  (504,873)
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The following table sets forth certain items from our consolidated statements of operations as a percentage of total revenues for the periods indicated:

Non-GAAP Non-GAAP  
Combined Predecessor (PL) Combined Predecessor (PL)  

Three Months Three Months Six Months Six Months  
Ended July 31,  Ended July 31, Ended July Ended July  

    2021     2020     31, 2021     31, 2020  
Revenues:             

Total revenues   100.0 %   100.0 %   100.0 %   100.0 %
Operating expenses:     

Costs of revenues   37.2 %   18.5 %   32.4 %   19.5 %
Content and software development   16.4 %   14.4 %   17.2 %   14.4 %
Selling and marketing   33.7 %   29.1 %   32.5 %   28.4 %
General and administrative   20.7 %   13.1 %   17.4 %   13.6 %
Amortization of intangible assets   34.0 %   10.9 %   35.9 %   12.8 %
Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets   0.0 %   0.0 %   0.0 %   141.3 %
Recapitalization and transaction related costs   14.2 %   14.3 %   8.6 %   13.6 %
Restructuring   (0.9)%   0.7 %   (0.2)%   0.5 %

Total operating expenses   155.3 %   101.1 %   143.8 %   244.1 %
Operating loss   (55.3)%   (1.0)%   (43.8)%   (144.1)%
Interest and other expense, net   (15.0)%   (51.5)%   (14.1)%   (70.2)%
Fair value adjustment to warrants   16.9 %   0.0 %   9.1 %   0.0 %
Reorganization items, net   0.0 %   (9.1)%   0.0 %   (4.5)%
Loss before benefit from income taxes   (53.4)%   (61.5)%   (48.8)%   (218.8)%
Benefit from income taxes   (6.7)%   (0.8)%   (4.7)%   (4.2)%
Net loss   (46.7)%   (60.7)%   (44.1)%   (214.6)%

Revenues

We provide, through our Skillsoft, Global Knowledge and SumTotal brands, enterprise learning solutions designed to prepare organizations for the future of
work, overcome critical skill gaps, drive demonstrable behavior-change, and unlock the potential in their people.

Skillsoft generates revenues from its comprehensive suite of premium, original, and authorized partner content, featuring one of the deepest libraries of
leadership & business, technology & development, and compliance curricula. With access to a broad spectrum of learning options (including video, audio,
books, bootcamps, live events, and practice labs), organizations can meaningfully increase learner engagement and retention. Skillsoft’s offerings are
delivered through Percipio, its award-winning, AI-driven, immersive learning platform purpose built to make learning easier, more accessible, and more
effective. These learning solutions are typically sold on a subscription basis for a fixed term.

Global Knowledge generates revenues from virtual, in-classroom, and on-demand training solutions in information technology geared at foundational,
practitioner and expert information technology professionals. Global Knowledge’s digital and in-classroom learning solutions provide enterprises,
government agencies, educational institutions, and individual customers a broad selection of customizable courses to meet their technology and
development needs.

SumTotal generates revenues from its unified, comprehensive and configurable SaaS talent management solution that allows organizations to attract,
develop and retain the best talent. SumTotal also sells professional services related to the talent management solution, and occasionally provide perpetual
and term-based licenses for on-premise versions of the solution.
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The following table sets forth the percentage of our revenues attributable to geographic regions for the periods indicated:

Non-GAAP Non-GAAP  
Combined Predecessor (PL) Combined Predecessor (PL)  

Three Three  
Months  Months  Six Months Six Months  

Ended July Ended July Ended July Ended July  
    31, 2021     31, 2020     31, 2021     31, 2020

Revenues:             
United States   67.5 %   77.5 %   70.1 %   77.1 %
Other Americas   7.1 %   4.1 %   6.7 %   4.8 %
Europe, Middle East and Africa   19.9 %   12.3 %   17.2 %   12.2 %
Asia-Pacific   5.4 %   6.1 %   6.0 %   6.0 %

Total revenues   100.0 %   100.0 %   100.0 %   100.0 %

Subscription and Non-Subscription Revenue

SaaS and Subscription Revenue. Represents revenue generated from contracts specifying a minimum fixed fee for services delivered over the life of the
contract. The initial term of these contracts is generally two to five years and is generally non-cancellable for the term of the subscription. The fixed fee is
generally paid upfront. These contracts typically consist of subscriptions to our various offerings which provide continuous access to our SaaS platforms
and associated content over the contract term. Subscription revenues are inclusive of maintenance revenue for SumTotal. Subscription revenue is usually
recognized ratably over the contract term.

Non-Subscription Revenue. Primarily represents the sale of Global Knowledge classroom offerings in both in-person and virtual environments. Classroom
training, including virtual offerings, are first scheduled, then delivered later, with revenue realized on the delivery date. Non-subscription revenue also
includes professional services related to implementation of our offerings and subsequent, ongoing consulting engagements. Our non-subscription services
complement our subscription business in creating strong and comprehensive customer relationships.

The following table sets forth (i) SaaS and subscription and (ii) non-subscription revenue for our business units for the periods indicated:

Non-GAAP Non-GAAP
Combined Predecessor (PL) Combined Predecessor (PL)

Three Months Three Months Six Months Six Months
Ended July Ended July Ended July Ended July

(In thousands)     31, 2021     31, 2020     31, 2021     31, 2020
SaaS and subscription revenues:             

Content $  54,949 $  80,331 $  118,594 $  160,751
SumTotal   18,030   26,014   37,797   52,875
Total subscription revenues   72,979   106,345   156,391   213,626

Non-subscription revenues:             
Content   2,807   3,756   6,219   7,654
Virtual, on-demand and classroom   24,660   —   24,660   —
SumTotal   5,401   6,734   10,278   13,884
Total non-subscription revenues   32,868   10,490   41,157   21,538

Total revenues $  105,847 $  116,835 $  197,548 $  235,164
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Revenue by Product and Service Type

The following is a summary of our revenues by product and service type for the three and six months ended July 31, 2021 and 2020:

Non-GAAP          
Combined Predecessor (PL)  

Three Months Three Months Dollar  
Ended Ended Increase/ Percent

(In thousands, except percentages)     July 31, 2021     July 31,2020     (Decrease)        Change  
Revenues:             

SaaS and subscription services $  75,111 $  100,398 $  (25,287)   (25.2)%
Software maintenance   3,575   5,119   (1,544)  (30.2)%
Professional services   8,444   10,247   (1,803)  (17.6)%
Software licenses and other   78   1,071   (993)  (93.5)%
Virtual, on-demand and classroom   18,639   —   18,639   100.0 %

Total revenues $  105,847 $  116,835 $  (10,988)   (9.4)%

Non-GAAP          
Combined Predecessor (PL)  
Six Months Six Months Dollar  

Ended Ended Increase/ Percent
(In thousands, except percentages)     July 31, 2021 July 31,2020     (Decrease)     Change  
Revenues:             

SaaS and subscription services $  153,767 $  201,492 $  (47,725)  (23.7)%
Software maintenance   7,621   10,378   (2,757)  (26.6)%
Professional services   16,555   21,189   (4,634)  (21.9)%
Software licenses and other   966   2,105   (1,139)  (54.1)%
Virtual, on-demand and classroom   18,639   —   18,639   100.0 %

Total revenues $  197,548 $  235,164 $  (37,616)  (16.0)%

Revenues decreased $11.0 million, or 9.4%, for the combined three months ended July 31, 2021, and decreased $37.6 million, or 16.0%, for the combined
six months ended July 31, 2021, compared to the same periods in 2020.  The primary reason for the decrease in GAAP revenue for these periods is due to
the application of fresh-start reporting in August 2020 and business combination Accounting in June 2021, both of which require beginning deferred
revenue in the Successor periods to be reduced to its estimated fair value, which is derived from the estimated costs to fulfill contractual obligations at the
time of a change in control rather than the value of contractual billings to customers. The application of fresh-start reporting resulted in a decrease in GAAP
revenue of approximately $5.9 million and $25.8 million compared to the three and six month combined periods ended July 31, 2021, respectively. The
application of business combination accounting resulted in a decrease in GAAP revenue of approximately $22.4 million compared to the three and six
month combined periods ended July 31, 2021. The impact of business combination accounting will also decrease GAAP revenue for the next three fiscal
quarters. The impact of fresh-start reporting and business combination accounting was partially offset by the acquisition of Global Knowledge, the revenue
from which is included for the period from June 11, 2021 to July 31, 2021.  After normalizing for the impact of fresh-start reporting, business combination
accounting and the acquisition of Global Knowledge, revenues for the Content and SumTotal business units were down slightly due to lower bookings in
the prior year, as revenue from our subscription offerings is typically recognized over the twelve months that follow a booking.
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Operating expenses

    Non-GAAP                      
Combined Predecessor (PL)  

Three Months Three Months Dollar  
Ended Ended Increase/ Percent

(In thousands, except percentages) July 31, 2021 July 31,2020 (Decrease) Change  
Cost of revenues $  39,366 $  21,618 $  17,748   82.1 %
Content and software development   17,355   16,835   520   3.1 %
Selling and marketing   35,672   34,033   1,639   4.8 %
General and administrative   21,928   15,324   6,604   43.1 %
Amortization of intangible assets   35,982   12,779   23,203   181.6 %
Recapitalization and transaction related costs   15,001   16,659   (1,658)  (10.0)%
Restructuring   (924)   771   (1,695)  (219.8)%

Total operating expenses $  164,380 $  118,019 $  46,361   39.3 %

    Non-GAAP                      
Combined Predecessor (PL)  
Six Months Six Months Dollar  

Ended Ended Increase/ Percent
(In thousands, except percentages) July 31, 2021 July 31,2020 (Decrease) Change  
Cost of revenues $  63,887 $  45,831 $  18,056   39.4 %
Content and software development   33,962   33,778   184   0.5 %
Selling and marketing   64,174   66,769   (2,595)  (3.9)%
General and administrative   34,290   32,015   2,275   7.1 %
Amortization of intangible assets   70,925   30,148   40,777   135.3 %
Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets   —   332,376   (332,376)  (100.0)%
Recapitalization and transaction related costs   16,933   32,035   (15,102)   (47.1)%
Restructuring   (387)   1,141   (1,528)  (133.9)%

Total operating expenses $  283,784 $  574,093 $  (290,309)  (50.6)%

Cost of revenues

Cost of revenues consists primarily of employee salaries and benefits for hosting operations, professional service and customer support personnel; royalties;
hosting and software maintenance services; facilities and utilities costs; consulting services; instructor fees, course materials, logistics costs and overhead
costs associated with virtual, in-classroom, and on-demand training solutions. The table below provides details regarding the changes in components of cost
of revenues.

    Non-GAAP                  
Combined Predecessor (PL)      

Three Months Three Months Dollar  
Ended Ended Increase/ Percent

(In thousands, except percentages) July 31, 2021 July 31,2020 (Decrease) Change  
Compensation and benefits $  16,753 $  12,996 $  3,757   28.9 %
Royalties   8,814   4,033   4,781   118.5 %
Hosting and software maintenance   2,959   3,117   (158)  (5.1)%
Facilities and utilities   3,357   1,788   1,569   87.8 %
Consulting and outside services   7,387   731   6,656   910.5 %
Other   96   (1,047)   1,143   (109.2)%

Total cost of revenues $  39,366 $  21,618 $  17,748   82.1 %
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    Non-GAAP                  
Combined Predecessor (PL)      

Six Months Six Months Dollar  
Ended Ended Increase/ Percent

(In thousands, except percentages) July 31, 2021 July 31,2020 (Decrease) Change  
Compensation and benefits $  29,941 $  26,539 $  3,402   12.8 %
Royalties   13,664   8,300   5,364   64.6 %
Hosting and software maintenance   5,988   5,978   10   0.2 %
Facilities and utilities   5,704   3,729   1,975   53.0 %
Consulting and outside services   8,468   2,246   6,222   277.0 %
Other   122   (961)   1,083   (112.7)%

Total cost of revenues $  63,887 $  45,831 $  18,056   39.4 %

The increases in compensation and benefits, royalties, facilities and utilities, and consulting and outside services expenses were primarily a result of
including Global Knowledge’s expenses incurred in the period of June 12, 2021 to July 31, 2021 in the Non-GAAP combined periods of three and
six months ended July 31, 2021. The $1.0 million credit in other expenses was a result of deconsolidation of Skillsoft Canada Ltd. in July 2020 when
Skillsoft filed prepackaged Chapter 11 with Canadian court.

Content and software development

Content and software development expenses include costs associated with the development of new products and the enhancement of existing products,
consisting primarily of employee salaries and benefits; development related professional services; facilities costs; depreciation; and software maintenance
costs. The table below provides details regarding the changes in components of content and software development expenses.

    Non-GAAP                  
Combined Predecessor      

Three Months Three Months Dollar  
Ended Ended Increase/ Percent

(In thousands, except percentages) July 31, 2021 July 31,2020 (Decrease) Change  
Compensation and benefits $  12,374 $  10,755 $  1,619   15.1 %
Consulting and outside services   3,111   3,950   (839)  (21.2)%
Facilities and utilities   1,261   1,455   (194)  (13.3)%
Software Maintenance   604   681   (77)  (11.3)%
Other   5   (6)   11   (183.3)%

Total content and software development expenses $  17,355 $  16,835 $  520   3.1 %

    Non-GAAP                      
Combined Predecessor (PL)  

Six Months Six Months Dollar  
Ended Ended Increase/ Percent

(In thousands, except percentages) July 31, 2021 July 31,2020 (Decrease) Change  
Compensation and benefits $  23,182 $  21,999 $  1,183   5.4 %
Consulting and outside services   6,869   7,627   (758)  (9.9)%
Facilities and utilities   2,569   2,956   (387)  (13.1)%
Software Maintenance   1,326   1,160   166   14.3 %
Other   16   36   (20)  (55.6)%

Total content and software development expenses $  33,962 $  33,778 $  184   0.5 %

The increases in compensation and benefits for the three and six months ended July 31, 2021, compared to the same periods in 2020, were primarily due to
the increases in incentive-based compensation accruals. The decreases in consulting and outside services expenses for the three and six months ended
July 31, 2021, compared to the same periods in 2020, were primarily due to decreased third party software development costs as we shifted the software
development work to our offshore employees.
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Selling and marketing

Selling and marketing, or S&M, expenses consist primarily of employee salaries and benefits for selling, marketing and pre-sales support personnel;
commissions; travel expenses; advertising and promotional expenses; consulting and outside services; facilities costs; depreciation; and software
maintenance costs. The table below provides details regarding the changes in components of S&M expenses.

    Non-GAAP                      
Combined Predecessor (PL)  

Three Months Three Months Dollar  
Ended Ended Increase/ Percent

(In thousands, except percentages) July 31, 2021 July 31,2020 (Decrease) Change  
Compensation and benefits $  27,019 $  25,210 $  1,809   7.2 %
Advertising and promotions   4,657   4,737   (80)  (1.7)%
Facilities and utilities   1,751   2,487   (736)  (29.6)%
Consulting and outside services   1,152   1,056   96   9.1 %
Software Maintenance   938   794   144   18.1 %
Travel expenses   102   47   55   117.0 %
Other   53   (298)   351   (117.8)%

Total S&M expenses $  35,672 $  34,033 $  1,639   4.8 %

    Non-GAAP                      
Combined Predecessor  
Six Months Six Months Dollar  

Ended Ended Increase/ Percent
(In thousands, except percentages) July 31, 2021 July 31,2020 (Decrease) Change  
Compensation and benefits $  48,230 $  48,543 $  (313)  (0.6)%
Advertising and promotions   8,142   8,137   5   0.1 %
Facilities and utilities   3,454   5,020   (1,566)  (31.2)%
Consulting and outside services   2,291   2,384   (93)  (3.9)%
Software Maintenance   1,831   1,569   262   16.7 %
Travel expenses   120   1,028   (908)  (88.3)%
Other   106   88   18   20.5 %

Total S&M expenses $  64,174 $  66,769 $  (2,595)  (3.9)%

The increase in compensation and benefits for the three months ended July 31, 2021, compared to the same period in 2020, was primarily a result of
including Global Knowledge’s S&M compensation costs incurred in the period of June 12, 2021 to July 31, 2021 in the Non-GAAP combined periods of
three and six months ended July 31, 2021. The increase was partially offset by the decreases in Skillsoft’s compensation costs as a result of its sales
personnel reduction in 2021 and the decreases in commission expenses as a result of the application of fresh-start reporting in August 2020 and Topic 805
business combination guidance in June 2021, which required us to eliminate the balance of deferred commissions which otherwise would have been
recognized as commission expense in the Successor period. Skillsoft’s sales workforce reduction resulted in less facilities and utilities costs allocated to
S&M for the three and six months ended July 31, 2021, compared to the same periods in 2020. The decrease in travel expenses for the six months ended
July 31, 2021, compared to the same period in 2020, was due to COVID-19 pandemic.



Table of Contents

45

General and administrative

General and administrative, or G&A, expenses consist primarily of employee salaries and benefits for executive, finance, administrative, and legal
personnel; audit, legal and consulting fees; insurance; franchise, sales and property taxes; facilities costs; and depreciation. The table below provides details
regarding the changes in components of G&A expenses.

    Non-GAAP                      
Combined Predecessor (PL)  

Three Months Three Months Dollar  
Ended Ended Increase/ Percent

(In thousands, except percentages) July 31, 2021 July 31,2020 (Decrease) Change  
Compensation and benefits $  14,685 $  11,164 $  3,521   31.5 %
Consulting and outside services   3,854   2,665   1,189   44.6 %
Facilities and utilities   1,382   792   590   74.5 %
Franchise, sales, and property tax   91   212   (121)  (57.1)%
Insurance   1,556   299   1,257   420.4 %
Other   360   193   167   87.5 %

Total G&A expenses $  21,928 $  15,324 $  6,603   43.1 %

    Non-GAAP                      
Combined Predecessor (PL)  
Six Months Six Months Dollar  

Ended Ended Increase/ Percent
(In thousands, except percentages) July 31, 2021 July 31,2020 (Decrease) Change  
Compensation and benefits $  22,375 $  23,177 $  (802)  (3.5)%
Consulting and outside services   6,716   5,620   1,096   19.5 %
Facilities and utilities   2,131   1,604   527   32.9 %
Franchise, sales, and property tax   610   587   23   3.9 %
Insurance   1,927   618   1,309   211.8 %
Other   531   409   122   29.8 %

Total G&A expenses $  34,290 $  32,015 $  2,275   7.1 %

The increase in compensation and benefits for the three months ended July 31, 2021, compared to the same period in 2020, was primarily a result of
including Global Knowledge’s G&A expenses incurred in the period of June 12, 2021 to July 31, 2021 in the Non-GAAP combined periods of
three months ended July 31, 2021. Also contributing to the increases in compensation and benefits expenses was the stock-based compensation related to
the stock options and restricted stock units granted to key executive employees in June 2021. Those increases were partially offset by one-time retention
bonuses paid to key employees in connection with Skillsoft’s Chapter 11 filing and recapitalization efforts during the three and six months ended July 31,
2020. The increases in consulting and outside services expenses for the three and six months ended July 31, 2021, compared to the same periods in 2020,
were primarily due to increased audit and tax services, and business process improvement projects related consulting services. The increases in insurance
expenses for the three and six months ended July 31, 2021, compared to the same periods in 2020, were due to the excess Directors and Officers insurance
policies purchased in association with the business combination completed in June 2021.

Amortization of intangible assets

Intangible assets arising from business combinations are developed technology, customer-related intangibles, trade names and other identifiable intangible
assets with finite lives. These intangible assets are amortized over the estimated useful lives of such assets. We also capitalize certain internal use software
development costs related to our SaaS platform incurred during the application development stage. The internal use software is amortized on a straight-line
basis over its estimated useful life.

The increases in amortization of intangible assets for the three and six months ended July 31, 2021, compared to the same periods 2020, was primarily due
to the intangible assets that arose from the business combinations completed in June 2021.
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Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets

During the Predecessor period for the three months ended April 30, 2020, the emergence of COVID-19 as a global pandemic had an adverse impact on our
business. While the online learnings tools we offer have many advantages over traditional in person learning in the current environment, some of our
customers have sought to temporarily reduce spending, resulting in reductions in contract sizes and in some cases cancellations when such contracts have
come up for renewal. In addition, identifying and pursing opportunities for new customers became much more challenging in this environment. As a result
of the expected impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, management decreased its estimates of future cash flows. In addition to the uncertainty introduced by
the COVID-19 pandemic, our over-leveraged capital structure continued to create headwinds. In April 2020, we received temporary forbearance from our
lenders due to a default on amounts owed under the Senior Credit Facility as a long-term consensual solution was being negotiated with lenders. The
uncertainty around our capital structure and future ownership continued to hurt our business, as new and existing customers displayed apprehension about
the ultimate resolution of our capital structure and its impact on operations, causing delays and sometimes losses in business. The uncertainty surrounding
our capital structure combined with the potential impact that the COVID-19 pandemic would have on our company and the global economy, resulted in a
significant decline in the fair value of our reporting units during the predecessor period ended August 27, 2020.

As part of our evaluation of impairment indicators based on the circumstances described above as of April 30, 2020, we determined the SumTotal long-
lived asset group failed the undiscounted cash flow recoverability test. Accordingly, we estimated the fair value of our individual long-lived assets to
determine if any impairment charges were present. Our estimation of the fair value of definite lived intangible assets included the use of discounted cash
flow analyses which reflected estimates of future revenue, customer attrition rates, royalty rates, cash flows, and discount rates. Based on these analyses, we
concluded the fair values of certain SumTotal intangible assets were lower than their current carrying values and, accordingly, impairment charges of $62.3
million were recognized for the Predecessor period from February 1, 2020 to July 31, 2020.

In light of the circumstances above, we also concluded that a triggering event had occurred with respect to the Company’s indefinite-lived Skillsoft trade
name as of April 30, 2020. Accordingly, we estimated the fair value of the Skillsoft trade name using a discounted cash flow (“DCF”) analysis which
reflected estimates of future revenue, royalty rates, cash flows, and discount rates. Based on this analysis, we concluded the carrying value of the Skillsoft
trade name exceeded its fair value, resulting in an impairment charge of $92.2 million for the Predecessor period from February 1, 2020 to July 31, 2020.

In accordance with ASC 350, for goodwill we determined triggering events had occurred and performed an impairment test as of April 30, 2020 that
compared the estimated fair value of each reporting unit to their respective carrying values. We considered the results of a DCF analysis, which were also
materially corroborated by an EBITDA multiple approach. The results of the impairment tests performed indicated that the carrying values of the Skillsoft
and SumTotal reporting units exceeded their estimated fair values determined by the Company. Based on the results of the goodwill impairment testing
procedures, the Company recorded a $107.9 million goodwill impairment for the Skillsoft reporting unit and a $70.0 million goodwill impairment for the
SumTotal reporting unit.

In total, as described in detail above, we recorded $332.4 million of impairment charges for the six months ended July 31, 2020, consisting of (i) $62.3
million of impairments of SumTotal definite-lived intangible assets, (ii) an $92.2 million impairment of the Skillsoft trade name, (iii) a $107.9 million
goodwill impairment for the Skillsoft reporting unit and (iv) a $70.0 million goodwill impairment for the SumTotal reporting unit.

Recapitalization and transaction-related costs

Recapitalization and transaction-related costs consist of professional fees for legal, investment banking and other advisor costs incurred in connection with
our recapitalization efforts, including the evaluation of strategic alternatives, preparation for the Chapter 11 filing and subsequent emergence in
August 2020, and activities related to the business combination completed in June 2021.

Restructuring

In January 2021, we committed to a restructuring plan that encompassed a series of measures intended to improve our operating efficiency, competitiveness
and business profitability. These included workforce reductions mainly within our SumTotal business, and consolidation of facilities as we are adopting
new work arrangements for certain locations. During the three and six months ended
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July 31, 2021, we recorded restructuring recoveries of $0.9 million and $0.4 million, respectively, as a result of severance cost estimate changes.

In connection with our strategic initiatives implemented during 2020, we approved and initiated plans to reduce our cost structure and better align operating
expenses with existing economic conditions and our operating model. During the three and six months ended July 31, 2020, we recorded restructuring
charges of $0.7 million and $1.1 million, respectively, for employee severance cost adjustments and lease termination related fees.

Interest and other expense

Interest and other expense, net, consists of gain and loss on derivative instruments, interest income, interest expense, and other expense and income.

    Non-GAAP                      
Combined Predecessor (PL)  

Three Months Three Months Dollar  
Ended Ended Increase/ Percent

(In thousands, except percentages) July 31, 2021 July 31,2020 (Decrease) Change  
Other income, net $  (738) $  898 $  (1,636)  (182.2)%
Interest income   66   65   1   1.5 %
Interest expense, net   (15,227)   (61,076)   45,849   (75.1)%

Interest and other expense, net $  (15,899) $  (60,113) $  44,214   (73.6)%

    Non-GAAP                      
Combined Predecessor (PL)  
Six Months Six Months Dollar  

Ended Ended Increase/ Percent
(In thousands, except percentages) July 31, 2021 July 31,2020 (Decrease) Change  
Other (expense) income, net $  (1,190) $  1,819 $  (3,009)  (165.4)%
Interest income   76   84   (8)  (9.5)%
Interest expense, net   (26,676)   (167,054)   140,378   (84.0)%

Interest and other expense, net $  (27,790) $  (165,151) $  137,361   (83.2)%

The changes in net other (expense) income for the three and six months ended July 31, 2021, and 2020 were primarily due to the foreign exchange gains
and losses (specifically, resulting from foreign currency denominated transactions and the revaluation of foreign currency denominated assets and
liabilities) during the three and six months ended July 31, 2021, and 2020. The decrease in interest expense for the three and six months ended July 31,
2021, compared to the same periods in 2020, were the result of our reorganization through voluntarily filed “pre-packaged” Chapter 11 cases completed in
August 2020, which resulted in substantially less outstanding debt.

Benefit from income taxes

    Non-GAAP                      
Combined Predecessor  

Three Months Three Months Dollar  
Ended Ended Increase/ Percent

(In thousands, except percentages) July 31, 2021 July 31,2020 (Decrease) Change  
Benefit from income taxes $  (7,123) $  (909) $  (6,214)  683.6 %
Effective income tax rate   12.6 %   1.3 %       
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    Non-GAAP                     
Combined Predecessor
Six Months Six Months Dollar

Ended Ended Increase/ Percent
(In thousands, except percentages) July 31, 2021 July 31,2020 (Decrease) Change
Benefit from income taxes $  (9,212) $  (9,800) $  588   (6.0)
Effective income tax rate   9.6 %   1.9 %       

The decrease in Benefit from income taxes for the three months ended July 31, 2021, compared to the same period in 2020, was primarily due to changes in
the valuation allowance on our deferred tax assets and the impact of foreign rate differential in the three months ended July 31, 2021, as well as the impact
of non-deductible expenses and the impairment of intangible assets in the three months ended July 31, 2020.

The effective income tax rate for the three months ended July 31, 2021, differs from the United States federal statutory rate of 21.0% due primarily to the
impact of foreign earnings in lower tax jurisdictions and an increase in the valuation allowance on the Company’s deferred tax assets.

The effective income tax rate for the three months ended July 31, 2020, differed from the Ireland statutory rate of 12.5% due primarily to the impairment of
non-deductible goodwill and an increase in our valuation allowance on our deferred tax assets in Ireland and the United States.

The decrease in Benefit from income taxes for the six months ended July 31, 2021, compared to the same period in 2020, was primarily due to increases in
the valuation allowance on our deferred tax assets and the impact of foreign rate differential in the six months ended July 31, 2021, as well as the impact of
the impairment of intangible assets in the six months ended July 31, 2020.

The effective income tax rate for the six months ended July 31, 2021, differs from the United States federal statutory rate of 21.0% due primarily to the
impact of foreign earnings in lower tax jurisdictions and an increase in the valuation allowance on the Company’s deferred tax assets.

The effective income tax rate for the three months ended July 31, 2020, differed from the Ireland statutory rate of 12.5% due primarily to the impairment of
non-deductible goodwill and an increase in our valuation allowance on our deferred tax assets in Ireland and the United States.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Liquidity and Sources of Cash
As of July 31, 2021, we had $90.7 million of cash and cash equivalents on hand. We have funded operations primarily through the use of cash collected
from our customers and the proceeds received from the Term Loan Facility (described below), supplemented from time to time with borrowings under our
accounts receivable facility. Our cash requirements vary depending on factors such as the growth of the business, changes in working capital and capital
expenditures. We expect to operate the business and execute our strategic initiatives principally with funds generated from operations and supplemented
from borrowings up to a maximum of $75.0 million under our accounts receivable facility. We anticipate that we will have sufficient internal and external
sources of liquidity to fund operations and anticipated working capital and other expected cash needs for at least the next 12 months as well as for the
foreseeable future with capital sources currently available.

Term Loan
On July 16, 2021, Skillsoft Finance II, Inc. (“Skillsoft Finance II”), a subsidiary of Skillsoft Corp., entered into that certain Credit Agreement (the “Credit
Agreement”), by and among Skillsoft Finance II, as borrower, Skillsoft Finance I, Inc., as holdings (“Holdings”), the lenders party thereto and Citibank,
N.A., as administrative agent and collateral agent, pursuant to which the lenders provided a $480 million term loan facility (the “Term Loan Facility”) to
Skillsoft Finance II, the proceeds of which, together with cash on hand, were used to refinance the Senior Secured First Out Term Loan  and Senior Secured
Second Out Term Loans incurred by certain subsidiaries of Skillsoft Finance II. The Term Loan Facility is scheduled to mature on July 16, 2028 (the
“Maturity Date”).
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The Term Loan Facility is guaranteed by Holdings and certain material subsidiaries of Skillsoft Finance II (collectively, the “Loan Parties”). All obligations
under the Credit Agreement, and the guarantees of those obligations, are secured by substantially all of the material assets of the Loan Parties.

Amounts outstanding under the Term Loan Facility bear interest, at the option of Skillsoft Finance II, at a rate equal to (a) LIBOR (subject to a floor of
0.75%) plus 4.75% for Eurocurrency Loans or (b) the highest of (i) the Federal Funds Effective Rate plus ½ of 1%, (ii) the “prime rate” quoted by the
Administrative Agent, (iii) LIBOR plus 1.00% and (iv) 1.75%, plus 3.75%.

Skillsoft Finance II is required to repay the Term Loan Facility in quarterly installments in the amount of 1% per annum, payable on the last business day of
each fiscal quarter. The entire remaining outstanding balance of the Term Loan Facility is payable on the Maturity Date. Voluntary prepayment is permitted
under the Term Loan Facility subject to a premium of 2% for any prepayments prior to the 12 month anniversary of the Term Loan Facility.

Loan Parties are subject to various affirmative and negative covenants and reporting obligations under the Credit Facility. These include, among others,
limitations on indebtedness, liens, sale and leaseback transactions, investments, fundamental changes, assets sales, restricted payments, affiliate
transactions, and restricted debt payments. Events of default under the Term Loan Facility include non-payment of amounts due to the lenders, violation of
covenants, materially incorrect representations, defaults under other material indebtedness, judgments and specified insolvency-related events, certain
ERISA events, and invalidity of loan or collateral documents, subject to, in certain instances, specified thresholds, cure periods and exceptions.

Accounts Receivable Facility
We also have access to up to $75.0 million of borrowings under our accounts receivables facility, where borrowing can be made against eligible accounts
receivable, with advance rates between 50.0% and 85.0%. Borrowings under the facility bear interest at 3.00% per annum plus the greater of (i) the prime
rate or (ii) the sum of 0.5% per annum plus the federal funds rate. The maturity date of the accounts receivable facility is the earlier of (i) December 2024 or
(ii) 90 days prior to the maturity of any corporate debt. The accounts receivable facility requires a minimum outstanding balance of $10 million at all times.
Based on seasonality of billings and the characteristics of accounts receivable, some of which are not eligible for advances, we are not always able to access
the full $75 million of capacity.

Cash Flows

The following table summarizes our cash flows for the period presented:

    Non-GAAP     
Combined Predecessor
Six Months Six Months

Ended Ended
(In thousands) July 31, 2021 July 31,2020
Net cash provided by operating activities $  34,549 $  11,573
Net cash used in investing activities   (565,554)   (6,386)
Net cash provided by financing activities   394,013   59,800
Effect of foreign currency exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents   (47)   (2,264)
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents $  (137,039) $  62,723

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

The improvement in cash provided by operating activities for the six months ended July 31, 2021 compared to the corresponding period in the prior year was
the result of lower recapitalization and transaction related costs, which decreased from $32.0 million for the six months ended July 31, 2020 to $15.8
million in the current period. The $32.0 million of costs in the prior year was attributable to our preparation for a voluntary prepackaged Chapter 11 filing
whereas the $15.8 million related to the acquisitions completed in June 2021. Cash flow provided by operating activities was also impacted by our change
in capital structure, with only $0.4 million of interest being paid for the six months ended July 31, 2020 due to a forbearance agreement with our prior
lenders while we paid approximately $21.5 million of interest for the six months ended July 31, 2021 under the  exit credit facility.
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Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Cash flows from investing activities  include cash paid of $386.0 million related to the acquisition of Skillsoft, $156.9 million related to the acquisition of
Global Knowledge, and $18.6 million related to the acquisition of Pluma. See Note 3 “Business Combinations” of our Notes to Condensed Consolidated
Financial Statements  for more details. Our purchases of property and equipment largely consist of computer hardware and software, as well as capitalized
software development costs, to support content and software development activities.

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Cash flows from financing activities consist of borrowings and repayments under our Predecessor and Successor debt facilities and our accounts receivable
facility. We received $530 million of proceeds from PIPE equity investment and used most of the proceeds for the acquisition of Skillsoft on June 11, 2021.

Contractual and Commercial Obligations

The scheduled maturities of our debt and future minimum rental commitments under non-cancelable lease agreements as of July 31, 2021 were as set forth
in the table below.

Payments due by Fiscal Year
(In thousands) Total 2022(1) 2022-2024 2024-2026 Thereafter
Term Loan Facility     $  480,000     $  1,200     $  9,600     $  9,600     $  459,600
Operating leases  29,018  5,033  13,240  4,590   6,155
Finance lease  905  905  —  —  —
Total $  509,923 $  7,138 $  22,840 $  14,190 $  465,755

(1) Excluding payments made during the six months ended July 31, 2021.

From time to time, we are a party to or may be threatened with litigation in the ordinary course of our business. We regularly analyze then current
information, including, as applicable, our defense and insurance coverage and, as necessary, provide accruals for probable and estimable liabilities for the
eventual disposition of these matters. We are presently not a party to any material legal proceedings.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
Our unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements and the related notes have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”). The preparation of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements requires us to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities as of the date of
the consolidated financial statements, and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses during the reporting period. We regularly
reevaluate our estimates and judgments, including those related to the following: business combinations, revenue recognition, impairment of goodwill and
intangible assets, stock-based compensation, accounting for warrants, income tax assets and liabilities; and restructuring charges and accruals. We base our
estimates and judgments on historical experience and various other factors we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form
the basis for judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities and the amounts of revenues and expenses that are not readily apparent from other
sources. To the extent that there are material differences between these estimates and actual results, our future financial statement presentation, financial
condition, results of operations could be impacted.

We believe the following critical accounting policies, which have been updated to reflect changes that occurred during the period ended July 31, 2021, in
addition to those described in “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” set forth in our annual audited
financial statements included in our Current Report on Form 8-K/A filed on June 17, 2021, most significantly affect the portrayal of our financial condition
and involve our most difficult and subjective estimates and judgments.

Stock-based Compensation
We recognize compensation expense for stock options and time-based restricted stock units granted to employees on a straight-line basis over the service
period that awards are expected to vest, based on the estimated fair value of the awards on the date of the grant. For restricted-stock units that have market
conditions, we recognize compensation expense using an accelerated attribution method. We
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recognize forfeitures as they occur. We estimate the fair value of options utilizing the Black-Scholes model, which is dependent on several subjective
variables, such as the expected option term and expected volatility over the expected option term. We determine the expected term using the simplified
method. The simplified method sets the term to the average of the time to vesting and the contractual life of the options. Since we do not have a trading
history of our common stock, the expected volatility is estimated by considering (i) the average historical stock volatilities of a peer group of public
companies within our industry over a period equivalent to the expected term of the stock option grants and (ii) the implied volatility of warrants to purchase
our common stock that are actively traded in public markets. The fair value of restricted stock units that vest based on market conditions are estimated using
the Monte Carlo valuation method. These fair value estimates of stock related awards and assumptions inherent therein are estimates and, as a result, may
not be reflective of future results or amounts ultimately realized by recipients of the grants.

Derivative Instruments
We account for debt and equity issuances as either equity-classified or liability-classified instruments based on an assessment of the instruments specific
terms and applicable authoritative guidance in Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 480,
Distinguishing Liabilities from Equity (“ASC 480”) and ASC 815, Derivatives and Hedging (“ASC 815”). The assessment considers whether the
instruments are freestanding financial instruments pursuant to ASC 480, meet the definition of a liability pursuant to ASC 480, and whether the instruments
meet all of the requirements for equity classification under ASC 815, including whether the instruments are indexed to our own common stock and whether
the holders could potentially require “net cash settlement” in a circumstance outside of our control, among other conditions for equity classification. This
assessment, which requires the use of professional judgment, is conducted at the time of issuance of the instruments and as of each subsequent quarterly
period end date while the instruments are outstanding.

For issued or modified instruments that meet all of the criteria for equity classification, the instruments are required to be recorded as a component of
additional paid-in capital at the time of issuance. For issued or modified instruments that do not meet all the criteria for equity classification, the
instruments are required to be recorded at their initial fair value on the date of issuance, and each balance sheet date thereafter. Changes in the estimated
fair value of the instruments are recognized as a non-cash gain or loss on the statements of operations.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Our recently adopted and to be adopted accounting pronouncements are set forth in Note 2 of Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements for the
quarterly period ended July 31, 2021.

ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK 

Not applicable as a smaller reporting company.

ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES 

Controls and Procedures
Disclosure controls and procedures are controls and other procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in our reports
filed or submitted under the Exchange Act, is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms.
Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in our
reports filed or submitted under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
As of the end of the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, we conducted an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of
our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-
15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act). Based on the evaluation of these disclosure controls and procedures, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer concluded that, as of July 31, 2021, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective to ensure that the information required to be
disclosed by us in reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified
in the SEC’s rules and forms.
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Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
Other than the implementation of certain changes commensurate with the scale of our operations subsequent to the completion of the Skillsoft Merger and
the Global Knowledge Merger, there were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q that
has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II – OTHER INFORMATION 

ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS. 

Incorporated by reference herein is information regarding certain legal proceedings in which we are involved as set forth under “Litigation” contained in
Note 10 – “Leases, Commitments and Contingencies” in the notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 1 of Part I of this Form 10-Q.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS. 

As a result of the closing of the Skillsoft Merger and the Global Knowledge Merger on July 11, 2021, certain of the risk factors previously disclosed in
Part I, Item 1A of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020, may no longer apply. For risk factors relating to our
business following the Skillsoft Merger and the Global Knowledge Merger, please refer to the section entitled “Risk Factors” in the Registration Statement
on Form S-4 (File No. 333-252365), which was declared effective by the SEC on May 27, 2021, including the risk factors incorporated by reference
therein.

ITEM 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS. 

Information required by this Item 2 is contained in Item 3.02 of our Current Report on Form 8-K, as originally filed with the SEC on June 17, 2021.

ITEM 3. DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES. 

None.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES. 

Not applicable.

ITEM 5. OTHER INFORMATION. 

None.

https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1774675/000110465921073111/tm2037023-19_s4a.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1774675/000110465921082707/tm2119761d2_8k.htm
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 ITEM 6. EXHIBITS.

Exhibit Number     Description
2.1 Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of October 12, 2020, by and between Churchill Capital Corp II and Software Luxembourg

Holding S.A. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to Churchill’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 16,
2020).

2.2 Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of October 12, 2020, by and between Churchill Capital Corp II, Magnet Merger Sub, Inc.,
and Albert DE Holdings Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.2 to Churchill’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC
on October 16, 2020).

2.3 Merger Agreement Amendment, dated as of January 22, 2021, by and between Churchill and Software Luxembourg Holding S.A.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to Churchill’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on January 28, 2021).

4.1 Specimen Class A common stock Certificate (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to Amendment No. 2 to Churchill’s
Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on June 26, 2019).

4.2 Specimen Warrant Certificate (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the
SEC on June 17, 2021).

4.3 Warrant Agreement, dated June 11, 2021, between Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company and Churchill Capital Corp II
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June 17, 2021).

10.1 Subscription Agreement, dated as of October 12, 2020, by and among Churchill Capital Corp II, Churchill Sponsor II LLC and MIH
Ventures B.V. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on
June 17, 2021).

10.2 Subscription Agreement, dated as of October 13, 2020, by and between Lodbrok Capital LLP and Churchill Capital Corp II
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June 17, 2021).

10.3 Subscription Agreement, dated as of October 14, 2020, by and between SuRo Capital Corp. and Churchill Capital Corp II
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June 17, 2021).

10.4 Sponsor Support Agreement, dated as of October 12, 2020, by and among Churchill Capital Corp II, Churchill Sponsor II LLC,
Software Luxembourg Holding S.A. and the Insiders (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to the Registrant’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June 17, 2021).

10.5 Sponsor Agreement Amendment, dated as of January 22, 2021, by and among Churchill, Software Luxembourg Holding S.A.,
Sponsor and Churchill’s directors and officers (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to the Registrant’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June 17, 2021).

10.6 Stockholders Agreement, dated as of October 12, 2020, by and among Churchill Capital Corp II, Churchill Sponsor II LLC and the
Founder Holder (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on
June 17, 2021).

10.7 Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of October 12, 2020, by and among Churchill Capital Corp II,
Churchill Sponsor II LLC, Software Luxembourg Holding S.A. and the Holders (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the
Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June 17, 2021).

10.8 Senior Secured Term Loan Credit Agreement, dated as of August 27, 2020, by and among Software Luxembourg Intermediate S.à r.l.,
as holdings, Software Luxembourg Acquisition S.à r.l., as the parent borrower, the other borrower party thereto, the lenders from time
to time party thereto and Wilmington Savings Fund Society, FSB, as the administrative agent and collateral agent (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June 17, 2021).

https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1774675/000110465920115691/tm2033240d1_ex2-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1774675/000110465920115691/tm2033240d1_ex2-2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1774675/000110465921008874/tm214479d1_ex2-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1774675/000114420419030479/tv520678_ex4-2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1774675/000110465921082707/tm2119761d2_ex4-3.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1774675/000110465921082707/tm2119761d2_ex4-3.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1774675/000110465920115691/tm2033240d1_ex10-4.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1774675/000110465920115691/tm2033240d1_ex10-7.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1774675/000110465920115691/tm2033240d1_ex10-8.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1774675/000110465920115691/tm2033240d1_ex10-3.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1774675/000110465921008874/tm214479d1_ex10-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1774675/000110465920115691/tm2033240d1_ex10-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1774675/000110465920115691/tm2033240d1_ex10-2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1774675/000110465921082707/tm2119761d2_ex10-1.htm
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Exhibit Number     Description
10.9 Senior Secured Second Out Term Loan Credit Agreement, dated as of August 27, 2020, by and among Software Luxembourg

Intermediate S.à r.l., as holdings, Software Luxembourg Acquisition S.à r.l., as the parent borrower, the other borrower party thereto,
the lenders from time to time party thereto and Wilmington Savings Fund Society, FSB, as the administrative agent and collateral
agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June 17, 2021).

10.10 Amendment No. 1 to Senior Secured Term Loan Credit Agreement, dated as of October 12, 2020, by and among Software
Luxembourg Intermediate S.à r.l., as holding, Software Luxembourg Intermediate S.à r.l., as the parent borrower, the other borrower
party thereto, and the lenders from time to time party thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.21 to the Registrant’s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June 17, 2021).

10.11 Amendment No. 1 to Senior Secured Second Out Term Loan Credit Agreement, dated as of October 12, 2020, by and among
Software Luxembourg Intermediate S.à r.l., as the parent borrower, the other borrower party thereto, and the lenders from time to time
party thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.22 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on
June 17, 2021).

10.12 Executive Employment Agreement, dated as of October 13, 2020, by and between Jeffrey R. Tarr and Churchill Capital Corp II
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June 17, 2021).

10.13 Skillsoft Corp. 2020 Omnibus Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1
(File No. 333-257718) filed by the Registrant on July 6, 2021).

10.14* Form of Indemnity Agreement for Directors and Officers.

10.15 Indemnity Agreement, dated as of June 11, 2021 and effective as of June 11, 2021, by and between Skillsoft Corp. and Helena B.
Foulkes (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June 17,
2021).

10.16 Indemnity Agreement, dated as of June 11, 2021 and effective as of June 11, 2021, by and between Skillsoft Corp. and Ronald W.
Hovsepian (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June 17,
2021).

10.17 Indemnity Agreement, dated as of June 11, 2021 and effective as of June 11, 2021, by and between Skillsoft Corp. and Lawrence C.
Illg (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June 17, 2021).

10.18 Indemnity Agreement, dated as of June 11, 2021 and effective as of June 11, 2021, by and between Skillsoft Corp. and Michael Klein
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June 17, 2021).

10.19 Indemnity Agreement, dated as of June 11, 2021 and effective as of June 11, 2021, by and between Skillsoft Corp. and Patrick Kolek
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June 17, 2021).

10.20 Indemnity Agreement, dated as of June 11, 2021 and effective as of June 11, 2021, by and between Skillsoft Corp. and Karen G. Mills
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June 17, 2021).

10.21 Indemnity Agreement, dated as of June 11, 2021 and effective as of June 11, 2021, by and between Skillsoft Corp. and Peter Schmitt
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June 17, 2021).

10.22 Indemnity Agreement, dated as of June 11, 2021 and effective as of June 11, 2021, by and between Skillsoft Corp. and Lawrence H.
Summers (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June 17,
2021).

https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1774675/000110465921082707/tm2119761d2_ex10-2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1774675/000110465921082707/tm2119761d2_ex10-21.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1774675/000110465921082707/tm2119761d2_ex10-22.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1774675/000110465920115691/tm2033240d1_ex10-9.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1774675/000110465921089473/tm2121138d3_10-12.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1774675/000110465921082707/tm2119761d2_ex10-12.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1774675/000110465921082707/tm2119761d2_ex10-13.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1774675/000110465921082707/tm2119761d2_ex10-14.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1774675/000110465921082707/tm2119761d2_ex10-15.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1774675/000110465921082707/tm2119761d2_ex10-16.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1774675/000110465921082707/tm2119761d2_ex10-17.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1774675/000110465921082707/tm2119761d2_ex10-18.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1774675/000110465921082707/tm2119761d2_ex10-19.htm
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Exhibit Number     Description
10.23 Indemnity Agreement, dated as of June 11, 2021 and effective as of June 11, 2021, by and between Skillsoft Corp. and Jeffrey R. Tarr

(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.20 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June 17, 2021).
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SIGNATURES 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

SKILLSOFT CORP.

Dated:  September 14. 2021 By: /s/ Jeffrey R. Tarr
Jeffrey R. Tarr
Chief Executive Officer

Dated: September 14, 2021 By: /s/ Ryan H.Murray
Ryan H. Murray
Interim Chief Financial Officer and
Chief Accounting Officer
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Exhibit 10.14

Weil Draft: 06/28/2021
Privileged & Confidential

INDEMNITY AGREEMENT

THIS INDEMNITY AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is entered into and effective as of [•], 2021, by and
between Skillsoft Corp., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), and [_] (“Indemnitee”).

RECITALS

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of the Company (the “Board”) has determined that it is reasonable,
prudent and necessary for the Company contractually to obligate itself to indemnify, hold harmless, exonerate and to advance
expenses on behalf of, persons who serve the Company and its direct and indirect subsidiaries (collectively, the “Company
Group”) to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law (whether partial or complete);

WHEREAS, this Agreement is a supplement to and in furtherance of the Second Amended and Restated
Certificate of Incorporation (the “Charter”) and the Amended and Restated Bylaws (the “Bylaws”) of the Company and any
resolutions adopted pursuant thereto, as well as any rights of Indemnitees under any directors’ and officers’ policies of liability
insurance, and shall not be deemed a substitute therefor, nor to diminish or abrogate any rights of Indemnitee thereunder;

WHEREAS, Indemnitee may not be willing to serve as an officer or director, advisor or in another capacity 
without adequate protection, and the Company desires Indemnitee to serve in such capacity.  Indemnitee is willing to serve, 
continue to serve and to take on additional service for or on behalf of the Company on the condition that Indemnitee be so 
indemnified; and

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the covenants contained herein, the Company and
Indemnitee do hereby covenant and agree as follows:

TERMS AND CONDITIONS

1. SERVICES TO THE COMPANY.  In consideration of the Company’s covenants and obligations hereunder, 
Indemnitee agrees to serve or continue to serve as an officer, director, advisor, key employee or any other capacity of any 
member of the Company Group, as applicable, for so long as Indemnitee is duly elected or appointed or retained or until 
Indemnitee tenders Indemnitee’s resignation or until Indemnitee is removed.  The foregoing notwithstanding, this Agreement 
shall continue in full force and effect after Indemnitee has ceased to serve as a director, officer, advisor, key employee or in 
any other capacity of any member of the Company Group, as provided in Section 18.  This Agreement, however, shall not 
impose any obligation on Indemnitee or the Company to continue Indemnitee’s service to the Company Group beyond any 
period otherwise required by law or by other agreements or commitments of the parties, if any.

2. DEFINITIONS.  As used in this Agreement:
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(a) References to “agent” shall mean any person who is or was a director, officer or employee of the Company or a
subsidiary of the Company or other person authorized by the Company to act for the Company, to include such person serving
in such capacity as a director, officer, employee, fiduciary or other official of another corporation, partnership, limited liability
company, joint venture, trust or other enterprise at the request of, for the convenience of, or to represent the interests of the
Company or a subsidiary of the Company.

(b) The terms “Beneficial Owner” and “Beneficial Ownership” shall have the meanings set forth in Rule 13d-3
promulgated under the Exchange Act (as defined below) as in effect on the date hereof.

(c) A "Change in Control" shall be deemed to occur upon the earliest to occur after the date of this Agreement of
any of the following events:

(i) Acquisition of Stock by Third Party.  Any Person (as defined below) (who is not such on or prior to the 
date of this Agreement) becomes the Beneficial Owner, directly or indirectly, of securities of the Company representing thirty-
five percent (35%) or more of the combined voting power of the Company's then outstanding securities unless the change in 
relative Beneficial Ownership of the Company's securities by any Person results solely from a reduction in the aggregate 
number of outstanding shares of securities entitled to vote generally in the election of directors;

(ii) Change in Board of Directors.  During any period of two (2) consecutive years (not including any period 
prior to the execution of this Agreement) individuals who, as at the beginning of such period, constitute the Board, and any 
new director whose appointment by the Board or nomination for election by the Company’s stockholders was approved by a 
vote of at least two-thirds of the directors then still in office who were directors on the date hereof or whose appointment or 
nomination for election was previously so approved, cease for any reason to constitute a majority of the members of the 
Board;

(iii) Corporate Transactions.  The effective date of a merger or consolidation of the Company with any other 
entity, other than a merger or consolidation which would result in the voting securities of the Company outstanding 
immediately prior to such merger or consolidation continuing to represent (either by remaining outstanding or by being 
converted into voting securities of the Surviving Entity (as defined below)) more than 50% of the combined voting power of 
the voting securities of the Surviving Entity outstanding immediately after such merger or consolidation and with the power to 
elect at least a majority of the board of directors or other governing body of such Surviving Entity;

(iv) Liquidation or Sale.  (i) The approval by the stockholders of the Company of a complete liquidation of 
the Company or (ii) the consummation of the sale or disposition by the Company of (in one transaction or a series of 
transactions) all or substantially all of the Company's assets; and
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(v) Other Events.  There occurs any other event of a nature that would be required to be reported in 
response to Item 6(e) of Schedule 14A of Regulation 14A (or a response to any similar item on any similar schedule or form) 
promulgated under the Exchange Act (as defined below).

(d) “Corporate Status” describes the status of a person who is or was a director, officer, trustee, general partner,
manager, managing member, fiduciary, employee or agent of the Company or of any other Enterprise (as defined below)
which such person is or was serving at the request of the Company or such Enterprise.

(e) “Delaware Court” shall mean the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware.

(f) “Disinterested Director” shall mean a director of the Company who is not and was not a party to the Proceeding
(as defined below) in respect of which indemnification is sought by Indemnitee.

(g) “Enterprise” shall mean the Company and any other corporation, predecessor corporation or constituent
corporation (including any constituent of a constituent) absorbed in a consolidation or merger to which the Company (or any
of its wholly owned subsidiaries) is a party, limited liability company, partnership, joint venture, trust, employee benefit plan
or other enterprise of which Indemnitee is or was serving at the request of the Company as a director, officer, trustee, general
partner, managing member, fiduciary, employee or agent.

(h) “Exchange Act” shall mean the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

(i) “Expenses” shall include all direct and indirect costs, fees, losses and expenses of any type or nature 
whatsoever, including, without limitation, all reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs, retainers, court costs, transcript costs, fees 
of experts, witness fees, travel expenses, fees of private investigators and professional advisors, duplicating costs, printing and 
binding costs, telephone charges, postage, delivery service fees, any federal, state, local, or foreign taxes imposed on 
Indemnitee as a result of the actual or deemed receipt of any payments under this Agreement, excise taxes or penalties, fines, 
judgments (provided, however, that excise taxes or penalties, fines and judgments shall not be deemed Expenses in connection 
with any derivative action by the Company to procure a judgment in its favor), fax transmission charges, secretarial services 
and all other disbursements, obligations or expenses in connection with, or as a result of, prosecuting, defending, preparing to 
prosecute or defend, investigating, being or preparing to be a deponent or witness in, settlement or appeal of, or otherwise 
participating in, a Proceeding (as defined below), including reasonable compensation for time spent by Indemnitee for which 
he or she is not otherwise compensated by the Company or any third party.  Expenses also shall include (i) Expenses incurred 
in connection with any appeal resulting from any Proceeding (as defined below), including without limitation the principal, 
premium, security for, and other costs relating to any cost bond, supersedeas bond, or other appeal bond or its equivalent, (ii) 
Expenses
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incurred in connection with recovery under any directors’ and officers’ liability insurance policies maintained by the 
Company, regardless of whether Indemnitee is ultimately determined to be entitled to such indemnification, advancement or 
Expenses or insurance recovery, as the case may be, and (iii) for purposes of Section 15(e) only, Expenses incurred by 
Indemnitee in connection with the interpretation, enforcement or defense of Indemnitee's rights under this Agreement, the 
Charter, the Bylaws or under any directors’ and officers’ liability insurance policies maintained by the Company, by litigation 
or otherwise.  The parties agree that for the purposes of any advancement of Expenses for which Indemnitee has made written 
demand to the Company in accordance with this Agreement, all Expenses included in such demand that are certified by 
affidavit of Indemnitee's counsel as being reasonable in the good faith judgment of such counsel shall be presumed 
conclusively to be reasonable.  Expenses, however, shall not include amounts paid in settlement by Indemnitee or the amount 
of judgments or fines against Indemnitee incurred in any Proceeding by or in the right of the Company.

(j) References to “fines” shall include any excise tax assessed on Indemnitee with respect to any employee benefit
plan; references to “serving at the request of the Company” shall include any service as a director, officer, employee, agent or
fiduciary of the Company which imposes duties on, or involves services by, such director, officer, employee, agent or
fiduciary with respect to an employee benefit plan, its participants or beneficiaries; and if Indemnitee acted in good faith and in
a manner Indemnitee reasonably believed to be in the best interests of the participants and beneficiaries of an employee benefit
plan, Indemnitee shall be deemed to have acted in a manner “not opposed to the best interests of the Company” as referred to
in this Agreement.

(k) “Independent Counsel” shall mean a law firm or a member of a law firm with significant experience in matters 
of corporation law and that neither presently is, nor in the past five years has been, retained to represent: (i) the Company or 
Indemnitee in any matter material to either such party (other than with respect to matters concerning Indemnitee under this 
Agreement, or of other indemnitees under similar indemnification agreements); or (ii) any other party to the Proceeding (as 
defined below) giving rise to a claim for indemnification hereunder.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the term “Independent 
Counsel” shall not include any person who, under the applicable standards of professional conduct then prevailing, would 
have a conflict of interest in representing either the Company or Indemnitee in an action to determine Indemnitee’s rights 
under this Agreement.

(l) The term “Person” shall have the meaning as set forth in Sections 13(d) and 14(d) of the Exchange Act as in
effect on the date hereof; provided, however, that “Person” shall exclude: (i) the Company; (ii) any Subsidiaries (as defined
below) of the Company; (iii) any employment benefit plan of the Company or of a Subsidiary (as defined below) of the
Company or of any corporation owned, directly or indirectly, by the stockholders of the Company in substantially the same
proportions as their ownership of stock of the Company; and (iv) any trustee or other fiduciary holding securities under an
employee benefit plan of the Company or of a Subsidiary (as defined below) of the Company or of a corporation owned
directly or indirectly by the stockholders of the
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Company in substantially the same proportions as their ownership of stock of the Company.

(m) The term “Proceeding” shall include any threatened, pending or completed action, suit, claim, counterclaim, 
cross claim, arbitration, mediation, alternate dispute resolution mechanism, investigation, inquiry, administrative hearing or 
any other actual, threatened or completed proceeding, whether brought in the right of the Company or otherwise and whether 
of a civil (including intentional or unintentional tort claims), criminal, administrative, legislative, regulatory or investigative 
(formal or informal)  or related nature, including any appeal therefrom, in which Indemnitee was, is, will or might be involved 
as a party, potential party, non-party witness or otherwise by reason of the fact of Indemnitee’s Corporate Status, by reason of 
any action taken by Indemnitee (or failure to take action by Indemnitee) or of any action (or failure to act) on Indemnitee’s 
part while action pursuant to Indemnitee’s Corporate Status, in each case whether or not serving in such capacity (or any other 
capacity) at the time any liability or expense is incurred for which indemnification, reimbursement, or advancement of 
expenses can be provided under this Agreement but shall not include any Enforcement Proceeding pursuant to Section 15. If 
the Indemnitee believes in good faith that a given situation may lead to or culminate in the institution of a Proceeding, this 
shall be considered a Proceeding under this paragraph.

(n) The term “Subsidiary,” with respect to any Person, shall mean any corporation, limited liability company,
partnership, joint venture, trust or other entity of which a majority of the voting power of the voting equity securities or equity
interest is owned, directly or indirectly, by that Person.

(o) "Surviving Entity" shall mean the surviving entity in a merger or consolidation or any entity that controls,
directly or indirectly, such surviving entity.

3. INDEMNITY IN THIRD-PARTY PROCEEDINGS.  To the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, as the same 
exists or may hereafter be amended or interpreted, the Company shall indemnify, hold harmless and exonerate Indemnitee in 
accordance with the provisions of this Section 3 if Indemnitee was, is, or is threatened to be made, a party to or a participant 
(as a witness, deponent or otherwise) in any Proceeding, other than a Proceeding by or in the right of the Company to procure 
a judgment in its favor, by reason of Indemnitee’s Corporate Status.  Pursuant to this Section 3, Indemnitee shall be 
indemnified, held harmless and exonerated against all Expenses (including all interest, assessments and other charges paid or 
payable in connection with or in respect of such Expenses) actually and reasonably incurred by Indemnitee or on Indemnitee’s 
behalf in connection with such Proceeding or any claim, issue or matter therein, if Indemnitee acted in good faith and in a 
manner Indemnitee reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the Company and, in the case of a 
criminal Proceeding, had no reasonable cause to believe that Indemnitee’s conduct was unlawful.  The parties hereto intend 
that this Agreement shall provide to the fullest extent permitted by law for indemnification in excess of that expressly 
permitted by statute, including, without limitation, any indemnification provided by the Charter, the Bylaws, or vote of the 
Disinterested Directors.
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4. INDEMNITY IN PROCEEDINGS BY OR IN THE RIGHT OF THE COMPANY.  To the fullest extent permitted by 
applicable law, the Company shall indemnify, hold harmless and exonerate Indemnitee in accordance with the provisions of 
this Section 4 if Indemnitee was, is, or is threatened to be made, a party to or a participant (as a witness, deponent or 
otherwise) in any Proceeding by or in the right of the Company to procure a judgment in its favor by reason of Indemnitee’s 
Corporate Status.  Pursuant to this Section 4, Indemnitee shall be indemnified, held harmless and exonerated against all 
Expenses actually and reasonably incurred by Indemnitee or on Indemnitee’s behalf in connection with such Proceeding or any 
claim, issue or matter therein, if Indemnitee acted in good faith and in a manner Indemnitee reasonably believed to be in or not 
opposed to the best interests of the Company.  No indemnification, hold harmless or exoneration for Expenses shall be made 
under this Section 4 in respect of any claim, issue or matter as to which Indemnitee shall have been finally adjudged by a court 
of competent jurisdiction to be liable to the Company, unless and only to the extent that any court in which the Proceeding was 
brought or the Delaware Court shall determine upon application that, despite the adjudication of liability but in view of all the 
circumstances of the case, Indemnitee is fairly and reasonably entitled to indemnification, to be held harmless or to 
exoneration.

5. INDEMNIFICATION FOR EXPENSES OF A PARTY WHO IS WHOLLY OR PARTLY SUCCESSFUL.  
Notwithstanding any other provisions of this Agreement except for Section 28, to the extent that Indemnitee was or is, by 
reason of Indemnitee’s Corporate Status, a party to (or a participant in) and is successful, on the merits or otherwise, in 
defending any Proceeding or in defense of any claim, issue or matter therein, in whole or in part, the defending Company shall, 
to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, indemnify, hold harmless and exonerate Indemnitee against all Expenses 
actually and reasonably incurred by or on behalf of Indemnitee in connection therewith.  If Indemnitee is not wholly successful 
in defense of such Proceeding (or part thereof) but is successful, on the merits or otherwise, in defense of one or more but less 
than all claims, issues or matters in such Proceeding, the Company shall, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, 
indemnify, hold harmless and exonerate Indemnitee against all Expenses actually and reasonably incurred by Indemnitee or on 
Indemnitee’s behalf in connection with or related to each successfully resolved claim, issue or matter.  If Indemnitee is not 
wholly successful in defense of such Proceeding (or part thereof), the Company also shall, to the fullest extent permitted by 
applicable law, indemnify, hold harmless and exonerate Indemnitee against all Expenses reasonably incurred in connection 
with a claim, issue or matter related to any claim, issue, or matter on which Indemnitee was successful.  For purposes of this 
Section and without limitation, the termination of any claim, issue or matter in such a Proceeding by dismissal, with or without 
prejudice, shall be deemed to be a successful result as to the defense of such claim, issue or matter.

6. INDEMNIFICATION FOR EXPENSES OF A WITNESS.  Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement 
except for Section 28, to the extent that Indemnitee is, by reason of Indemnitee’s Corporate Status, a witness or deponent, or 
otherwise asked to participate, in any Proceeding to which Indemnitee was not or is not a party or threatened to be made a 
party, Indemnitee shall, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, be
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indemnified, held harmless and exonerated against all Expenses actually and reasonably incurred by Indemnitee or on
Indemnitee’s behalf in connection therewith.

7. PARTIAL INDEMNIFICATION.  If Indemnitee is entitled under any provision of this Agreement to indemnification 
by the Company for some or a portion of Expenses, but not, however, for the total amount thereof, the Company shall 
nevertheless indemnify Indemnitee for the portion thereof to which Indemnitee is entitled.

8. ADDITIONAL INDEMNIFICATION, HOLD HARMLESS AND EXONERATION RIGHTS.  Notwithstanding any 
limitation in Sections 3, 4, or 5, except for Section 28, the Company shall, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, 
indemnify, hold harmless and exonerate Indemnitee if Indemnitee is a party to or threatened to be made a party to any 
Proceeding against all Expenses and judgments, fines, penalties and amounts paid in settlement in any Proceeding by or in the 
right of the Company to procure a judgment in its favor (including all interest, assessments and other charges paid or payable 
in connection with or in respect of such Expenses, judgments, fines, penalties and amounts paid in settlement) actually and 
reasonably incurred by Indemnitee in connection with the Proceeding.

9. CONTRIBUTION IN THE EVENT OF JOINT LIABILITY.

(a) To the fullest extent permissible under applicable law, if the indemnification, hold harmless and/or exoneration
rights provided for in this Agreement are unavailable to Indemnitee in whole or in part for any reason whatsoever, the
Company, in lieu of indemnifying, holding harmless or exonerating Indemnitee, shall pay, in the first instance, the entire
amount incurred by Indemnitee, whether for judgments, liabilities, fines, penalties, amounts paid or to be paid in settlement
and/or for Expenses, in connection with any Proceeding without requiring Indemnitee to contribute to such payment, and the
Company hereby waives and relinquishes any right of contribution it may have at any time against Indemnitee.

(b) The Company shall not enter into any settlement of any Proceeding in which the Company is jointly liable with
Indemnitee (or would be if joined in such Proceeding) unless such settlement provides for a full and final release of all claims
asserted against Indemnitee.

(c) The Company hereby agrees to fully indemnify, hold harmless and exonerate Indemnitee from any claims for
contribution which may be brought by officers, directors or employees of the Company other than Indemnitee who may be
jointly liable with Indemnitee.

10. EXCLUSIONS.  Notwithstanding any provision in this Agreement, the Company shall not be obligated under this 
Agreement to make any indemnification, advance expenses, hold harmless or exoneration payment in connection with any 
claim made against Indemnitee:

(a) for which payment has actually been received by or on behalf of Indemnitee under any insurance policy or
other indemnity or advancement provision,
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except with respect to any excess beyond the amount actually received under any insurance policy, contract, agreement, other
indemnity or advancement provision or otherwise; or

(b) for an accounting of profits made from the purchase and sale (or sale and purchase) by Indemnitee of securities
of the Company within the meaning of Section 16(b) of the Exchange Act (or any successor rule) or similar provisions of state
statutory law or common law; provided that indemnification shall not be prohibited if Indemnitee ultimately establishes in any
Proceeding that no recovery of such profits from Indemnitee is permitted under Section 16(b) of the Exchange Act or similar
provisions of state statutory law or common law.

11. ADVANCES OF EXPENSES; DEFENSE OF CLAIM.

(a) Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the contrary, except for Section 28, and to the fullest 
extent not prohibited by applicable law, the Company shall pay the Expenses incurred by or on behalf of Indemnitee in 
connection with any Proceeding (or any part of any Proceeding) within ten (10) days after the receipt by the Company of a 
statement or statements requesting such advances from time to time, prior to the final disposition of any Proceeding.  Advances 
shall, to the fullest extent permitted by law, be unsecured and interest free.  Advances shall, to the fullest extent permitted by 
law, be made without regard to Indemnitee’s ability to repay the Expenses and without regard to Indemnitee’s ultimate 
entitlement to be indemnified, held harmless or exonerated under the other provisions of this Agreement.  Advances shall 
include any and all reasonable Expenses incurred pursuing an Enforcement Proceeding (assuming for this purpose all 
references to a “Proceeding” in the definition of Expenses were deemed related to an Enforcement Proceeding), including 
Expenses incurred preparing and forwarding statements to the Company to support the advances claimed.  This Agreement 
shall constitute Indemnitee’s undertaking to repay the advanced amounts to the extent that it is ultimately determined that 
Indemnitee is not entitled to be indemnified, held harmless or exonerated by the Company under the provisions of this 
Agreement, the Charter, the Bylaws of the Company, applicable law or otherwise, but only if such an undertaking is required 
by applicable law.  This Section 11(a) shall not apply to any Proceeding for which indemnity is not permitted under Section 10 
of this Agreement, but shall apply to any Proceeding referenced in Section 10(b) prior to a final determination that Indemnitee 
is liable therefor.

(b) The Company will be entitled to participate in the Proceeding at its own expense.

(c) The Company shall not settle any action, claim or Proceeding (in whole or in part) which would impose any
Expense, judgment, liability, fine, penalty or limitation on Indemnitee without Indemnitee’s prior written consent.

12. PROCEDURE FOR NOTIFICATION AND APPLICATION FOR INDEMNIFICATION.
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(a) Indemnitee agrees to notify promptly the Company in writing upon being served with any summons, citation, 
subpoena, complaint, indictment, information or other document relating to any Proceeding, claim, issue or matter therein 
which may be subject to indemnification, hold harmless or exoneration rights, or advancement of Expenses covered hereunder.  
The failure of Indemnitee to so notify the Company shall not relieve the Company of any obligation which it may have to 
Indemnitee under this Agreement, or otherwise.

(b) Indemnitee may deliver to the Company a written application to indemnify, hold harmless or exonerate 
Indemnitee in accordance with this Agreement.  Such application(s) may be delivered from time to time and at such time(s) as 
Indemnitee deems appropriate in his sole discretion.  Following such a written application for indemnification by Indemnitee, 
Indemnitee’s entitlement to indemnification shall be determined according to Section 13(a) of this Agreement.

13. PROCEDURE UPON APPLICATION FOR INDEMNIFICATION.

(a) A determination, if required by applicable law, with respect to Indemnitee’s entitlement to indemnification shall
be made in the specific case: (i) if a Change in Control shall have occurred, by Independent Counsel in a written opinion to the
Board, a copy of which shall be delivered to Indemnitee; or (ii) if a Change in Control shall not have occurred, (A) by a
majority vote of the Disinterested Directors, even though less than a quorum of the Board, (B) by a committee of Disinterested
Directors designated by a majority vote of the Disinterested Directors, even though less than a quorum of the Board, or (C) if
so requested by Indemnitee, by Independent Counsel in a written opinion to the Board, a copy of which shall be delivered to
Indemnitee. The Company promptly will advise Indemnitee in writing with respect to any determination that Indemnitee is or
is not entitled to indemnification, including a description of any reason or basis for which indemnification has been denied. If
it is so determined that Indemnitee is entitled to indemnification, payment to Indemnitee shall be made within ten (10) days
after such determination. Indemnitee shall reasonably cooperate with the person, persons or entity making such determination
with respect to Indemnitee’s entitlement to indemnification, including providing to such person, persons or entity upon
reasonable advance request any documentation or information which is not privileged or otherwise protected from disclosure
and which is reasonably available to Indemnitee and reasonably necessary to such determination. Any costs or Expenses
(including reasonable attorneys’ fees and disbursements) incurred by Indemnitee in so cooperating with the person, persons or
entity making such determination shall be borne by the Company (irrespective of the determination as to Indemnitee’s
entitlement to indemnification) and the Company hereby agrees to indemnify and to hold Indemnitee harmless therefrom.

(b) In the event the determination of entitlement to indemnification is to be made by Independent Counsel pursuant
to Section 13(a) hereof, the Independent Counsel shall be selected as provided in this Section 13(b). The Independent Counsel
shall be selected by Indemnitee (unless Indemnitee shall request that such selection be made by the Board), and Indemnitee
shall give written notice to the Company advising it of the identity of the Independent Counsel so selected and certifying that
the Independent
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Counsel so selected meets the requirements of “Independent Counsel” as defined in Section 2 of this Agreement.  If the 
Independent Counsel is selected by the Board, the Company shall give written notice to Indemnitee advising Indemnitee of the 
identity of the Independent Counsel so selected and certifying that the Independent Counsel so selected meets the requirements 
of “Independent Counsel” as defined in Section 2 of this Agreement.  In either event, Indemnitee or the Company, as the case 
may be, may, within ten (10) days after such written notice of selection shall have been received, deliver to the Company or to 
Indemnitee, as the case may be, a written objection to such selection; provided, however, that such objection may be asserted 
only on the ground that the Independent Counsel so selected does not meet the requirements of “Independent Counsel” as 
defined in Section 2 of this Agreement, and the objection shall set forth with particularity the factual basis of such assertion.  
Absent a proper and timely objection, the person so selected shall act as Independent Counsel.  If such written objection is so 
made and substantiated, the Independent Counsel so selected may not serve as Independent Counsel unless and until such 
objection is withdrawn or a court of competent jurisdiction has determined that such objection is without merit.  If, within 
twenty (20) days after submission by Indemnitee of a written request for indemnification pursuant to Section 12(b) hereof, no 
Independent Counsel shall have been selected and not objected to, either the Company or Indemnitee may petition the 
Delaware Court for resolution of any objection which shall have been made by the Company or Indemnitee to the other’s 
selection of Independent Counsel and/or for the appointment as Independent Counsel of a person selected by the Delaware 
Court, and the person with respect to whom all objections are so resolved or the person so appointed shall act as Independent 
Counsel under Section 13(a) hereof.  Upon the due commencement of any judicial proceeding or arbitration pursuant to 
Section 15(a) of this Agreement, Independent Counsel shall be discharged and relieved of any further responsibility in such 
capacity (subject to the applicable standards of professional conduct then prevailing).

(c) The Company agrees to pay the reasonable fees and expenses of Independent Counsel and to fully indemnify
and hold harmless such Independent Counsel against any and all Expenses, claims, liabilities and damages arising out of or
relating to this Agreement or its engagement pursuant hereto.

(d) If the Company disputes a portion of the amounts for which indemnification is requested, the undisputed
portion shall be paid and only the disputed portion withheld pending resolution of any such dispute.

14. PRESUMPTIONS AND EFFECT OF CERTAIN PROCEEDINGS.

(a) In making a determination with respect to entitlement to indemnification hereunder, the person, persons or 
entity making such determination shall, to the fullest extent not prohibited by law, presume that Indemnitee is entitled to 
indemnification under this Agreement if Indemnitee has submitted a request for indemnification in accordance with Section 
12(b) of this Agreement, and the Company shall, to the fullest extent not prohibited by law have the burden of proof to 
overcome that presumption in connection with the making by any person, persons or entity of any determination contrary to 
that presumption.  Neither the failure of the Company (including by the Disinterested
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Directors or Independent Counsel) to have made a determination prior to the commencement of any action pursuant to this
Agreement that indemnification is proper in the circumstances because Indemnitee has met the applicable standard of conduct,
nor an actual determination by the Company (including by the Disinterested Directors or Independent Counsel) that
Indemnitee has not met such applicable standard of conduct, shall be a defense to the action or create a presumption that
Indemnitee has not met the applicable standard of conduct.

(b) If the person, persons or entity empowered or selected under Section 13 of this Agreement to determine
whether Indemnitee is entitled to indemnification shall not have made a determination within thirty (30) days after receipt by
the Company of the request therefor, the requisite determination of entitlement to indemnification shall, to the fullest extent
permitted by law, be deemed to have been made and Indemnitee shall be entitled to such indemnification, absent (i) a
misstatement by Indemnitee of a material fact, or an omission of a material fact necessary to make Indemnitee’s statement not
materially misleading, in connection with the request for indemnification, or (ii) a final judicial determination that any or all
such indemnification is expressly prohibited under applicable law; provided, however, that such 30-day period may be
extended for a reasonable time, not to exceed an additional fifteen (15) days, if the person, persons or entity making the
determination with respect to entitlement to indemnification in good faith requires such additional time for the obtaining or
evaluating of documentation and/or information relating thereto.

(c) The termination of any Proceeding or of any claim, issue or matter therein, by judgment, order, settlement or
conviction, or upon a plea of nolo contendere or its equivalent, shall not (except as otherwise expressly provided in this
Agreement) of itself adversely affect the right of Indemnitee to indemnification or create a presumption that Indemnitee did not
act in good faith and in a manner which Indemnitee reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the
Company or, with respect to any criminal Proceeding, that Indemnitee had reasonable cause to believe that Indemnitee’s
conduct was unlawful.

(d) For purposes of any determination of good faith, Indemnitee shall be deemed to have acted in good faith if 
Indemnitee’s action is based on the records or books of account of the Enterprise, including financial statements, or on 
information supplied to Indemnitee by the directors, manager, or officers of the Enterprise in the course of their duties, or on 
the advice of legal counsel for the Enterprise, its Board, any committee of the Board or any director, trustee, general partner, 
manager or managing member, or on information or records given or reports made to the Enterprise, its Board, any committee 
of the Board or any director, trustee, general partner, manager or managing member, by an independent certified public 
accountant or by an appraiser or other expert selected by the Enterprise, its Board, any committee of the Board or any director, 
trustee, general partner, manager or managing member.  The provisions of this Section 14(d) shall not be deemed to be 
exclusive or to limit in any way the other circumstances in which Indemnitee may be deemed or found to have met the 
applicable standard of conduct set forth in this Agreement.
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(e) The knowledge and/or actions, or failure to act, of any other director, officer, trustee, partner, manager,
managing member, fiduciary, agent or employee of the Enterprise shall not be imputed to Indemnitee for purposes of
determining the right to indemnification under this Agreement.

15. REMEDIES OF INDEMNITEE.

(a) In the event that (i) a determination is made pursuant to Section 13 of this Agreement that Indemnitee is not 
entitled to indemnification under this Agreement, (ii) advancement of Expenses, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable 
law, is not timely made pursuant to Section 11 of this Agreement, (iii) no determination of entitlement to indemnification shall 
have been made pursuant to Section 13(a) of this Agreement within thirty (30) days after receipt by the Company of the 
request for indemnification, (iv) payment of indemnification is not made pursuant to Section 5, 6, 8 or the last sentence of 
Section 13(a) of this Agreement within ten (10) days after receipt by the Company of a written request therefor, (v) a 
contribution payment is not made in a timely manner pursuant to Section 9 of this Agreement, (vi) payment of indemnification 
pursuant to Section 3 or 4 of this Agreement is not made within ten (10) days after a determination has been made that 
Indemnitee is entitled to indemnification, (vii) the Company or any other person takes or threatens to take any action to 
declare this Agreement void or unenforceable, or institutes any litigation or other action or Proceeding designed to deny, or to 
recover from, the Indemnitee the benefits provided or intended to be provided to the Indemnitee hereunder or (viii) payment to 
Indemnitee pursuant to any hold harmless or exoneration rights under this Agreement or otherwise is not made in accordance 
with this Agreement, Indemnitee shall be entitled to an adjudication by the Delaware Court to such indemnification, hold 
harmless, exoneration, contribution or advancement rights.  Alternatively, Indemnitee, at Indemnitee’s option, may seek an 
award in arbitration to be conducted by a single arbitrator pursuant to the Commercial Arbitration Rules of the American 
Arbitration Association.  Except as set forth herein, the provisions of Delaware law (without regard to its conflict of laws 
rules) shall apply to any such arbitration.  The Company shall not oppose Indemnitee’s right to seek any such adjudication or 
award in arbitration.  Such adjudication or arbitration proceeding is referred to herein as “Enforcement Proceeding.”

(b) In the event that a determination shall have been made pursuant to Section 13(a) of this Agreement that
Indemnitee is not entitled to indemnification, any Enforcement Proceeding shall be conducted in all respects as a de novo trial,
or arbitration, on the merits and Indemnitee shall not be prejudiced by reason of that adverse determination.

(c) In any Enforcement Proceeding, Indemnitee shall be presumed to be entitled to be indemnified, held harmless, 
exonerated and to receive advancement of Expenses under this Agreement and the Company shall have the burden of proving 
Indemnitee is not entitled to be indemnified, held harmless, exonerated and to receive advancement of Expenses, as the case 
may be, and the Company may not refer to or introduce into evidence any determination pursuant to Section 13(a) of this 
Agreement adverse to Indemnitee for any purpose.  If Indemnitee commences an Enforcement
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Proceeding, Indemnitee shall not be required to reimburse the Company for any advances pursuant to Section 11 until a final
determination is made with respect to Indemnitee’s entitlement to indemnification (as to which all rights of appeal have been
exhausted or lapsed).

(d) If a determination shall have been made pursuant to Section 13(a) of this Agreement that Indemnitee is entitled
to indemnification, the Company shall be bound by such determination in Enforcement Proceeding, absent (i) a misstatement
by Indemnitee of a material fact, or an omission of a material fact necessary to make Indemnitee’s statement not materially
misleading, in connection with the request for indemnification, or (ii) a prohibition of such indemnification under applicable
law.

(e) The Company shall, to the fullest extent not prohibited by law, be precluded from asserting in Enforcement
Proceeding that the procedures and presumptions of this Agreement are not valid, binding and enforceable and shall stipulate
in any such court or before any such arbitrator that the Company is bound by all the provisions of this Agreement. It is the
intent of the Company that, to the fullest extent permitted by law, the Indemnitee not be required to incur legal fees or other
Expenses associated with the interpretation, enforcement or defense of Indemnitee's rights under this Agreement by litigation
or otherwise asserted by Indemnitee in good faith because the cost and expense thereof would substantially detract from the
benefits intended to be extended to the Indemnitee hereunder.

(f) The Company shall indemnify and hold harmless Indemnitee to the fullest extent permitted by law against any
and all Expenses (assuming for purposes of this sentence that all references to a Proceeding in the definition of Expenses were
references to an Enforcement Proceeding) and, if requested by Indemnitee, shall (within ten (10) days after the Company’s
receipt of such written request) pay to Indemnitee, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, such Expenses which are
incurred by or on behalf of Indemnitee in connection with any Enforcement Proceeding brought by Indemnitee: (i) to enforce
his rights under, or to recover damages for breach of, this Agreement or any other indemnification, hold harmless, exoneration,
advancement or contribution agreement or provision of the Charter, or the Bylaws now or hereafter in effect; or (ii) for
recovery or advances under any insurance policy maintained by any person for the benefit of Indemnitee, regardless of the
outcome and whether Indemnitee ultimately is determined to be entitled to such indemnification, hold harmless or exoneration
right, advancement, contribution or insurance recovery, as the case may be (unless such Enforcement Proceeding was not
brought by Indemnitee in good faith).

(g) Interest shall be paid by the Company to Indemnitee at the legal rate under Delaware law for amounts which
the Company indemnifies, holds harmless or exonerates, or advances, or is obliged to indemnify, hold harmless or exonerate
or advance for the period commencing with the date on which Indemnitee requests indemnification, to be held harmless,
exonerated, contribution, reimbursement or advancement of any Expenses and ending with the date on which such payment is
made to Indemnitee by or on behalf of the Company.
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16. SECURITY.  Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, except for Section 28, to the extent requested by 
Indemnitee and approved by the Board, the Company may at any time and from time to time provide security to Indemnitee 
for the Company’s obligations hereunder through an irrevocable bank line of credit, funded trust or other collateral.  Any such 
security, once provided to Indemnitee, may not be revoked or released without the prior written consent of Indemnitee.

17. NON-EXCLUSIVITY; SURVIVAL OF RIGHTS; INSURANCE; SUBROGATION.

(a) The rights of Indemnitee as provided by this Agreement (i) shall not be deemed exclusive of any other rights to 
which Indemnitee may at any time be entitled under applicable law, the Charter, the Bylaws, any agreement, a vote of 
stockholders or a resolution of directors, or otherwise and (ii) shall be interpreted independently of, and without reference to, 
any other such rights to which Indemnitee may at any time be entitled.  No amendment, alteration or repeal of this Agreement 
or of any provision hereof shall limit or restrict any right of Indemnitee under this Agreement in respect of any Proceeding 
(regardless of when such Proceeding is first threatened, commenced or completed) or claim, issue or matter therein arising out 
of, or related to, any action taken or omitted by such Indemnitee in Indemnitee’s Corporate Status prior to such amendment, 
alteration or repeals, except as may otherwise be expressly set forth in such amendment, alteration or repeals and mutually 
agreed by Indemnitee and the Company.  To the extent that a change in applicable law, whether by statute or judicial decision, 
permits greater indemnification, hold harmless or exoneration rights or advancement of expenses than would be afforded 
currently under the Charter, the Bylaws or this Agreement, it is the intent of the parties hereto that Indemnitee shall enjoy by 
this Agreement the greater benefits so afforded by such change.  No right or remedy herein conferred is intended to be 
exclusive of any other right or remedy, and every other right and remedy shall be cumulative and in addition to every other 
right and remedy given hereunder or now or hereafter existing at law or in equity or otherwise.  The assertion or employment 
of any right or remedy hereunder, or otherwise, shall not prevent the concurrent assertion or employment of any other right or 
remedy.

(b) The Delaware General Corporation Law (the “DGCL”), the Charter and the Bylaws permit the Company to
purchase and maintain insurance or furnish similar protection or make other arrangements including, but not limited to,
providing a trust fund, letter of credit, or surety bond (“Indemnification Arrangements”) on behalf of Indemnitee against any 
liability asserted against Indemnitee or incurred by or on behalf of Indemnitee or in such capacity as a director, officer, 
employee or agent of the Company, or arising out of Indemnitee’s status as such, whether or not the Company would have the 
power to indemnify Indemnitee against such liability under the provisions of this Agreement or under the DGCL, as it may 
then be in effect.  The purchase, establishment, and maintenance of any such Indemnification Arrangement shall not in any 
way limit or affect the rights and obligations of the Company or of Indemnitee under this Agreement except as expressly 
provided herein, and the execution and delivery of this Agreement by the Company and Indemnitee shall not in any way limit 
or affect the
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rights and obligations of the Company or the other party or parties thereto under any such Indemnification Arrangement.

(c) To the extent that any member of the Company Group maintains an insurance policy or policies providing 
liability insurance for directors, officers, trustees, partners, managers, managing members, fiduciaries, employees, or agents of 
the Company Group or of any other Enterprise which such person serves at the request of the Company, Indemnitee shall be 
covered by such policy or policies in accordance with its or their terms to the maximum extent of the coverage available for 
any such director, officer, trustee, partner, managers, managing member, fiduciary, employee or agent under such policy or 
policies.  If, at the time the Company receives notice from any source of a Proceeding as to which Indemnitee is a party or a 
participant (as a witness, deponent or otherwise), the Company has director and officer liability insurance in effect, the 
Company shall give prompt notice of such Proceeding to the insurers in accordance with the procedures set forth in the 
respective policies.  The Company shall thereafter take or cause to be taken all necessary or desirable action to cause such 
insurers to pay, on behalf of Indemnitee, all amounts payable as a result of such Proceeding in accordance with the terms of 
such policies.

(d) In the event of any payment made by the Company under this Agreement, the Company, to the fullest extent
permitted by law, shall be subrogated to the extent of such payment to all of the rights of recovery of Indemnitee, who shall
execute all papers required and take all action necessary to secure such rights, including execution of such documents as are
necessary to enable the Company to bring suit to enforce such rights.

(e) The Company’s obligation to indemnify, hold harmless, exonerate or advance Expenses hereunder to
Indemnitee who is or was serving at the request of the Company as a director, officer, trustee, partner, manager, managing
member, fiduciary, employee or agent of any other Enterprise shall be reduced by any amount Indemnitee has actually
received as indemnification, hold harmless or exoneration payments or advancement of expenses from such Enterprise.
Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement to the contrary except for Section 28, (i) Indemnitee shall have no
obligation to reduce, offset, allocate, pursue or apportion any indemnification, hold harmless, exoneration, advancement,
contribution or insurance coverage among multiple parties possessing such duties to Indemnitee prior to the Company’s
satisfaction and performance of all its obligations under this Agreement, and (ii) the Company shall perform fully its
obligations under this Agreement without regard to whether Indemnitee holds, may pursue or has pursued any
indemnification, advancement, hold harmless, exoneration, contribution or insurance coverage rights against any person or
entity other than the Company.

(f) To the extent Indemnitee has rights to indemnification, advancement of expenses and/or insurance from other
Persons (collectively, the “Other Indemnitors”), (i) the Company shall be the indemnitor of first resort (i.e., that its obligations
to Indemnitee are primary and any obligation of the Other Indemnitors, as applicable, to advance expenses or to provide
indemnification for the same expenses or liabilities incurred by Indemnitee are secondary), (ii) the Company shall be required
to advance the full amount
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of expenses incurred by Indemnitee and shall be liable for the full amount of all claims, liabilities, damages, losses, costs and 
expenses (including amounts paid in satisfaction of judgments, in compromises and settlements, as fines and penalties and 
legal or other costs and reasonable expenses of investigating or defending against any claim or alleged claim) to the extent 
legally permitted and as required by the terms of this Agreement, the Company’s organizational documents or other 
agreement, without regard to any rights Indemnitee may have against the Other Indemnitors, as applicable, and (iii) the 
Company irrevocably waives, relinquishes and releases the Other Indemnitors, as applicable, from any and all claims against 
them for contribution, subrogation or any other recovery of any kind in respect thereof.  No advancement or payment by the 
Other Indemnitors, as applicable, on behalf of Indemnitee with respect to any claim for which Indemnitee has sought 
indemnification from the Company shall affect the foregoing, and the Other Indemnitors and its affiliates, as applicable, shall 
have a right of contribution and be subrogated to the extent of such advancement or payment to all of the rights of recovery of 
Indemnitee against the Company.

18. DURATION OF AGREEMENT.  All agreements and obligations of the Company contained herein shall continue 
during the period Indemnitee serves as a director or officer of the Company or as a director, officer, trustee, partner, manager, 
managing member, fiduciary, employee or agent of any other corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust, employee benefit 
plan or other Enterprise which Indemnitee serves at the request of the Company and shall continue thereafter so long as 
Indemnitee shall be subject to any possible Proceeding or Enforcement Proceeding (including any rights of appeal thereto) by 
reason of Indemnitee’s Corporate Status, whether or not Indemnitee is acting in any such capacity at the time any liability or 
expense is incurred for which indemnification or advancement can be provided under this Agreement.

19. SEVERABILITY.  If any provision or provisions of this Agreement shall be held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable 
for any reason whatsoever: (a) the validity, legality and enforceability of the remaining provisions of this Agreement 
(including, without limitation, each portion of any Section, paragraph or sentence of this Agreement containing any such 
provision held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable, that is not itself invalid, illegal or unenforceable) shall not in any way be 
affected or impaired thereby and shall remain enforceable to the fullest extent permitted by law; (b) such provision or 
provisions shall be deemed reformed to the extent necessary to conform to applicable law and to give the maximum effect to 
the intent of the parties hereto; and (c) to the fullest extent possible, the provisions of this Agreement (including, without 
limitation, each portion of any Section, paragraph or sentence of this Agreement containing any such provision held to be 
invalid, illegal or unenforceable, that is not itself invalid, illegal or unenforceable) shall be construed so as to give effect to the 
intent manifested thereby.

20. ENFORCEMENT AND BINDING EFFECT.

(a) The Company expressly confirms and agrees that it has entered into this Agreement and assumed the
obligations imposed on it hereby in order to induce Indemnitee to serve as a director, officer or key employee of the Company
Group, and
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the Company acknowledges that Indemnitee is relying upon this Agreement in serving as a director, officer or key employee
of the Company Group.

(b) Without limiting any of the rights of Indemnitee under the Charter or Bylaws of the Company as they may be
amended from time to time, this Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the parties hereto with respect to the
subject matter hereof and supersedes all prior agreements and understandings, oral, written and implied, between the parties
hereto with respect to the subject matter hereof.

(c) The indemnification, hold harmless, exoneration and advancement of expenses rights provided by or granted
pursuant to this Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of and be enforceable by the parties hereto and their
respective successors and permitted assigns (including any direct or indirect successor by purchase, merger, consolidation or
otherwise to all or substantially all of the business and/or assets of the Company, but subject to such successor’s compliance
with Section 20(d)), shall continue as to an Indemnitee who has ceased to be a director, officer, employee or agent of the
Company or a director, officer, trustee, general partner, manager, managing member, fiduciary, employee or agent of any
other Enterprise at the Company’s request, and shall inure to the benefit of Indemnitee and Indemnitee’s spouse, permitted
assigns, heirs, devisees, executors and administrators and other legal representatives.

(d) The Company shall require and cause any successor (whether direct or indirect by purchase, merger,
consolidation or otherwise) to all, substantially all or a substantial part, of the business and/or assets of the Company, by
written agreement in form and substance satisfactory to Indemnitee, expressly to assume and agree to perform this Agreement
in the same manner and to the same extent that the Company would be required to perform if no such succession had taken
place.

(e) The Company and Indemnitee agree herein that a monetary remedy for breach of this Agreement, at some later 
date, may be inadequate, impracticable and difficult of proof, and further agree that such breach may cause Indemnitee 
irreparable harm. Accordingly, the parties hereto agree that Indemnitee may, to the fullest extent permitted by law, enforce 
this Agreement by seeking, among other things, injunctive relief and/or specific performance hereof, without any necessity of 
showing actual damage or irreparable harm and that by seeking injunctive relief and/or specific performance, Indemnitee shall 
not be precluded from seeking or obtaining any other relief to which Indemnitee may be entitled.  The Company and 
Indemnitee further agree that Indemnitee shall, to the fullest extent permitted by law, be entitled to such specific performance 
and injunctive relief, including temporary restraining orders, preliminary injunctions and permanent injunctions, without the 
necessity of posting bonds or other security in connection therewith.  The Company acknowledges that in the absence of a 
waiver, a bond or other security may be required of Indemnitee by a court of competent jurisdiction.  The Company hereby 
waives any such requirement of such a bond or other security to the fullest extent permitted by law.

21. MODIFICATION AND WAIVER.  No supplement, modification or amendment of this Agreement shall be binding 
unless executed in writing by the Company and
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Indemnitee.  No waiver of any provision of this Agreement shall be enforceable unless in writing and signed by the party 
against whom it is to be enforced. No waiver of any of the provisions of this Agreement shall be deemed or shall constitute a 
waiver of any other provisions of this Agreement nor shall any waiver constitute a continuing waiver.

22. NOTICES.  All notices, requests, demands and other communications under this Agreement shall be in writing and 
shall be deemed to have been duly given (i) if delivered by hand and receipted for by the party to whom said notice or other 
communication shall have been directed, or (ii) mailed by certified or registered mail with postage prepaid, on the third (3rd) 
business day after the date on which it is so mailed:

(a) If to Indemnitee, at the address indicated on the signature page of this Agreement, or such other address as
Indemnitee shall provide in writing to the Company.

(b) If to the Company, to:

Skillsoft Corp.
300 Innovative Way, Suite 201
Nashua, New Hampshire 03062
Attention: Sarah Hilty
E-mail: Sarah.Hilty@skillsoft.com

With a copy, which shall not constitute notice, to

Weil, Gotshal & Manges LLP
767 Fifth Avenue
New York, New York 10153
Attention: Jackie Cohen

Mariel E. Cruz
E-mail: Jackie.Cohen@weil.com

Mariel.Cruz@weil.com

or to any other address as may have been furnished to Indemnitee in writing by the Company.

23. Contribution.  To the fullest extent permissible under applicable law, if the indemnification provided for in this 
Agreement is unavailable to Indemnitee for any reason whatsoever, the Company, in lieu of indemnifying Indemnitee, shall 
contribute to the amount incurred by Indemnitee, whether for judgments, fines, penalties, excise taxes, amounts paid or to be 
paid in settlement and/or for Expenses, in connection with any claim relating to an indemnifiable event under this Agreement, 
in such proportion as is deemed fair and reasonable in light of all of the circumstances of such Proceeding in order to reflect (i) 
the relative benefits received by the Company and Indemnitee as a result of the event(s) and/or transaction(s) giving cause to 
such Proceeding; and/or (ii) the relative fault of the Company (and its directors, officers, employees and agents) and 
Indemnitee in connection with such event(s) and/or transaction(s).
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24. APPLICABLE LAW AND CONSENT TO JURISDICTION.  This Agreement and the legal relations among the 
parties shall be governed by, and construed and enforced in accordance with, the laws of the State of Delaware, without regard 
to its conflict of laws rules.  Except with respect to any arbitration commenced by Indemnitee pursuant to Section 15(a) of this 
Agreement, to the fullest extent permitted by law, the Company and Indemnitee hereby irrevocably and unconditionally: (a) 
agree that any action or proceeding arising out of or in connection with this Agreement shall be brought only in the Delaware 
Court and not in any other state or federal court in the United States of America or any court in any other country; (b) consent 
to submit to the exclusive jurisdiction of the Delaware Court for purposes of any action or proceeding arising out of or in 
connection with this Agreement; (c) waive any objection to the laying of venue of any such action or proceeding in the 
Delaware Court; and (d) waive, and agree not to plead or to make, any claim that any such action or proceeding brought in the 
Delaware Court has been brought in an improper or inconvenient forum, or is subject (in whole or in part) to a jury trial.  To 
the fullest extent permitted by law, the parties hereby agree that the mailing of process and other papers in connection with 
any such action or proceeding in the manner provided by Section 22 or in such other manner as may be permitted by law, shall 
be valid and sufficient service thereof.

25. IDENTICAL COUNTERPARTS.  This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which shall 
for all purposes be deemed to be an original but all of which together shall constitute one and the same Agreement.  Only one 
such counterpart signed by the party against whom enforceability is sought needs to be produced to evidence the existence of 
this Agreement.

26. MISCELLANEOUS.  Use of the masculine pronoun shall be deemed to include usage of the feminine pronoun where 
appropriate.  The headings of the paragraphs of this Agreement are inserted for convenience only and shall not be deemed to 
constitute part of this Agreement or to affect the construction thereof.

27. ADDITIONAL ACTS.  If for the validation of any of the provisions in this Agreement any act, resolution, approval or 
other procedure is required to the fullest extent permitted by law, the Company undertakes to cause such act, resolution, 
approval or other procedure to be affected or adopted in a manner that will enable the Company to fulfill its obligations under 
this Agreement.

28. MAINTENANCE OF INSURANCE.  The Company shall use commercially reasonable efforts to obtain and maintain 
in effect during the entire period for which the Company is obligated to indemnify the Indemnitee under this Agreement, one 
or more policies of insurance with reputable insurance companies to provide the officers/directors of the Company with 
coverage for losses from wrongful acts and omissions and to ensure the Company’s performance of its indemnification 
obligations under this Agreement.  The Indemnitee shall be covered by such policy or policies in accordance with its or their 
terms to the maximum extent of the coverage available for any such director or officer under such policy or policies.  In all 
such insurance policies, the Indemnitee shall be named as an insured in such a manner as to provide the Indemnitee with the 
same rights
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and benefits as are accorded to the most favorably insured of the Company’s directors and officers.

[Signature Page Follows]



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Indemnity Agreement to be signed as of the day
and year first above written.

SKILLSOFT CORP.

By:
Name: Jeffrey R. Tarr
Title:   Chief Executive Officer

INDEMNITEE

By:
Name:
Title:

[Signature Page to Indemnity Agreement]



Exhibit 10.24

RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT GRANT NOTICE
 [Time-Based]

Skillsoft Corp., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), pursuant to its 2020 Omnibus Incentive Plan, as it may be
amended and restated from time to time (the “Plan”), hereby grants to the Participant set forth below the number of time-based
Restricted Stock Units set forth below (the “RSUs”). The RSUs are subject to all of the terms and conditions as set forth in this
Restricted Stock Unit Grant Notice (this “Grant Notice”), in the Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (attached hereto), and in the
Plan, all of which are incorporated herein in their entirety. Capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the
meanings set forth in the Plan.

Participant: [·]

Date of Grant: [·]

Vesting Commencement Date: [Vesting schedule subject to the determination of the Committee under the terms
of the Plan.]

Number of Restricted Stock Units: [·]

Vesting Schedule:  [Vesting schedule subject to the determination of the Committee under the terms of the
Plan.]

Dividend Equivalents: The RSUs shall be credited with dividend equivalent payments, as provided in Section 13(c)
(iii) of the Plan.

Acknowledgments: The Participant acknowledges receipt of this Grant Notice, the Restricted Stock Unit Agreement
and the Plan and, as an express condition to the grant of the RSUs hereunder, agrees to bound by the terms of this Grant
Notice, the Restricted Stock Unit Agreement and the Plan. The Participant further acknowledges and agrees that (a) this Grant
Notice may be executed in two or more counterparts, each of which will be an original and all of which together will constitute
one and the same instrument, (b) this Grant Notice may be executed and exchanged using facsimile, portable document format
(PDF) or electronic signature, which, in each case, will constitute an original signature for all purposes hereunder, and (c) such
signature by the Company will be binding against the Company and will create a legally binding agreement when this Grant
Notice is countersigned by the Participant.

* * *

[Signature page follows]
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Participant

SKILLSOFT CORP.

By:

[Signature page to Restricted Stock Unit Grant Notice (Time-Based)]



RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT AGREEMENT
 [Time-Based]

Pursuant to the Restricted Stock Unit Grant Notice (the “Grant Notice”) delivered to the Participant (as defined in the
Grant Notice), and subject to the terms of this Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (this “Agreement”) and the Skillsoft Corp.
2020 Omnibus Incentive Plan, as it may be amended and restated from time to time (the “Plan”), Skillsoft Corp., a Delaware
corporation (the “Company”), and the Participant agree as follows. Capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein shall have
the same meanings as set forth in the Plan.

1. Grant of Restricted Stock Units.  Subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein and in the Plan, the
Company hereby grants to the Participant the number of Restricted Stock Units (the “RSUs”) provided in the Grant Notice
(with each RSU representing an unfunded, unsecured right to receive one share of Common Stock).

2. Vesting and Termination.

(a) Subject to the conditions contained herein and in the Plan, the RSUs shall vest as provided in the Grant
Notice.

(b) In the event of the Participant’s Termination for any reason prior to the time that all of the RSUs have
vested, the then-unvested RSUs shall be forfeited to the Company by the Participant for no consideration as of the date of such
Termination. [Notwithstanding the foregoing.

3. Settlement of Restricted Stock Units.  Subject to any election by the Committee pursuant to Section 8(d)(ii)
of the Plan, the Company will deliver to the Participant, without charge, on or within 30 days following the applicable vesting
date, one share of Common Stock for each RSU that vests on such date, and such vested RSU shall be cancelled upon such
delivery. The Company shall either (a) deliver to the Participant a certificate or certificates therefor, registered in the
Participant’s name, or (b) cause such shares of Common Stock to be credited to the Participant’s account at the third-party
plan administrator. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, the Company shall have no obligation to issue
or transfer any shares of Common Stock as contemplated by this Agreement unless and until such issuance or transfer
complies with all relevant provisions of law and the requirements of any stock exchange on which the shares of Common
Stock are listed for trading.

4. Participant. Whenever the word “Participant” is used in any provision of this Agreement under circumstances
where the provision should logically be construed to apply to the executors, the administrators, or persons to whom the RSUs
may be transferred in accordance with Section 13(b) of the Plan, the word “Participant” shall be deemed to include such
persons.

5. Non-Transferability.  The RSUs are not transferable by the Participant except to Permitted Transferees in
accordance with Section 13(b) of the Plan. Except as otherwise provided herein, no assignment or transfer of the RSUs, or of
the rights represented thereby, whether voluntary or involuntary, by operation of law or otherwise, shall vest in the assignee or
transferee any interest or right herein whatsoever, but immediately upon such assignment or transfer the RSUs shall terminate
and become of no further effect.
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6. Rights as Shareholder.  Subject to any dividend equivalent payments to be provided to the Participant in
accordance with the Grant Notice and Section 13(c)(iii) of the Plan, the Participant shall have no rights as a shareholder with
respect to any share of Common Stock underlying an RSU unless and until the Participant shall have become the holder of
record of such share of Common Stock, and no adjustment shall be made for dividends or distributions or other rights in
respect of such share of Common Stock for which the record date is prior to the date upon which the Participant shall become
the holder of record thereof.

7. Tax Withholding.  The provisions of Section 13(d) of the Plan are incorporated herein by reference and made
a part hereof.

8. Notice.  Every notice or other communication relating to this Agreement between the Company and the
Participant shall be in writing, which may include by electronic mail, and shall be mailed to or delivered to the party for whom
it is intended at such address as may from time to time be designated by such party in a notice mailed or delivered to the other
party as herein provided; provided that, unless and until some other address be so designated, all notices or communications by
the Participant to the Company shall be mailed or delivered to the Company at its principal executive office, to the attention of
the Company’s General Counsel or its designee, and all notices or communications by the Company to the Participant may be
given to the Participant personally or may be mailed to the Participant at the Participant’s last known address, as reflected in
the Company’s records. Notwithstanding the foregoing, all notices and communications between the Participant and any third-
party plan administrator shall be mailed, delivered, transmitted or sent in accordance with the procedures established by such
third-party plan administrator and communicated to the Participant from time to time.

9. No Right to Continued Employment or Service.  This Agreement does not confer upon the Participant any
right to continue as an employee or other service provider to the Company.

10. Binding Effect.  This Agreement shall be binding upon the heirs, executors, administrators and successors of
the parties hereto.

11. Waiver and Amendments .  Except as otherwise set forth in Section 12 of the Plan, any waiver, alteration,
amendment or modification of any of the terms of this Agreement shall be valid only if made in writing and signed by the
parties hereto; provided, however, that any such waiver, alteration, amendment or modification is consented to on the
Company’s behalf by the Committee. No waiver by either of the parties hereto of their rights hereunder shall be deemed to
constitute a waiver with respect to any subsequent occurrences or transactions hereunder unless such waiver specifically states
that it is to be construed as a continuing waiver.

12. Governing Law.  The provisions of Section 13(q) of the Plan are incorporated herein by reference and made a
part hereof. Notwithstanding anything contained in this Agreement, the Grant Notice or the Plan to the contrary, if any suit or
claim is instituted by the Participant or the Company relating to this Agreement, the Grant Notice or the Plan, the Participant
hereby submits to the exclusive jurisdiction of and venue in the courts of the State of Delaware.

13. Plan.  The terms and provisions of the Plan are incorporated herein by reference and made a part hereof. In the
event of a conflict or inconsistency between the terms and provisions
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of the Plan and the terms and provisions of this Agreement (including the Grant Notice), the Plan shall govern and control.

14. Section 409A.  It is intended that the RSUs granted hereunder shall be exempt from Section 409A of the Code
pursuant to the “short-term deferral” rule applicable to such section, as set forth in the regulations or other guidance published
by the Internal Revenue Service thereunder.

15. Imposition of Other Requirements.  The Company reserves the right to impose other requirements on the
Participant’s participation in the Plan, on the RSUs and on any shares of Common Stock acquired under the Plan, to the extent
the Company determines it is necessary or advisable for legal or administrative reasons, and to require the Participant to sign
any additional agreements or undertakings that may be necessary to accomplish the foregoing.

16. Electronic Delivery and Acceptance .  The Company may, in its sole discretion, decide to deliver any
documents related to current or future participation in the Plan by electronic means.  The Participant hereby consents to receive
such documents by electronic delivery and agrees to participate in the Plan through an on-line or electronic system established
and maintained by the Company or a third party designated by the Company.

17. Entire Agreement.  This Agreement, the Grant Notice and the Plan constitute the entire agreement of the
parties hereto in respect of the subject matter contained herein and supersede all prior agreements and understandings of the
parties, oral and written, with respect to such subject matter.



Exhibit 10.25

RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT GRANT NOTICE
 [Performance-Based]

Skillsoft Corp., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), pursuant to its 2020 Omnibus Incentive Plan, as it may be
amended and restated from time to time (the “Plan”), hereby grants to the Participant set forth below the number of
performance-based Restricted Stock Units set forth below (the “PBRSUs”). The PBRSUs are subject to all of the terms and
conditions as set forth in this Restricted Stock Unit Grant Notice (this “Grant Notice”), in the Restricted Stock Unit Agreement
(attached hereto), and in the Plan, all of which are incorporated herein in their entirety. Capitalized terms not otherwise
defined herein shall have the meanings set forth in the Plan.

Participant: [·]

Date of Grant: [·]

Vesting Commencement Date: [Vesting schedule subject to the determination of the Committee under the terms
of the Plan.]

Number of Restricted Stock Units: [·]

Vesting: The PBRSUs will vest to the extent that both the “Service Condition” and the “Performance Condition” (as
such terms are defined below) are satisfied. [Vesting conditions subject to the determination of the Committee under the
terms of the Plan.]

Service Condition: [Service Condition subject to the determination of the Committee under the terms of the
Plan.]

Performance Condition: [Performance Condition subject to the determination of the Committee under the
terms of the Plan].

Dividend Equivalents: The PBRSUs shall be credited with dividend equivalent payments, as provided in Section
13(c)(iii) of the Plan.

Acknowledgments: The Participant acknowledges receipt of this Grant Notice, the Restricted Stock Unit Agreement
and the Plan and, as an express condition to the grant of the PBRSUs hereunder, agrees to bound by the terms of this Grant
Notice, the Restricted Stock Unit Agreement and the Plan. The Participant further acknowledges and agrees that (a) this Grant
Notice may be executed in two or more counterparts, each of which will be an original and all of which together will constitute
one and the same instrument, (b) this Grant Notice may be executed and exchanged using facsimile, portable document format
(PDF) or electronic signature, which, in each case, will constitute an original signature for all purposes hereunder, and (c) such
signature by the Company will be binding against the Company and will create a legally binding agreement when this Grant
Notice is countersigned by the Participant.

* * *

[Signature page follows]
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Participant

SKILLSOFT CORP.

By:

[Signature page to Restricted Stock Unit Grant Notice (Performance-Based)]



RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT AGREEMENT
 [Performance-Based]

Pursuant to the Restricted Stock Unit Grant Notice (the “Grant Notice”) delivered to the Participant (as defined in the
Grant Notice), and subject to the terms of this Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (this “Agreement”) and the Skillsoft Corp.
2020 Omnibus Incentive Plan, as it may be amended and restated from time to time (the “Plan”), Skillsoft Corp., a Delaware
corporation (the “Company”), and the Participant agree as follows. Capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein shall have
the same meanings as set forth in the Plan.

1. Grant of Restricted Stock Units.  Subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein and in the Plan, the
Company hereby grants to the Participant the number of Restricted Stock Units (the “PBRSUs”) provided in the Grant Notice
(with each PBRSU representing an unfunded, unsecured right to receive one share of Common Stock).

2. Vesting and Termination.

(a) Subject to the conditions contained herein and in the Plan, the PBRSUs shall vest as provided in the
Grant Notice.

(b) In the event of the Participant’s Termination for any reason (regardless of whether the Performance
Condition was satisfied prior to such Termination), the PBRSUs for which the Service Condition was not satisfied prior to
such Termination shall be forfeited to the Company by the Participant for no consideration as of the date of such Termination.

(c) In the event of the Participant’s Termination for any reason prior to the date on which the Performance
Condition is satisfied, the PBRSUs for which the Service Condition was satisfied prior to such Termination shall vest if (and
only if) the Performance Condition is satisfied prior to the fourth anniversary of the Date of Grant. If the Performance
Condition is not satisfied prior to the fourth anniversary of the Date of Grant, then on such fourth anniversary, the PBRSUs for
which the Service Condition was satisfied prior to such Termination shall be forfeited to the Company by the Participant for
no consideration.

3. Settlement of Restricted Stock Units.  Subject to any election by the Committee pursuant to Section 8(d)(ii)
of the Plan, the Company will deliver to the Participant, without charge, on or within 30 days following the applicable vesting
date, one share of Common Stock for each PBRSU that vests on such date, and such vested PBRSU shall be cancelled upon
such delivery. The Company shall either (a) deliver to the Participant a certificate or certificates therefor, registered in the
Participant’s name, or (b) cause such shares of Common Stock to be credited to the Participant’s account at the third-party
plan administrator. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, the Company shall have no obligation to issue
or transfer any shares of Common Stock as contemplated by this Agreement unless and until such issuance or transfer
complies with all relevant provisions of law and the requirements of any stock exchange on which the shares of Common
Stock are listed for trading.

4. Participant. Whenever the word “Participant” is used in any provision of this Agreement under circumstances
where the provision should logically be construed to apply to the
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executors, the administrators, or persons to whom the PBRSUs may be transferred in accordance with Section 13(b) of the
Plan, the word “Participant” shall be deemed to include such persons.

5. Non-Transferability.  The PBRSUs are not transferable by the Participant except to Permitted Transferees in
accordance with Section 13(b) of the Plan. Except as otherwise provided herein, no assignment or transfer of the PBRSUs, or
of the rights represented thereby, whether voluntary or involuntary, by operation of law or otherwise, shall vest in the assignee
or transferee any interest or right herein whatsoever, but immediately upon such assignment or transfer the PBRSUs shall
terminate and become of no further effect.

6. Rights as Shareholder.  Subject to any dividend equivalent payments to be provided to the Participant in
accordance with the Grant Notice and Section 13(c)(iii) of the Plan, the Participant shall have no rights as a shareholder with
respect to any share of Common Stock underlying an PBRSU unless and until the Participant shall have become the holder of
record of such share of Common Stock, and no adjustment shall be made for dividends or distributions or other rights in
respect of such share of Common Stock for which the record date is prior to the date upon which the Participant shall become
the holder of record thereof.

7. Tax Withholding.  The provisions of Section 13(d) of the Plan are incorporated herein by reference and made
a part hereof.

8. Notice.  Every notice or other communication relating to this Agreement between the Company and the
Participant shall be in writing, which may include by electronic mail, and shall be mailed to or delivered to the party for whom
it is intended at such address as may from time to time be designated by such party in a notice mailed or delivered to the other
party as herein provided; provided that, unless and until some other address be so designated, all notices or communications by
the Participant to the Company shall be mailed or delivered to the Company at its principal executive office, to the attention of
the Company’s General Counsel or its designee, and all notices or communications by the Company to the Participant may be
given to the Participant personally or may be mailed to the Participant at the Participant’s last known address, as reflected in
the Company’s records. Notwithstanding the foregoing, all notices and communications between the Participant and any third-
party plan administrator shall be mailed, delivered, transmitted or sent in accordance with the procedures established by such
third-party plan administrator and communicated to the Participant from time to time.

9. No Right to Continued Employment or Service.  This Agreement does not confer upon the Participant any
right to continue as an employee or other service provider to the Company.

10. Binding Effect.  This Agreement shall be binding upon the heirs, executors, administrators and successors of
the parties hereto.

11. Waiver and Amendments .  Except as otherwise set forth in Section 12 of the Plan, any waiver, alteration,
amendment or modification of any of the terms of this Agreement shall be valid only if made in writing and signed by the
parties hereto; provided, however, that any such waiver, alteration, amendment or modification is consented to on the
Company’s behalf by the Committee. No waiver by either of the parties hereto of their rights hereunder shall be deemed to
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constitute a waiver with respect to any subsequent occurrences or transactions hereunder unless such waiver specifically states
that it is to be construed as a continuing waiver.

12. Governing Law.  The provisions of Section 13(q) of the Plan are incorporated herein by reference and made a
part hereof. Notwithstanding anything contained in this Agreement, the Grant Notice or the Plan to the contrary, if any suit or
claim is instituted by the Participant or the Company relating to this Agreement, the Grant Notice or the Plan, the Participant
hereby submits to the exclusive jurisdiction of and venue in the courts of the State of Delaware.

13. Plan.  The terms and provisions of the Plan are incorporated herein by reference and made a part hereof. In the
event of a conflict or inconsistency between the terms and provisions of the Plan and the terms and provisions of this
Agreement (including the Grant Notice), the Plan shall govern and control.

14. Section 409A.  It is intended that the PBRSUs granted hereunder shall be exempt from Section 409A of the
Code pursuant to the “short-term deferral” rule applicable to such section, as set forth in the regulations or other guidance
published by the Internal Revenue Service thereunder.

15. Imposition of Other Requirements.  The Company reserves the right to impose other requirements on the
Participant’s participation in the Plan, on the PBRSUs and on any shares of Common Stock acquired under the Plan, to the
extent the Company determines it is necessary or advisable for legal or administrative reasons, and to require the Participant to
sign any additional agreements or undertakings that may be necessary to accomplish the foregoing.

16. Electronic Delivery and Acceptance .  The Company may, in its sole discretion, decide to deliver any
documents related to current or future participation in the Plan by electronic means.  The Participant hereby consents to receive
such documents by electronic delivery and agrees to participate in the Plan through an on-line or electronic system established
and maintained by the Company or a third party designated by the Company.

17. Entire Agreement.  This Agreement, the Grant Notice and the Plan constitute the entire agreement of the
parties hereto in respect of the subject matter contained herein and supersede all prior agreements and understandings of the
parties, oral and written, with respect to such subject matter.



Exhibit 10.26

RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT GRANT NOTICE
 [Time-Based]

Skillsoft Corp., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), pursuant to its 2020 Omnibus Incentive Plan, as it may be
amended and restated from time to time (the “Plan”), hereby grants to the Participant set forth below the number of time-based
Restricted Stock Units set forth below (the “RSUs”). The RSUs are subject to all of the terms and conditions as set forth in this
Restricted Stock Unit Grant Notice (this “Grant Notice”), in the Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (attached hereto), and in the
Plan, all of which are incorporated herein in their entirety. Capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the
meanings set forth in the Plan.

Participant: Jeffrey Tarr

Date of Grant: June 11, 2021

Vesting Commencement Date: June 11, 2021

Number of Restricted Stock Units: 2,000,000

Vesting Schedule:  Subject to Section 2 of the Restricted Stock Unit Agreement, one-twelfth (1/12th) of the RSUs will
vest on each three-month anniversary of the Vesting Commencement Date, such that one-hundred percent (100%) of the RSUs
will be vested on the third anniversary of the Vesting Commencement Date, in each case, provided that the Participant has not
undergone a Termination prior to the applicable vesting date.

Dividend Equivalents: The RSUs shall be credited with dividend equivalent payments, as provided in Section 13(c)
(iii) of the Plan.

Acknowledgments: The Participant acknowledges receipt of this Grant Notice, the Restricted Stock Unit Agreement
and the Plan and, as an express condition to the grant of the RSUs hereunder, agrees to bound by the terms of this Grant
Notice, the Restricted Stock Unit Agreement and the Plan. The Participant further acknowledges and agrees that (a) this Grant
Notice may be executed in two or more counterparts, each of which will be an original and all of which together will constitute
one and the same instrument, (b) this Grant Notice may be executed and exchanged using facsimile, portable document format
(PDF) or electronic signature, which, in each case, will constitute an original signature for all purposes hereunder, and (c) such
signature by the Company will be binding against the Company and will create a legally binding agreement when this Grant
Notice is countersigned by the Participant.

* * *

[Signature page follows]
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Participant

/s/ Jeffrey Tarr

SKILLSOFT CORP.

By: /s/ Sarah Hilty
Sarah Hilty
General Counsel

[Signature page to Restricted Stock Unit Grant Notice (Time-Based)]



RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT AGREEMENT
 [Time-Based]

Pursuant to the Restricted Stock Unit Grant Notice (the “Grant Notice”) delivered to the Participant (as defined in the
Grant Notice), and subject to the terms of this Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (this “Agreement”) and the Skillsoft Corp.
2020 Omnibus Incentive Plan, as it may be amended and restated from time to time (the “Plan”), Skillsoft Corp., a Delaware
corporation (the “Company”), and the Participant agree as follows. Capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein shall have
the same meanings as set forth in the Plan.

1. Grant of Restricted Stock Units.  Subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein and in the Plan, the
Company hereby grants to the Participant the number of Restricted Stock Units (the “RSUs”) provided in the Grant Notice
(with each RSU representing an unfunded, unsecured right to receive one share of Common Stock).

2. Vesting and Termination.

(a) Subject to the conditions contained herein and in the Plan, the RSUs shall vest as provided in the Grant
Notice.

(b) In the event of the Participant’s Termination by the Service Recipient for Cause (as such term is defined
in the Executive Employment Agreement, dated as of October 13, 2020, by and between the Participant and the Company (the
“Employment Agreement”)), the then-unvested RSUs shall be forfeited to the Company by the Participant for no
consideration as of the date of such Termination.

(c) In the event of the Participant’s Termination due to death or Disability (as such term is defined in the
Employment Agreement) prior to the time that all of the RSUs have vested, the then-unvested RSUs shall vest in full.

(d) In the event of the Participant’s Termination for any reason other than by the Service Recipient for
Cause or due to death or Disability prior to the time that all of the RSUs have vested, the then-unvested RSUs shall be
forfeited to the Company by the Participant for no consideration as of the date of such Termination.

(e) Notwithstanding Section 2(d), in the event of the Participant’s Termination by the Service Recipient
without Cause or by the Participant for Good Reason (as such terms are defined in the Employment Agreement) prior to the
time that all of the RSUs have vested, subject to the conditions set forth in Section 9 of the Employment Agreement, the then-
unvested RSUs that were scheduled to vest over the one-year period immediately following such Termination shall continue to
vest in accordance with the vesting schedule set forth in the Grant Notice.

(f) In the event of a Change in Control prior to the time that all of the RSUs have vested, the then-unvested
RSUs shall vest in full.

3. Settlement of Restricted Stock Units.  Subject to any election by the Committee pursuant to Section 8(d)(ii)
of the Plan, the Company will deliver to the Participant, without charge, on or within 30 days following the applicable vesting
date, one share of Common Stock for each
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RSU that vests on such date, and such vested RSU shall be cancelled upon such delivery. The Company shall either (a) deliver
to the Participant a certificate or certificates therefor, registered in the Participant’s name, or (b) cause such shares of Common
Stock to be credited to the Participant’s account at the third-party plan administrator. Notwithstanding anything in this
Agreement to the contrary, the Company shall have no obligation to issue or transfer any shares of Common Stock as
contemplated by this Agreement unless and until such issuance or transfer complies with all relevant provisions of law and the
requirements of any stock exchange on which the shares of Common Stock are listed for trading.

4. Participant. Whenever the word “Participant” is used in any provision of this Agreement under circumstances
where the provision should logically be construed to apply to the executors, the administrators, or the persons to whom the
RSUs may be transferred in accordance with Section 13(b) of the Plan, the word “Participant” shall be deemed to include such
persons.

5. Non-Transferability.  The RSUs are not transferable by the Participant except to Permitted Transferees in
accordance with Section 13(b) of the Plan. Except as otherwise provided herein, no assignment or transfer of the RSUs, or of
the rights represented thereby, whether voluntary or involuntary, by operation of law or otherwise, shall vest in the assignee or
transferee any interest or right herein whatsoever, but immediately upon such assignment or transfer the RSUs shall terminate
and become of no further effect.

6. Rights as Shareholder.  Subject to any dividend equivalent payments to be provided to the Participant in
accordance with the Grant Notice and Section 13(c)(iii) of the Plan, the Participant shall have no rights as a shareholder with
respect to any share of Common Stock underlying an RSU unless and until the Participant shall have become the holder of
record of such share of Common Stock, and no adjustment shall be made for dividends or distributions or other rights in
respect of such share of Common Stock for which the record date is prior to the date upon which the Participant shall become
the holder of record thereof.

7. Tax Withholding.  The provisions of Section 13(d) of the Plan are incorporated herein by reference and made
a part hereof.

8. Notice.  Every notice or other communication relating to this Agreement between the Company and the
Participant shall be in writing, which may include by electronic mail, and shall be mailed to or delivered to the party for whom
it is intended at such address as may from time to time be designated by such party in a notice mailed or delivered to the other
party as herein provided; provided that, unless and until some other address be so designated, all notices or communications by
the Participant to the Company shall be mailed or delivered to the Company at its principal executive office, to the attention of
the Company’s General Counsel or its designee, and all notices or communications by the Company to the Participant may be
given to the Participant personally or may be mailed to the Participant at the Participant’s last known address, as reflected in
the Company’s records. Notwithstanding the foregoing, all notices and communications between the Participant and any third-
party plan administrator shall be mailed, delivered, transmitted or sent in accordance with the procedures established by such
third-party plan administrator and communicated to the Participant from time to time.
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9. No Right to Continued Employment or Service.  This Agreement does not confer upon the Participant any
right to continue as an employee or other service provider to the Company.

10. Binding Effect.  This Agreement shall be binding upon the heirs, executors, administrators and successors of
the parties hereto.

11. Waiver and Amendments .  Except as otherwise set forth in Section 12 of the Plan, any waiver, alteration,
amendment or modification of any of the terms of this Agreement shall be valid only if made in writing and signed by the
parties hereto; provided, however, that any such waiver, alteration, amendment or modification is consented to on the
Company’s behalf by the Committee. No waiver by either of the parties hereto of their rights hereunder shall be deemed to
constitute a waiver with respect to any subsequent occurrences or transactions hereunder unless such waiver specifically states
that it is to be construed as a continuing waiver.

12. Governing Law.  The provisions of Section 13(q) of the Plan are incorporated herein by reference and made a
part hereof. Notwithstanding anything contained in this Agreement, the Grant Notice or the Plan to the contrary, if any suit or
claim is instituted by the Participant or the Company relating to this Agreement, the Grant Notice or the Plan, the Participant
hereby submits to the exclusive jurisdiction of and venue in the courts of the State of Delaware.

13. Plan and Employment Agreement.  The terms and provisions of the Plan are incorporated herein by reference
and made a part hereof. In the event of a conflict or inconsistency between the terms and provisions of the Plan and the terms
and provisions of this Agreement (including the Grant Notice), the Plan shall govern and control. In the event of a conflict or
inconsistency between the terms and provisions of this Agreement (including the Grant Notice) and the Employment
Agreement, the Employment Agreement shall govern and control.

14. Imposition of Other Requirements.  The Company reserves the right to impose other requirements on the
Participant’s participation in the Plan, on the RSUs and on any shares of Common Stock acquired under the Plan, to the extent
the Company determines it is necessary or advisable for legal or administrative reasons, and to require the Participant to sign
any additional agreements or undertakings that may be necessary to accomplish the foregoing.

15. Electronic Delivery and Acceptance .  The Company may, in its sole discretion, decide to deliver any
documents related to current or future participation in the Plan by electronic means.  The Participant hereby consents to receive
such documents by electronic delivery and agrees to participate in the Plan through an on-line or electronic system established
and maintained by the Company or a third party designated by the Company.

16. Entire Agreement.  This Agreement, the Grant Notice, the Plan and the Employment Agreement constitute the
entire agreement of the parties hereto in respect of the subject matter contained herein and supersede all prior agreements and
understandings of the parties, oral and written, with respect to such subject matter.



Exhibit 10.27

OPTION GRANT NOTICE

Skillsoft Corp., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), pursuant to its 2020 Omnibus Incentive Plan, as it may be
amended and restated from time to time (the “Plan”), hereby grants to the Participant set forth below the number of Options
set forth below (the “Options”), with each Option representing the right to purchase one share of Common Stock, at the
Exercise Price per share set forth below. The Options are subject to all of the terms and conditions as set forth in this Option
Grant Notice (this “Grant Notice”), in the Option Agreement (attached hereto), and in the Plan, all of which are incorporated
herein in their entirety. Capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings set forth in the Plan.

Participant: [·]

Date of Grant: [·]

Vesting Commencement Date: [·]

Number of Options: [·]

Exercise Price: $[·]

Option Period Expiration Date: 10th anniversary of Date of Grant

Type of Option: Nonqualified Stock Option

Vesting Schedule: [Vesting schedule subject to the determination of the Committee under the terms of the Plan.]

Acknowledgments: The Participant acknowledges receipt of this Grant Notice, the Option Agreement and the Plan
and, as an express condition to the grant of the Options hereunder, agrees to bound by the terms of this Grant Notice, the
Option Agreement and the Plan. The Participant further acknowledges and agrees that (a) this Grant Notice may be executed
in two or more counterparts, each of which will be an original and all of which together will constitute one and the same
instrument, (b) this Grant Notice may be executed and exchanged using facsimile, portable document format (PDF) or
electronic signature, which, in each case, will constitute an original signature for all purposes hereunder, and (c) such
signature by the Company will be binding against the Company and will create a legally binding agreement when this Grant
Notice is countersigned by the Participant.

* * *

[Signature page follows]



Participant

SKILLSOFT CORP.

By:

[Signature page to Option Grant Notice]
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OPTION AGREEMENT

Pursuant to the Option Grant Notice (the “Grant Notice”) delivered to the Participant (as defined in the Grant Notice),
and subject to the terms of this Option Agreement (this “Agreement”) and the Skillsoft Corp. 2020 Omnibus Incentive Plan, as
it may be amended and restated from time to time (the “Plan”), Skillsoft Corp., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), and
the Participant agree as follows. Capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the same meanings as set forth in
the Plan.

1. Grant of Option. Subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein and in the Plan, the Company hereby
grants to the Participant the number of Options provided in the Grant Notice (with each Option representing the right to
purchase one share of Common Stock), at an Exercise Price per share as provided in the Grant Notice (the “Options”).

2. Vesting and Termination.

(a) Subject to the conditions contained herein and in the Plan, the Options shall vest as provided in the
Grant Notice.

(b) In the event of the Participant’s Termination by the Service Recipient for Cause, the then-unexercised
Options (whether vested or unvested) shall be forfeited to the Company by the Participant for no consideration as of the date
of such Termination.

(c) In the event of the Participant’s Termination for any reason other than by the Service Recipient for
Cause prior to the time that all of the Options have vested, the then-unvested Options shall be forfeited to the Company by the
Participant for no consideration as of the date of such Termination.

(d) Following the Participant’s Termination (A) due to death or Disability, each outstanding vested Option
shall remain exercisable for one year thereafter (but in no event beyond the expiration of the Option Period), or (B) for any
reason other than by the Service Recipient for Cause or due to death or Disability, each outstanding vested Option shall remain
exercisable for 90 days thereafter (but in no event beyond the expiration of the Option Period).

3. Method of Exercising Options. The Options may be exercised by the delivery of notice of the number of
Options that are being exercised accompanied by payment in full of the Exercise Price applicable to the Options so exercised.
Such notice shall be delivered either (a) in writing to the Company at its principal office or at such other address as may be
established by the Committee, to the attention of the Company’s General Counsel or his or her designee; or (b) to a third-party
plan administrator as may be arranged for by the Company or the Committee from time to time for purposes of the
administration of outstanding Options under the Plan, in the case of either (a) or (b), as communicated to the Participant by the
Company from time to time. Payment of the aggregate Exercise Price may be made using any of the methods described in
Section 7(d)(i) or (ii) of the Plan; provided that the Participant shall obtain written consent from the Company prior to the use
of the methods described in Section 7(d)(ii)(A) or (C) of the Plan.

4. Issuance of Shares of Common Stock. Following the exercise of an Option hereunder, as promptly as
practical after receipt of such notification and full payment of such
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Exercise Price and any required income or other tax withholding amount (as provided in Section 9), the Company shall issue
or transfer, or cause such issue or transfer, to the Participant the number of shares of Common Stock with respect to which the
Options have been so exercised, and shall either (a) deliver, or cause to be delivered, to the Participant a certificate or
certificates therefor, registered in the Participant’s name or (b) cause such shares of Common Stock to be credited to the
Participant’s account at the third‑party plan administrator.

5. Participant.  Whenever the word “Participant” is used in any provision of this Agreement under circumstances
where the provision should logically be construed to apply to the executors, the administrators, or the persons to whom the
Options may be transferred in accordance with Section 13(b) of the Plan, the word “Participant” shall be deemed to include
such persons.

6. Non-Transferability. The Options are not transferable by the Participant; provided, however, to the extent
permitted by the Committee in accordance with Section 13(b) of the Plan, vested Options may be transferred to Permitted
Transferees. Except as otherwise provided herein, no assignment or transfer of the Options, or of the rights represented
thereby, whether voluntary or involuntary, by operation of law or otherwise, shall vest in the assignee or transferee any interest
or right herein whatsoever, but immediately upon such assignment or transfer the Options shall terminate and become of no
further effect.

7. Rights as Shareholder. The Participant shall have no rights as a shareholder with respect to any share of
Common Stock covered by an Option unless and until the Participant shall have become the holder of record of such share of
Common Stock, and no adjustment shall be made for dividends or distributions or other rights in respect of such share of
Common Stock for which the record date is prior to the date upon which the Participant shall become the holder of record
thereof.

8. Tax Withholding. The provisions of Section 13(d) of the Plan are incorporated herein by reference and made a
part hereof.

9. Notice. Every notice or other communication relating to this Agreement between the Company and the
Participant shall be in writing, which may include by electronic mail, and shall be mailed to or delivered to the party for whom
it is intended at such address as may from time to time be designated by such party in a notice mailed or delivered to the other
party as herein provided; provided that, unless and until some other address be so designated, all notices or communications by
the Participant to the Company shall be mailed or delivered to the Company at its principal executive office, to the attention of
the Company’s General Counsel or its designee, and all notices or communications by the Company to the Participant may be
given to the Participant personally or may be mailed to the Participant at the Participant’s last known address, as reflected in
the Company’s records. Notwithstanding the foregoing, all notices and communications between the Participant and any third-
party plan administrator shall be mailed, delivered, transmitted or sent in accordance with the procedures established by such
third-party plan administrator and communicated to the Participant from time to time.

10. No Right to Continued Employment or Service. This Agreement does not confer upon the Participant any
right to continue as an employee or other service provider to the Company.
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11. Binding Effect. This Agreement shall be binding upon the heirs, executors, administrators and successors of
the parties hereto.

12. Waiver and Amendments . Except as otherwise set forth in Section 12 of the Plan, any waiver, alteration,
amendment or modification of any of the terms of this Agreement shall be valid only if made in writing and signed by the
parties hereto; provided, however, that any such waiver, alteration, amendment or modification is consented to on the
Company’s behalf by the Committee. No waiver by either of the parties hereto of their rights hereunder shall be deemed to
constitute a waiver with respect to any subsequent occurrences or transactions hereunder unless such waiver specifically states
that it is to be construed as a continuing waiver.

13. Governing Law. The provisions of Section 13(q) of the Plan are incorporated herein by reference and made a
part hereof. Notwithstanding anything contained in this Agreement, the Grant Notice or the Plan to the contrary, if any suit or
claim is instituted by the Participant or the Company relating to this Agreement, the Grant Notice or the Plan, the Participant
hereby submits to the exclusive jurisdiction of and venue in the courts of the State of Delaware.

14. Plan. The terms and provisions of the Plan are incorporated herein by reference and made a part hereof. In the
event of a conflict or inconsistency between the terms and provisions of the Plan and the terms and provisions of this
Agreement (including the Grant Notice), the Plan shall govern and control.

15. Imposition of Other Requirements. The Company reserves the right to impose other requirements on the
Participant’s participation in the Plan, on the Options and on any shares of Common Stock acquired under the Plan, to the
extent the Company determines it is necessary or advisable for legal or administrative reasons, and to require the Participant to
sign any additional agreements or undertakings that may be necessary to accomplish the foregoing.

16. Electronic Delivery and Acceptance . The Company may, in its sole discretion, decide to deliver any
documents related to current or future participation in the Plan by electronic means. The Participant hereby consents to receive
such documents by electronic delivery and agrees to participate in the Plan through an on-line or electronic system established
and maintained by the Company or a third party designated by the Company.

17. Entire Agreement. This Agreement, the Grant Notice and the Plan constitute the entire agreement of the
parties hereto in respect of the subject matter contained herein and supersede all prior agreements and understandings of the
parties, oral and written, with respect to such subject matter.



Exhibit 10.28

OPTION GRANT NOTICE

Skillsoft Corp., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), pursuant to its 2020 Omnibus Incentive Plan, as it may be
amended and restated from time to time (the “Plan”), hereby grants to the Participant set forth below the number of Options
set forth below (the “Options”), with each Option representing the right to purchase one share of Common Stock, at the
Exercise Price per share set forth below. The Options are subject to all of the terms and conditions as set forth in this Option
Grant Notice (this “Grant Notice”), in the Option Agreement (attached hereto), and in the Plan, all of which are incorporated
herein in their entirety. Capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings set forth in the Plan.

Participant: Jeffrey Tarr

Date of Grant: June 11, 2021

Vesting Commencement Date: June 11, 2021

Number of Options: 1,000,000

Exercise Price: $10.75

Option Period Expiration Date: 10th  anniversary of Date of Grant

Type of Option: Nonqualified Stock Option

Vesting Schedule: Subject to Section 2 of the Option Agreement, six-and-one-quarter percent (6.25%) of the Options
will vest on each three-month anniversary of the Vesting Commencement Date, such that one-hundred percent (100%) of the
Options will be vested on the fourth anniversary of the Vesting Commencement Date, in each case, provided that the
Participant has not undergone a Termination prior to the vesting date.

Acknowledgments: The Participant acknowledges receipt of this Grant Notice, the Option Agreement and the Plan
and, as an express condition to the grant of the Options hereunder, agrees to bound by the terms of this Grant Notice, the
Option Agreement and the Plan. The Participant further acknowledges and agrees that (a) this Grant Notice may be executed
in two or more counterparts, each of which will be an original and all of which together will constitute one and the same
instrument, (b) this Grant Notice may be executed and exchanged using facsimile, portable document format (PDF) or
electronic signature, which, in each case, will constitute an original signature for all purposes hereunder, and (c) such
signature by the Company will be binding against the Company and will create a legally binding agreement when this Grant
Notice is countersigned by the Participant.

* * *

[Signature page follows]



Participant

SKILLSOFT CORP.

By:
Sarah Hilty
General Counsel

[Signature page to Option Grant Notice]
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OPTION AGREEMENT

Pursuant to the Option Grant Notice (the “Grant Notice”) delivered to the Participant (as defined in the Grant Notice),
and subject to the terms of this Option Agreement (this “Agreement”) and the Skillsoft Corp. 2020 Omnibus Incentive Plan, as
it may be amended and restated from time to time (the “Plan”), Skillsoft Corp., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), and
the Participant agree as follows. Capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the same meanings as set forth in
the Plan.

1. Grant of Option. Subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein and in the Plan, the Company hereby
grants to the Participant the number of Options provided in the Grant Notice (with each Option representing the right to
purchase one share of Common Stock), at an Exercise Price per share as provided in the Grant Notice (the “Options”).

2. Vesting and Termination.

(a) Subject to the conditions contained herein and in the Plan, the Options shall vest as provided in the
Grant Notice.

(b) In the event of the Participant’s Termination by the Service Recipient for Cause (as such term is defined
in the Executive Employment Agreement, dated as of October 13, 2020, by and between the Participant and the Company (the
“Employment Agreement”)), the then-unexercised Options (whether vested or unvested) shall be forfeited to the Company by
the Participant for no consideration as of the date of such Termination.

(c) In the event of the Participant’s Termination due to death or Disability (as such term is defined in the
Employment Agreement) prior to the time that all of the Options have vested, the then-unvested Options shall vest in full.
Following such Termination, each outstanding vested Option shall remain exercisable for one year thereafter (but in no event
beyond the expiration of the Option Period).

(d) In the event of the Participant’s Termination for any reason other than by the Service Recipient for
Cause or due to death or Disability prior to the time that all of the Options have vested, the then-unvested Options shall be
forfeited to the Company by the Participant for no consideration as of the date of such Termination. Following such
Termination, each outstanding vested Option shall remain exercisable for 90 days thereafter (but in no event beyond the
expiration of the Option Period).

(e) Notwithstanding Section 2(d), in the event of the Participant’s Termination by the Service Recipient
without Cause or by the Participant for Good Reason (as such terms are defined in the Employment Agreement) prior to the
time that all of the Options have vested, subject to the conditions set forth in Section 9 of the Employment Agreement, the
then-unvested Options that were scheduled to vest and become exercisable over the one-year period immediately following
such Termination shall continue to vest and become exercisable over such one-year period in accordance with the vesting
schedule set forth in the Grant Notice. Following such Termination, each outstanding vested Option shall remain exercisable
until the first anniversary of such Termination (but in no event beyond the expiration of the Option Period).
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(f) In the event of a Change in Control prior to the time that all of the Options have vested, the then-
unvested Options shall vest in full.

3. Method of Exercising Options. The Options may be exercised by the delivery of notice of the number of
Options that are being exercised accompanied by payment in full of the Exercise Price applicable to the Options so exercised.
Such notice shall be delivered either (a) in writing to the Company at its principal office or at such other address as may be
established by the Committee, to the attention of the Company’s General Counsel or his or her designee; or (b) to a third-party
plan administrator as may be arranged for by the Company or the Committee from time to time for purposes of the
administration of outstanding Options under the Plan, in the case of either (a) or (b), as communicated to the Participant by the
Company from time to time. Payment of the aggregate Exercise Price may be made using any of the methods described in
Section 7(d)(i) or (ii) of the Plan; provided that the Participant shall obtain written consent from the Company prior to the use
of the methods described in Section 7(d)(ii)(A) or (C) of the Plan.

4. Issuance of Shares of Common Stock. Following the exercise of an Option hereunder, as promptly as
practical after receipt of such notification and full payment of such Exercise Price and any required income or other tax
withholding amount (as provided in Section 9), the Company shall issue or transfer, or cause such issue or transfer, to the
Participant the number of shares of Common Stock with respect to which the Options have been so exercised, and shall either
(a) deliver, or cause to be delivered, to the Participant a certificate or certificates therefor, registered in the Participant’s name
or (b) cause such shares of Common Stock to be credited to the Participant’s account at the third‑party plan administrator.

5. Participant.  Whenever the word “Participant” is used in any provision of this Agreement under circumstances
where the provision should logically be construed to apply to the executors, the administrators, or the persons to whom the
Options may be transferred in accordance with Section 13(b) of the Plan, the word “Participant” shall be deemed to include
such persons.

6. Non-Transferability. The Options are not transferable by the Participant; provided, however, to the extent
permitted by the Committee in accordance with Section 13(b) of the Plan, vested Options may be transferred to Permitted
Transferees. Except as otherwise provided herein, no assignment or transfer of the Options, or of the rights represented
thereby, whether voluntary or involuntary, by operation of law or otherwise, shall vest in the assignee or transferee any interest
or right herein whatsoever, but immediately upon such assignment or transfer the Options shall terminate and become of no
further effect.

7. Rights as Shareholder. The Participant shall have no rights as a shareholder with respect to any share of
Common Stock covered by an Option unless and until the Participant shall have become the holder of record of such share of
Common Stock, and no adjustment shall be made for dividends or distributions or other rights in respect of such share of
Common Stock for which the record date is prior to the date upon which the Participant shall become the holder of record
thereof.
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8. Tax Withholding. The provisions of Section 13(d) of the Plan are incorporated herein by reference and made a
part hereof.

9. Notice. Every notice or other communication relating to this Agreement between the Company and the
Participant shall be in writing, which may include by electronic mail, and shall be mailed to or delivered to the party for whom
it is intended at such address as may from time to time be designated by such party in a notice mailed or delivered to the other
party as herein provided; provided that, unless and until some other address be so designated, all notices or communications by
the Participant to the Company shall be mailed or delivered to the Company at its principal executive office, to the attention of
the Company’s General Counsel or its designee, and all notices or communications by the Company to the Participant may be
given to the Participant personally or may be mailed to the Participant at the Participant’s last known address, as reflected in
the Company’s records. Notwithstanding the foregoing, all notices and communications between the Participant and any third-
party plan administrator shall be mailed, delivered, transmitted or sent in accordance with the procedures established by such
third-party plan administrator and communicated to the Participant from time to time.

10. No Right to Continued Employment or Service. This Agreement does not confer upon the Participant any
right to continue as an employee or other service provider to the Company.

11. Binding Effect. This Agreement shall be binding upon the heirs, executors, administrators and successors of
the parties hereto.

12. Waiver and Amendments . Except as otherwise set forth in Section 12 of the Plan, any waiver, alteration,
amendment or modification of any of the terms of this Agreement shall be valid only if made in writing and signed by the
parties hereto; provided, however, that any such waiver, alteration, amendment or modification is consented to on the
Company’s behalf by the Committee. No waiver by either of the parties hereto of their rights hereunder shall be deemed to
constitute a waiver with respect to any subsequent occurrences or transactions hereunder unless such waiver specifically states
that it is to be construed as a continuing waiver.

13. Governing Law. The provisions of Section 13(q) of the Plan are incorporated herein by reference and made a
part hereof. Notwithstanding anything contained in this Agreement, the Grant Notice or the Plan to the contrary, if any suit or
claim is instituted by the Participant or the Company relating to this Agreement, the Grant Notice or the Plan, the Participant
hereby submits to the exclusive jurisdiction of and venue in the courts of the State of Delaware.

14. Plan and Employment Agreement.  The terms and provisions of the Plan are incorporated herein by reference
and made a part hereof. In the event of a conflict or inconsistency between the terms and provisions of the Plan and the terms
and provisions of this Agreement (including the Grant Notice), the Plan shall govern and control. In the event of a conflict or
inconsistency between the terms and provisions of this Agreement (including the Grant Notice) and the Employment
Agreement, the Employment Agreement shall govern and control.
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15. Imposition of Other Requirements. The Company reserves the right to impose other requirements on the
Participant’s participation in the Plan, on the Options and on any shares of Common Stock acquired under the Plan, to the
extent the Company determines it is necessary or advisable for legal or administrative reasons, and to require the Participant to
sign any additional agreements or undertakings that may be necessary to accomplish the foregoing.

16. Electronic Delivery and Acceptance . The Company may, in its sole discretion, decide to deliver any
documents related to current or future participation in the Plan by electronic means. The Participant hereby consents to receive
such documents by electronic delivery and agrees to participate in the Plan through an on-line or electronic system established
and maintained by the Company or a third party designated by the Company.

17. Entire Agreement. This Agreement, the Grant Notice and the Plan constitute the entire agreement of the
parties hereto in respect of the subject matter contained herein and supersede all prior agreements and understandings of the
parties, oral and written, with respect to such subject matter.



EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF

THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Jeffrey R. Tarr, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Skillsoft
Corp.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))
for the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: September 14, 2021

/s/ Jeffrey R. Tarr
Jeffrey R. Tarr
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)



EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF

THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Ryan Murray, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Skillsoft
Corp.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))
for the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: September 14, 2021

/s/ Ryan Murray
Ryan Murray
Chief Accounting Officer and Interim Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)



EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF THE PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, 
AS ADOPTED

PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Skillsoft Corp. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ended July 31, 2021, as filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934;
and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

Date: September 14, 2021 /s/ Jeffrey R. Tarr
Jeffrey R. Tarr
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

The foregoing certification is being furnished solely pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350 and is not being filed as part of the Report or as a separate disclosure
document.



EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF THE PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, 
AS ADOPTED

PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Skillsoft Corp. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ended July 31, 2021, as filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934;
and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

Date: September 14, 2021 /s/ Ryan Murray
Ryan Murray
Interim Chief Financial Officer and Chief Accounting Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

The foregoing certification is being furnished solely pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350 and is not being filed as part of the Report or as a separate disclosure
document.


